
 

 
 
 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

General Purposes Licensing 
Committee 
 
 
 

Date: Tuesday 14 May 2019 

Time: 6.15 pm 

Place: Council Chamber - Oxford Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

John Mitchell, Committee Services Officer 

Telephone: 01865 252217 

Email: jmitchell@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the 
meeting. 
 



 

 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer 
produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. Paper copies may 
be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

 

 

 
 

General Purposes Licensing Committee 
 
 
 
 
 

Membership of the Committee will be confirmed at the meeting of full Council on 13 
May 2019 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

The quorum for this Committee is 4 Members, no substitutes are permitted. 
 



 
  
 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
  Pages 

1   ELECTION OF CHAIR FOR THE COUNCIL YEAR 2019-20 
 

 

2   ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR FOR THE COUNCIL YEAR 2019-20 
 

 

3   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

4   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

5   APPOINTMENT OF SUB-COMMITTEES 7 - 10 

 The Head of Law and Governance has submitted a report to establish 
4 sub-committees for the 2019-20 Council Year to deal with the 
casework flowing from the Committee’s own responsibilities. 
 
Recommendations: That the General Purposes Licensing Committee 
resolves to: 
 
1.Agree that the casework hearings for taxi, private hire or other driver or 
vehicle licences, street trading licences and sex  establishment licences 
should be determined by sub-committees on the basis of the Powers and 
Duties of GPL Sub-Committees at Appendix 1; 
2.Establish 4 politically-balanced sub-committees of 3 members each , and 
agree the membership, each to undertake the casework of the General 
Purposes Licensing Committee as follows: 
•Sub- Committee A: GPL Chair, Labour Cllr A, Lib Dem Cllr A 
•Sub- Committee B: GPL Vice Chair, Labour Cllr B, Lib Dem Cllr B 
•Sub- Committee C: GPL Chair, Labour Cllr C, Lib Dem Cllr A 
•Sub- Committee D: GPL Vice Chair, Labour Cllr D, Lib Dem Cllr B; 
3.Agree that substitution is permitted on each of the 4 sub-committees but 
that substitutes must be from the General Purposes Licensing Committee 
and must maintain political proportionality; and 
4.Agree the meeting dates and time listed below. 
 

Date Sub-
Committee 

Date Sub-
Committee 

28 May 2019 A 03 Feb 2020 C 

08 July 2019 B 16 Mar 2020   D 

19 Aug 2019 C 17 Apr 2020 A 

30 Sep 2019   D   

11 Nov 2019 A   

16 Dec 2019 B   

 
 
All meetings start at 6.00pm 

 
 
 

 



 
  
 

 

6   ANNUAL UPDATE ON TAXI LICENSING ACTIVITY 2018-2019 11 - 18 

 The Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety has submitted a 
report to inform Committee of the progress made by Taxi Licensing during 
2018-19. 
 
Recommendations: The General Purposes Licensing Committee is 
recommended to:  
 
1. Note the contents of the report; and  
2. Make any comments and recommendations regarding the future work of 

the Taxi Licensing Function. 

 

 

7   POLICY ON HACKNEY CARRIAGE QUANTITY CONTROL  - 
UNMET DEMAND SURVEY 

19 - 118 

 The Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety has submitted a 
report to consider the recommendations in the “Unmet Demand Survey” 
report (2018) and agree the Policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control. 
 
Recommendations: The General Purposes Licensing Committee is 
recommended to: 
 
1. Agree to accept the recommendations of the Hackney Carriage “Unmet 

Demand survey” report prepared by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and 
Assessment (LVSA) indicating that there is currently no significant unmet 
demand for Hackney Carriage Vehicles in Oxford; 

2. Recommend to Council that there is currently no significant unmet 
demand for the services of Hackney Carriage Vehicles and therefore to 
resolve to maintain the Council’s Policy of Hackney Carriage Quantity 
Control and the current quota of 107 Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences; 
and  

3. Recommend to Council that a further “Unmet Demand survey” be 
commissioned in 2021, subject to any changes to relevant legislation. 

 

 

8   REVIEW OF THE STREET TRADING POLICY 2019 119 - 164 

 The Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety has submitted a 
report to seek approval from the Committee to consult on the draft Street 
Trading Policy. 
 
Recommendations: The General Purposes Licensing Committee is 
recommended to: 
 
1. Note the content of the report and approve the draft Street Trading 

Policy; and 
2. Authorise the Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety to 

undertake a public consultation on the draft Street Trading Policy. 
 

 

 

9   MINUTES 165 - 168 

  
Recommendation: That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 
2019 be APPROVED as a true and accurate record. 

 

 



 
  
 

 

10   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  

 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled to be held on: 
 
18 September 2019. 

 

 

 



 

 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches 
the item on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it 
becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your  employment; sponsorship (ie 
payment for expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor 
or towards your election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences 
for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; and securities.  These 
declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which is 
publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a 
meeting, you must declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose 
the nature as well as the existence of the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the 
meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and must 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the 
Members’ Code of Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public 
interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any 
person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that 
the matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole 
and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
1
 Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or 

himself but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as 
husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 



 

. 

To: General Purposes Licensing Committee 

Date: 14 May 2019 

Report of: Head of Law and Governance 

Title of Report:  Appointment of General Purpose Licensing Sub-
Committees  

 

Summary and recommendations 

Purpose of report: 

 

To establish 4 sub-committees for the 2019-20 Council 
Year to deal with the casework flowing from the 
Committee’s own responsibilities. 

Corporate Priority none 

Policy Framework none 

Recommendations: That the General Purposes Licensing Committee resolves to: 

1. Agree that the casework hearings for taxi, private hire or other driver or vehicle 
licences, street trading licences and sex  establishment licences should be 
determined by sub-committees on the basis of  the Powers and Duties of GPL 
Sub-Committees at Appendix 1. 

2. Establish 4 politically-balanced sub-committees of 3 members, and agree the 
membership, each to undertake the casework of the General Purposes Licensing 
Committee as set out in Appendix 1: 

 Sub- Committee A: GPL Chair, Labour Cllr A, Lib Dem Cllr A 

 Sub- Committee B: GPL Vice Chair, Labour Cllr B, Lib Dem Cllr B 

 Sub- Committee C: GFL Chair, Labour Cllr C, Lib Dem Cllr A 

  Sub- Committee D: GPL Vice Chair, Labour Cllr D, Lib Dem Cllr B 

3. Agree that substitution is permitted on each of the 4 sub-committees but that 
substitutes must be from the General Purposes Licensing Committee and must 
maintain political proportionality; 

4. Agree the meeting dates and time listed below. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Powers and Duties of GPL Sub-Committees 

 

  

7

Agenda Item 5



 

 

1. The General Purposes Licensing Committee (GPL) is asked to establish four sub-
committees to deal with casework with terms of reference as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution and in Appendix 1 of this report. 

2. The objective of the structure is to broaden membership and allow the development 
of skills and experience deficit while retaining consistency in decision making. Local 
Government legislation requires that the sub-committee needs to be politically 
balanced. The current composition of the Council means that each sub-committee of 
3 should comprise 2 x Labour and 1 x Lib-Dem members.   

3. Sub-Committees would be established as below, with 8 out of 10 GPL members able 
to participate and all 10 able to act as substitutes on any sub-committee of which 
they were not a member. 

Sub-
Committee 

Chair Membership 

A GPL Chair Labour A 
Lib Dem A 

B GPL Vice Chair Labour B 
Lib Dem B 

C GPL Chair Labour C 
Lib Dem A 

D GPL Vice Chair Labour D 
Lib Dem B 

 
4. Allocating meeting dates for each sub-committee means that members can 

diarise their meetings. If a meeting is cancelled it would mean that the particular 
sub-committee would not meet and the next meeting would be as scheduled. 

5. Meetings of the Sub-Committees are scheduled to start at 6.00pm on: 

Date Sub-
Committee 

Date Sub-
Committee 

28 May 2019 A 03 Feb 2020 C 

08 July 2019 B 16 Mar 2020   D 

19 Aug 2019 C 17 Apr 2020 A 

30 Sep 2019   D   

11 Nov 2019 A   

16 Dec 2019 B   

 

Report author John Mitchell 

Job title Committee and Member Services Officer 

Service area or department Law and Governance 

Telephone  01865 252217 

e-mail  jmitchell@oxford.gov.uk  

 

8

mailto:jmitchell@oxford.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 
 

Powers and Duties of General Purposes Licensing Sub-Committees 

 
Powers and Duties 
 
1. To deal with cases concerning applicants for or holders of taxi, private hire or 

other driver or vehicle licences brought to the sub-committee by officers 
 
2. To decide taxi and private hire and other vehicle, driver and operator licence 

applications when the applicant has a conviction and the relevant service head 
has concerns about the nature of the offence or the applicant or the vehicle may 
not be suitable for some other reason 

 
3. To withdraw and suspend licences for taxis and private hire and other vehicles 

and their drivers and operators. 
 

4. To decide sex establishment licence applications when there are objections. 
 

5. To decide street trading applications of more than three months duration. 
 

6. To decide applications to renew street trading permissions when there has been 
a complaint about the trader, or the trader has broken the conditions of their 
street trading consent in the past year or where there is competition for a vacant 
approved site. 

 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 
To: General Purposes Licensing Committee 
Date: 14th May 2019 
Report of: Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety 
Title of Report:  Annual Update on Taxi Licensing Activity:  

Council Year 2018 – 2019  
 

 

Summary and recommendations 
Purpose of report: 
 

To inform Committee of the progress made by Taxi 
Licensing during 2018-19. 

Corporate Priority Strong and Active Communities 

Policy Framework Vibrant Sustainable Economy                                
Policy on the Relevance of Warnings, Offences, 
Cautions and Convictions 

Recommendations: That the General Purposes Licensing Committee is 
recommended to:                                                                                                           
1) note the contents of the report;                                                                                        
and                                                                                                                                               
2) make any comments and recommendations regarding the future work of the Taxi 
Licensing Function 

Introduction and background  
1. This report informs Committee of progress made by the Taxi Licensing function 

under the duties of the Town & Police Clauses Act 1847 and the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 during the Council Year 2018 – 2019. 

 
2. The report covers data on service volumes; details of Taxi Licensing hearing 

decisions; decisions made under delegated powers; information on volumes of 
drivers and vehicles and enforcement activity. 
 

3. The table below provides data on Taxi Licence applications received and 
processed during the period that this report covers along with the same data from 
2017-18 to allow comparison.  

 
  

11

Agenda Item 6



 
4. The table below provides data on the total number of drivers currently licensed by 

this Authority. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5. The table below provides data on Actions undertaken by the Licensing Officers 
during the period that this report covers along with the same data from 2017-18.  A 
further breakdown of the figures is at paragraphs 12 and 16.  

 

 
*Note –Complaints and enforcement actions include Drivers / Vehicles Licensed 
by other Authorities (VOWH / SODC / WDC / CDC) which were referred to the 
relevant Authorities.  

 

Licences Issued 
Total 

April 2018 – March 
2019 

Total 
April 2017 – March 

2018 

Hackney Carriage Driver 263 303 

Private Hire Driver 538 593 

Hackney Carriage Vehicle 128 120 

Private Hire Vehicle 653 612 

Private Hire Operator 31 35 

Type of Driver 
Licence 

 
Total Number of 
Licences Issued 

 
Hackney Carriage 
Driver 292 

Private Hire Driver 614 

Actions Undertaken 
Total 

April 2018 – March 
2019 

Total 
April 2017 – March 

2018 

Sub-Committee Hearings 11 16 

Enforcement Actions 
Commenced    793*     585* 

Prosecution Cases  3 3 

Complaints about Drivers 
/ Vehicles / Operators 405* 413* 

12



Applications Granted by the Licensing Authority 
6. A hearing is not required where an application has been lawfully made and no 

adverse information pertaining to the “fitness” of a person or vehicle to be licensed 
by this Authority has been found. As a result all of the above applications were 
authorised by the Head of Community Services, and later by the Head of 
Regulatory Services and Community Safety under delegated authority, save for 11 
applications to grant or renew driver licenses which were determined by the 
General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-Committee, see paragraph 10. 

 
General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-Committee Hearings 
7. When adverse information pertaining to the “fitness” of a person or vehicle to be 

licensed or to continue to be licensed by this Authority has been found then the 
matter is determined at a Sub-Committee Hearing.  

 
8. Such adverse information may be derived from information relating to an 

application such as health concerns, relevant cautions or convictions, or from the 
enforcement records held by the Licensing Authority in relation to serious incidents, 
or repetitive failures to adhere to standard drivers and vehicle conditions. These will 
call in to question a licence holders’ suitability to meet with this Authority’s 
description of a Fit and Proper person. 

 
9. Whilst there is no legal definition, the criteria the Authority consider relevant are set 

out in the Policy on the Relevance of Warnings, Offences, Cautions and 
Convictions which states:  
Fit and Proper Person: A person who poses no threat to the general public, has a 
good knowledge of the City, is healthy, and is of a good character (including driving 
record) will be deemed fit and able to hold a licence. 

 
10. During the reporting period, 7 Sub-Committee meetings were convened with 

hearings held to determine the fitness of 4 new applicants and 7 existing Licence 
Holders. The results of the Hearings are shown in the table below: 

 

 Granted 
Granted with 

Councillor 
Warning and 
or Conditions 

Refused Suspended Revoked 

New 
Driver  1 3   

Existing 
Driver 1 1 3 1 1 

 
11. Should a Councillor Warning be issued additional conditions are applied to the 

licence, including: 
 

• Requirements made on all drivers receiving a Councillor Warning that any 
future issues of non-compliance / complaints are to be brought before the 
Sub-Committee. 

 
Appeals  
12. One Sub-Committee decision made during the reporting period has been appealed 

at the Oxford Magistrates Court and is awaiting a court summons and hearing date. 

13



 
Enforcement Activity 
13. Whilst engaged on Enforcement Operations throughout the reporting period, and 

from information reported by other Authorised Personnel of other agencies, or 
notification from licence holders, the Licensing Team has carried out 793 
enforcement interventions, issuing the following sanctions (in accordance with the 
Policy on the Relevance of Warnings, Offences, Cautions and Convictions).: 

 

 
14. The purpose of the “Warning” system is to educate licence holders as to their 

responsibilities and the need to uphold the Taxi Licensing objectives. Verbal advice 
and the four levels of “Warnings” may be issued by the Licensing Officers, and the 
level of “Warning” issued is dependent upon the nature of the incident, the severity 
of the matter, whether there have been any previous incidents of non-compliance, 
and how the matter sits in relation to the Taxi Licensing objectives. 

 
15. Verbal Advice (supported by a letter of Written Advice) was given at the scene of a 

number of incidents relating to drivers committing basic Road Traffic Act offences 
whilst the Licensing Officers were carrying out their night time enforcement duties. 

 
16. Typically Warnings issued by the Licensing Officers related to failures and / or 

accumulated failures by licence holders to declare relevant motoring convictions, 
failures to adhere to the conditions attached to their driver / vehicle licence and 
failures to provide satisfactory documents in relation to the licence renewal 
process. In some cases Suspensions were issued due to concerns relating to the 
licence holder upholding the objectives of public safety following relevant 
information from Thames Valley Police. 

 
 
 

61 Cases still pending (awaiting further intelligence reports) 

264 No further action taken due to credible driver explanations / immediate 
rectification of minor infringement / other 

67 Written Advice Letters 
41 Advisory Warnings 
21 First Level Warnings  
7 Second Level Warnings 
5 Final Warnings 

13 Reissued Final Warnings 
96 Suspension Notices (1 x Driver, 95 x Vehicle)  
1 Revocation Notice (1 x Driver) 

11 Notifications of referral to the Sub-Committee 
7 PACE interviews following Test Purchase Operations 

47 Permits issued to vehicles with minor damage to remain in service for a 
maximum period of 28 days whilst awaiting repairs  

53 Accident Letters – Vehicles taken of the road 
15 Inspections of Operator Premises 
7 Notifications of non-payment letters 

54 Referred to other Local Authorities to investigate (not Licensed by OCC) 
23 Letters for failure to attend or pass Oxfordshire County Council 

Safeguarding Course 

14



Complaints made to Licensing Authority 
17. As well as the disciplinary measures taken during the enforcement operations, 405 

complaints were received from members of the public during this reporting period 
relating to poor customer service, rudeness, overcharging, Road Traffic offences, 
plying for hire and other matters. Breakdown of the actions taken by the Licensing 
Officers are detailed below: 

 
42 Cases currently still active (at the time of compiling this report) 

135 Cases where no further action was or could be taken* 
78 Written Advice Letters 
25 Advisory Warnings 
12 First Level Warnings 
6 Second Level Warnings 
1 Final Warnings 
2 Reissued Final Warnings 
0 Notification of referral to the Sub-Committee 

104  Referred to other Local Authorities to investigate – not Licensed by OCC 

 
* due to the version of events stated by the complainant and the driver being too 
dissimilar and no independent witness to verify either account, a record is kept 
on the driver file should similar issues be reported. It should also be noted that 
some complaints have been maliciously made about drivers and when the 
complainant has been asked to provide further information regarding the original 
allegation, no response has been received by the Licensing Officers. 

 
18. The Weekend Night-time Operation implemented by the Environmental Protection 

Service operates between 11:00 p.m. and 4:00 a.m. on both Friday and Saturday 
nights and proactively checks for non-compliance by both the Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire trades. 
 

19. This further increases our enforcement presence throughout the city at weekends 
and the two Council Officers carrying out the operation report any findings back to 
the Licensing Authority in order that the appropriate actions are undertaken.   

 
Test Purchase Operations  
20. During the reporting period, three Test Purchase Operations were carried out, 

resulting in seven licensed drivers failing the test. Of these, five were / are subject 
to prosecution.  

 
Prosecutions 
21. During the reporting period four cases were heard in the Magistrates Court: 

• One case of plying for hire (LA Test Purchase Operation) where the prosecuted 
party pleaded guilty. His Private Hire Driver Licence was subsequently revoked 
by the General Purposes Licensing Sub-Committee.  

• One case of plying for hire (LA Test Purchase Operation) where the prosecuted 
party was found guilty in his absence. The driver’s issuing Authority, South 
Oxfordshire District Council, was informed of the action. 

15



• One case of plying for hire (LA Test Purchase Operation) where the prosecuted 
party pleaded not guilty. Found guilty of offence and again the issuing Authority 
was informed. 

• One case of an appeal against a revocation of a Private Hire Driver’s Licence by 
the Sub-Committee. The Court supported the decision to revoke and awarded 
the Council costs. 

 
 

Hackney Carriage Ranks 
22. Following a consultation with Oxfordshire County Council, COLTA, the trade and 

the general public, two new Hackney Carriage ranks have been adopted by the 
Council on New Road and Little Clarendon Street. They are both currently being 
marked out and signed posted by Oxford Direct Services.  
 

Unmet Demand Survey 
 
23. Oxford City Council currently has a policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control 

which limits the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences to 107. Every three 
years we are required to conduct an “Unmet Demand” survey to determine if that 
limit should remain. The survey was held between September 2018 and March 
2019. The findings of the survey have been included in a separate report to be 
heard by the General Purposes Licensing Committee.  
 

Low Emission Vehicles 
 

24.  The Licensing Authority has recently issued a licence to its first Zero emission 
capable Hackney Carriage vehicle. The world’s first purpose built electric black cab, 
the TX is the first zero-emission capable taxi to join Oxford’s licensed Hackney 
Carriage fleet. Oxford’s first electric Hackney Carriage has been manufactured by 
London Electric Vehicle Company (LEVC) and is capable of at least 80 miles of 
zero emissions driving on battery power, and produces less than 50g/km of CO2 
emissions. 

 
25. The Licensing Authority is committed to support the Council vision to reduce air 

pollution and the implementation of the Zero Emission Zone in the City of Oxford. 
The Authority is working closely with the Environmental Sustainability Service to 
ensure Council criteria allow the licensing of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles. New 
vehicle criteria, in regards to Hackney Carriage Vehicle emissions, will come into 
force in January 2020. 
 

Future Work 
 

26. The Licensing Authority has worked closely with Oxfordshire County Council and 
the other Oxfordshire District Council’s to develop a new Safeguarding and 
Disability Awareness Course that all potential new drivers will have to undertake as 
part of the application process to obtain a Driver’s licence. 

 

Legal issues 
27. There are no legal implications contained within this report. 

16



 

 

Conclusion 
28. The General Purposes Licensing Committee is recommended to: 

(i) note the content of the report; and 
 

(ii) make any comments and recommendations regarding the future   
 work of the Taxi Licensing function. 
 

Report author Richard Masters 

Job title Licensing Compliance Officer 
Service area or department General Licensing 
Telephone  01865 252565 
e-mail  licensing@oxford.gov.uk  

 
 
 
 
 

17

mailto:licensing@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

. 

 
To: General Purposes Licensing Committee 
Date: 14th May 2019 
Report of: Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety 
Title of Report:  Policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control – Unmet 

Demand Survey 
 

Summary and recommendations 
Purpose of report: 
 

To consider the recommendations in the “Unmet 
Demand Survey” report (2018) and agree the Policy on 
Hackney Carriage Quantity Control  

Corporate Priority Vibrant Sustainable Economy 

Policy Framework Policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control 

Recommendations: That the General Purposes Licensing Committee resolves to: 

1.  Agree to accept the recommendations of the Hackney Carriage “Unmet Demand 
survey” report prepared by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) 
indicating that there is currently no significant unmet demand for Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles in Oxford 

2. 
 

Recommend to Council that there is currently no significant unmet demand for 
the services of Hackney Carriage Vehicles and therefore to resolve to maintain 
the Council’s Policy of Hackney Carriage Quantity Control and the current quota 
of 107 Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences 

3. Recommend to Council that a further “Unmet Demand survey” be commissioned 
in 2021, subject to any changes to relevant legislation. 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 “Unmet Demand Survey” Report 

 

Introduction and background  
1. A Licensing Authority is permitted by virtue of S. 37 of The Town Police Clauses 

Act 1847 and S.16 of The Transport Act 1985 to limit the number of Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle licences that it issues provided that the Authority is “satisfied 
that there is no significant demand for the services of Hackney Carriages 
…… which is unmet”. 
 
 

19

Agenda Item 7



 
2. The recommendation to implement an official Policy on Hackney Carriage 

Quantity Control (as an unofficial quota of Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences 
had been historically set) was agreed by Council in June 2008, including 
imposing a requirement that periodic reviews of the Policy were carried out. 

 
3. A Hackney Carriage Quantity Control Policy is in force locally and has the effect 

of limiting the number of Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences granted by the 
Authority to a level that meets but does not exceed demand for the services of 
Hackney Carriage Vehicles.  The current quota is set at 107 Hackney Carriage 
Vehicle licences.  
 

4. The Licensing Authority reviews the specified limit by carrying out “Unmet 
Demand Surveys” every three years, which is following government best 
practice advice. The Policy itself forms part of the Council’s Policy Framework 
and changes need to be agreed by the Council. 
 

5. CTS Traffic and Transportation were appointed to undertake the survey in 2015, 
which was carried out between September 2015 and December 2015. The 
survey resulted in a recommendation by this Committee to Council to maintain 
the existing policy and restrict the quota of Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences 
issued to a maximum of 107. A further “Unmet Demand” survey was requested 
to be commissioned in 2018. 
 

Hackney Carriage Vehicles “Unmet Demand Survey” 2018 
 
6. Following Council tendering process, CTS Traffic and Transportation trading as 

Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA), were appointed to 
undertake the “Unmet Demand Survey” in 2018. The survey was carried out 
between September 2018 and December 2018, with further interrogation of 
research (video and data intelligence) until March 2019. The survey was 
conducted in accordance with Best Practice Guidance produced by the 
Department of Transport in April 2010. 
 

7. Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment’s (LVSA) report is attached at 
Appendix One, the recommendations are on Page 53 of the survey report.  

 
8. The survey recommends: 
 

“On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Unmet demand survey for 
Oxford City Council, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any 
unmet demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent 
which is significant at this point in time in the Oxford City Council 
licensing area. The committee is therefore able to determine to continue its 
present policy of limiting hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and to retain 
the level of vehicles at the present number”. 

 
9. A consultant from Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) shall be 

available at the meeting to present the report to this Committee and answer any 
questions Members may have. 
 

 
 
 20



Legal Implications 
 

10.      Any legal implications are contained within this report.  
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
11. Any financial implications contained within this report will be met within existing 

budgets. 
 

Recommendations 
 
16. The Committee is recommended to: 
 

(i) agree to accept the recommendations of the Hackney Carriage “Unmet 
Demand” survey report prepared by Licensed Vehicle Surveys and 
Assessment (LVSA), indicating that there is currently no significant unmet 
demand for Hackney Carriage Vehicles; 
 

(ii) recommend to Council that there is currently no significant unmet demand 
for the services of Hackney Carriage Vehicles in Oxford and to resolve to 
maintain the Council’s Policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control and 
the current quota of 107 Hackney Carriage Vehicle licences;  
 

(iii) recommend to Council that a further “Unmet Demand” survey be 
commissioned in 2021, subject to any future changes to relevant 
legislation. 

 

Report author Richard Masters 

Job title Licensing Compliance Officer 
Service area or department Regulatory Services and Community Safety 
Telephone  01865 252565 
e-mail  licensing@oxford.gov.uk  

 

21

mailto:licensing@oxford.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

Oxford City Council 
Unmet demand survey 

March 2019 
 

22

rmasters
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX ONE



 

 

  

23



 

 

i Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
This Unmet demand survey has been undertaken on behalf of Oxford City 
Council following the guidance of the April 2010 DfT Best Practice Guidance 
document, and all relevant case history in regard to unmet demand. This 
Executive Summary draws together key points from the main report that are 
needed to allow a committee to determine from the facts presented their 
current position in regard to the policy of limiting hackney carriage vehicle 
licences according to Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. It is a summary of 
the main report which follows and should not be relied upon solely to justify 
any decisions of a committee, but must be read in conjunction with the full 
report below. 

This latest result of the best practice of undertaking three-yearly reviews of 
demand has this time identified impacts arising from significant redevelopment 
across the City since the last survey. This included both the impact of the 
development at the time, and since completion. Wider changes to transport 
have also had an impact. The resurgence of the use of ranks has in some cases 
been swift (e.g. at Queen Street) and in other cases much slower (e.g. at the 
station). Further development including new ranks are expected imminently.  

Evidence suggests the long term decline in hackney carriage usage in Oxford 
has slowed significantly. However, improvement in the hackney carriage offer 
since the last survey has led to a very recent improvement in their fortunes 
even though there remains significant concern including decline in the 
performance index suggesting some worsening of public service to ranks in the 
area. The lack of knowledge of all ranks by the public is also a concern. 

However, an encouraging sign was that nearly half of people making bookings 
of licensed vehicles actually get a hackney carriage in response. Also, people 
felt fares were reasonable value for money, although they also said there was 
nothing that would encourage them to use hackney carriages or use them 
more. 

Both police and trade support the value of the retention of the limit on vehicle 
numbers at its present level. The index level suggests this limit can be kept 
and that the level of significance should not be breached between now and 
three years hence when the next survey is due according to the BPG three-
year maximum shelf life guidance. 

 

 

24



 

 

ii Unmet demand survey 

 

 

In the next survey, care will be needed to balance the usage of hackney 
carriages by rank, hail, app and booking in the evaluation of level of service to 
the public as all four are important and equally valid.  

The evidence presented in this report would allow the Committee to continue 
its present policy of limiting vehicle numbers, and retain them at the present 
level. There is an important reminder that care needs to be taken to ensure 
this current level of vehicles does not fall unduly from other pressures. 

Encouragement for use of the Westgate and other new ranks is needed. Mytaxi 
usage needs to be understood and monitored and encouraged. Use of card 
machines in vehicles seems also to be very important to the future-proofing of 
the hackney carriage trade. Overall marketing of rank locations and methods 
of getting licensed vehicles is also critical.  

25



 

 

iii Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Contents 
Executive Summary ..................................................        i 

Contents ........................................................................      iii 

1 General introduction and background ...........      1 

2 Local background and context ..........................      7 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys)  11 

4 General public views .............................................   21 

5 Key stakeholder consultation ............................   27 

6 Trade stakeholder views .....................................   31 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 37 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions   43 

9 Recommendations .................................................   53 

 

  

26



 

 

  

27



 

 

1 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

1 General introduction and background 
Oxford City Council is responsible for the licensing of hackney carriage and 
private hire vehicles operating within the Council area and is the licensing 
authority for this complete area. Further details of the local application of 
Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act with regard to limiting hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers is provided in further Chapters of this report. Hackney 
carriage vehicle licences are the only part of licensing where such a stipulation 
occurs and there is no legal means by which either private hire vehicle 
numbers, private hire or hackney carriage driver numbers, or the number of 
private hire operators can be limited.  

This review of current policy is based on the Best Practice Guidance produced 
by the Department for Transport in April 2010 (BPG). It seeks to provide 
information to the licensing authority to meet section 16 of the Transport Act 
1985 “that the grant of a hackney carriage vehicle licence may be refused if, 
but only if, the licensing authority is satisfied that there is no significant 
demand for the services of hackney carriages within its local area, which is 
unmet.” This terminology is typically shortened to “no SUD”. 

Current hackney carriage, private hire and operator licensing is undertaken 
within the legal frameworks first set by the Town Polices Clause Act 1847 
(TPCA), amended and supplemented by various following legislation including 
the Transport Act 1985, Section 16 in regard to hackney carriage vehicle limits, 
and by the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 with reference 
to private hire vehicles and operations. This latter Act saw application of 
regulation to the then growing private hire sector which had not been 
previously part of the TPCA. Many of the aspects of these laws have been 
tested and refined by other more recent legislation and more importantly 
through case law.  

Beyond legislation, the experience of the person in the street tends to see both 
hackney carriage and private hire vehicles both as ‘taxis’ – a term we will try 
for the sake of clarity to use only in its generic sense within the report. We will 
use the term ‘licensed vehicle’ to refer to both hackney carriage and private 
hire. 

The legislation around licensed vehicles and their drivers has been the subject 
of many attempts at review. The limiting of hackney carriage vehicle numbers 
has been a particular concern as it is often considered to be a restrictive 
practice and against natural economic trends. The current BPG in fact says 
“most local licensing authorities do not impose quantity restrictions, the 
Department regards that as best practice”.  

 

28



 

 

2 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The three most recent reviews were by the Office of Fair Trading in 2003, 
through the production of the BPG in 2010, and the Law Commission review 
which published its results in 2014. None of these resulted in any material 
change to the legislation involved in licensing. 

With respect to the principal subject of this survey, local authorities retain the 
right to restrict the number of hackney carriage vehicle licenses. The Law 
Commission conclusion included retention of the power to limit hackney 
carriage vehicle numbers but utilizing a public interest test determined by the 
Secretary of State. It also suggested the three- year horizon also be used for 
rank reviews and accessibility reviews. However, there is currently no expected 
date either for publication of the Government response to the Law Commission, 
nor indeed any plans for revisions to legislation. 

A more recent restriction, often applied to areas where there is no ‘quantity’ 
control felt to exist per-se, is that of ‘quality control’. This is often a pseudonym 
for a restriction that any new hackney carriage vehicle licence must be for a 
wheel chair accessible vehicle, of various kinds as determined locally. In many 
places this implies a restricted number of saloon style hackney carriage 
licences are available, which often are given ‘grandfather’ rights to remain as 
saloon style. 

Within this quality restriction, there are various levels of strength of the types 
of vehicles allowed. The tightest restriction, now only retained by a few 
authorities only allows ‘London’ style wheel chair accessible vehicles, restricted 
to those with a 25-foot turning circle, and at the present time principally the 
LTI Tx, the Mercedes Vito special edition with steerable rear axle, and the 
Metrocab (no longer produced). Others allow a wider range of van style 
conversions in their wheel chair accessible fleet, whilst some go as far as also 
allowing rear-loading conversions. Given the additional price of these vehicles, 
this often implies a restriction on entry to the hackney carriage trade. 

Some authorities do not allow vehicles which appear to be hackney carriage, 
i.e. mainly the London style vehicles, to be within the private hire fleet, whilst 
others do allow wheel chair vehicles. The most usual method of distinguishing 
between hackney carriages and private hire is a ‘Taxi’ roof sign on the vehicle, 
although again some areas do allow roof signs on private hire as long as they 
do not say ‘Taxi’, some turn those signs at right angles, whilst others apply 
liveries, mainly to hackney carriage fleets, but sometimes also to private hire 
fleets. 

 

 

29



 

 

3 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

After introduction of the 1985 Transport Act, Leeds University Institute for 
Transport Studies developed a tool by which unmet demand could be evaluated 
and a determination made if this was significant or not. The tool was taken 
forward and developed as more studies were undertaken. Over time this ‘index 
of significance of unmet demand’ (ISUD) became accepted as an industry 
standard tool to be used for this purpose.  

Some revisions have been made following the few but specific court cases 
where various parties have challenged the policy of retaining a limit.  

Some of the application has differed between Scottish and English authority’s. 
This is mainly due to some court cases in Scotland taking interpretation of the 
duty of the licensing authority further than is usual in England and Wales, 
requiring current knowledge of the status of unmet demand at all times, rather 
than just at the snap-shot taken every three years. However, the three year 
survey horizon has become generally accepted given the advice of the BPG 
and most locations that review regularly do within that timescale. 

The DfT asked in writing in 2004 for all licensing authorities with quantity 
restrictions to review them, publish their justification by March 2005, and then 
review at least every three years since then. In due course, this led to a 
summary of the government guidance which was last updated in England and 
Wales in 2010 (but more recently in Scotland). 

The BPG in 2010 also provided additional suggestions of how these surveys 
should be undertaken, albeit in general but fairly extensive terms. A key 
encouragement within the BPG is that “an interval of three years is commonly 
regarded as the maximum reasonable period between surveys”. BPG suggests 
key points in consideration are passenger waiting times at ranks, for street 
hailings and telephone bookings, latent and peaked demand, wide consultation 
and publication of “all the evidence gathered”.  

The most recent changes in legislation regarding licensed vehicles have been 
enactment of the parts of the Equality Act related to guidance dogs (sections 
168 to 171, enacted in October 2010), the two clauses of the Deregulation Act 
which were successful in proceeding, relating to length of period each license 
covers and to allowing operators to transfer work across borders (enacted in 
October 2015), and most recently enactment of Sections 165 and 167 of the 
Equality Act, albeit on a permissive basis (see below). 

 

 

In November 2016, the DfT undertook a consultation regarding enacting 
Sections 167 and 165 of the Equality Act. These allow for all vehicles capable 

30



 

 

4 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

of carrying a wheel chair to be placed on a list by the local council (section 
167). Any driver using a vehicle on this list then has a duty under section 165 
to:  

- Carry the passenger while in the wheel chair 
- Not make any additional charge for doing so 
- If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheel 

chair 
- To take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is 

carried in safety and reasonable comfort  
- To give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required 

This was enacted from April 2017. There remains no confirmation of any 
timetable for instigating either the remainder of the Equality Act or the Law 
Commission recommendations, or for the update of the BPG. 

In respect to case law impinging on unmet demand, the two most recent cases 
were in 1987 and 2002. The first case (R v Great Yarmouth) concluded 
authorities must consider the view of significant unmet demand as a whole, 
not condescending to detailed consideration of the position in every limited 
area, i.e. to consider significance of unmet demand over the area as a whole. 

R v Castle Point considered the issue of latent, or preferably termed, 
suppressed demand consideration. This clarified that this element relates only 
to the element which is measurable. Measurable suppressed demand includes 
inappropriately met demand (taken by private hire vehicles in situations legally 
hackney carriage opportunities) or those forced to use less satisfactory 
methods to get home (principally walking, i.e. those observed to walk away 
from rank locations).  

In general, industry standards suggest (but specifically do not mandate in any 
way) that the determination of conclusions about significance of unmet 
demand should take into account the practicability of improving the standard 
of service through the increase of supply of vehicles. It is also felt important 
to have consistent treatment of authorities as well as for the same authority 
over time, although apart from the general guidance of the BPG there is no 
clear stipulations as to what this means in reality, and certainly no mandatory 
nor significant court guidance in this regard. 

 

 

During September 2018 the All-Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) on taxis 
produced its long-awaited Final Report. There was a generally accepted call for 
revision to taxi licensing legislation and practice, including encouragement for 

31



 

 

5 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

local authorities to move towards some of the practical suggestions made 
within the Report. However, the Report has no legislative backing and the key 
conclusion was that the Government needed to act firstly to revise the 2010 
BPG but then to move to revisions to primary legislation as soon as practicable.  

Despite some opposition from members of the group, the right to retain limits 
on hackney carriage vehicle numbers was supported, with many also 
supporting adding a tool which would allow private hire numbers to be limited 
where appropriate, given reasonable explanation of the expected public 
interest gains. The more recent Government response to this report did not 
support private hire limitation. 

The Government response to the APPG has supported most of their 
recommendations, but has focussed more on safety and environmental 
concerns, with a related consultation document referencing need for various 
national responses and databases. The issue of unmet demand per se has not 
been discussed and any proposed change to the BPG will now be first limited 
to safety and environmental matters with a further review of unaffected parts 
following enactment of legislation to deal with the results of the consultation 
document. 

Other groups have provided comments giving their views about licensing 
matters but the upshot remains no change in legislation from that already 
stated above.  

In conclusion, the present legislation in England and Wales sees public fare-
paying passenger carrying vehicles firstly split by passenger capacity. All 
vehicles able to carry nine or more passengers are dealt with under national 
public service vehicle licensing. Local licensing authorities only have 
jurisdiction over vehicles carrying eight or less passengers. Further, the 
jurisdiction focusses on the vehicles, drivers and operators but rarely extends 
to the physical infrastructure these use (principally ranks). 

The vehicles are split between hackney carriages which are alone able to wait 
at ranks or pick up people in the streets without a booking, and private hire 
who can only be used with a booking made through an operator. If any 
passenger uses a private hire vehicle without such a properly made booking, 
they are not generally considered to be insured for their journey. 

 

Drivers can either be split between ability to drive either hackney carriage or 
private hire, or be ‘dual’, allowed to drive either kind of vehicle. Whilst a private 
hire driver can only take bookings via an operator, with the ‘triple-lock’ 
applying that the vehicle, driver and operator must all be with the same 

32



 

 

6 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

authority, a hackney carriage driver can accept bookings on-street or by phone 
without the same stipulation required for private hire. 

Recent legislation needing clarification has some operators believing they can 
use vehicles from any authority as long as they are legally licensed as private 
hire. At first, under the ‘Stockton’ case, this was hackney carriages operating 
as private hire in other areas (cross-border hiring). More recently, under the 
Deregulation Act, private hire companies are able to subcontract bookings to 
other companies in other areas if they are unable to fulfil their booking, but 
the interpretation of this has become quite wide. 

The ‘triple lock’ licensing rule has also become accepted. A vehicle, driver and 
operator must all be under the same licensing authority to provide full 
protection to the passenger. However, it is also accepted that a customer can 
call any private hire company anywhere to provide their transport although 
many would not realise that if there was an issue it would be hard for a local 
authority to follow this up unless the triple lock was in place by the vehicle 
used and was for the area the customer contacted licensing. 

Further, introduction of recent methods of obtaining vehicles, principally using 
‘apps’ on mobile phones have also led to confusion as to how ‘apps’ usage sits 
with present legislation.  

All these matters can impact on hackney carriage services, their usage, and 
therefore on unmet demand and its significance. 

  

33



 

 

7 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

2 Local background and context 
Key dates for this Unmet demand survey for Oxford City Council are: 

- appointed Licensed Vehicle Surveys and Assessment (LVSA) on 22 
August 2018 

- in accordance with our proposal of July 2018  
- as confirmed during the inception meeting for the survey held on 12 

September 2018 
- this survey was carried out between September 2018 and March 2019 
- On street pedestrian survey work occurred in November 2018 
- the video rank observations occurred in late November 2018 
- Licensed vehicle driver opinions and operating practices were obtained 

using an all-driver electronic survey during December 2018 
- Key stakeholders were consulted throughout the period of the survey 
- A draft of this Final Report was reviewed by the client during March 2019 

it would be March 
- and reported to the General Purposes Licensing Committee on 14th May 

2019. 

Oxford City Council has a current population of 164,500 using the 2018 
estimates currently available from the 2011 census. In terms of background 
council policy, Oxford City Council is one of the authorities within the 
Oxfordshire County authority. Rank provisions fall within the City Council 
remit, who carry out consultations required and adopt the taxi ranks. Any 
request for implementation or amendment of a taxi rank has to be approved 
by the County Council highways department. 

However, all licensing authorities have full powers over licensing the vehicles, 
drivers and operators serving people within their area. Oxford City Council has 
chosen to utilize its power to limit hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and as 
far as we are aware has done so since at least 1990. 

By drawing together published statistics from both the Department for 
Transport (D) and the National Private Hire Association (N), supplemented by 
private information from the licensing authority records (C), recent trends in 
vehicle, driver and operator numbers can be observed. The detailed numbers 
supporting the picture below are provided in Appendix 1. Due to the 
comparative size, the operator figures are shown in the second picture. 

34



 

 

8 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
 
Licensing Statistics from 1994 to date 

The graph shows a very strong growth in private hire vehicle numbers until 
around 2011 after which their growth reduced with the peak reached around 
the time of the last survey (in which year there was actually a significant spike 
in the growth of private hire vehicles per se). Between the last survey and now 
their numbers have declined slightly.  

99 99 99 99 99 106 106 106 107 107 107 107 107 107 107 107 107
84

117
150

198

248
278

308

350

443

520 524
556 569 583

697

585 579

183
216

249

297

347
384

414

456

550

627 631
663 676 690

804

692 686

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

Oxford licensed vehicles and drivers

hcv phv lv total hcd phd dd total d

35



 

 

9 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

This suggests Oxford felt some impact of the economic climate in the early 
part of this decade, albeit less than many other places, but that more recent 
trends have seen some impacts.  

However, the area, being surrounded by other licensing authorities within the 
hinterland of the City, was early to receive impact from out of town hackney 
carriages operating in the City on private hire circuits. The City still sees 
relatively high levels of out of town licensed vehicles servicing local bookings 
although the more recent trend of service by out of town vehicles does not 
seem to have affected the area quite as much as other large cities. 

Overall driver growth has mirrored that of the total vehicle fleet. There was an 
early switch from hackney carriage only to a system with drivers able to drive 
both hackney carriage and private hire, whilst retaining a separate option 
allowing only driving of private hire vehicles. Recent years appear to have seen 
some favouring of the private hire only option against the dual option although 
this effect is only marginal. 

Information is also available from these sources to show how the level of wheel 
chair accessible vehicles (WAV) has varied. It must be noted that in most cases 
the values for the private hire side tend to be much more approximate than 
those on the hackney carriage side, as there is no option to mandate for private 
hire being wheel chair accessible. In some areas, to strengthen the ability of 
the public to differentiate between the two parts of the licensed vehicle trade, 
licensing authorities might not allow any WAV in the private hire fleet at all. 
This is not the case for Oxford City. The DfT March 2018 database suggests 
there are in total 38 authorities that are 100% WAV and also have WAV phv 
in their fleet. Oxford is 21st in size of hackney carriage fleet within this group, 
with the average fleet size 169. For all 60 100% WAV authorities the average 
vehicle fleet size is 220.  

36



 

 

10 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

Operator numbers and levels of WAV provision in the fleet 

Oxford has long held a policy that all hackney carriages must be wheel chair 
accessible. However, since 2010 there has also been a small amount of private 
hire vehicles that have chosen to be wheel chair accessible. Whilst there was 
a spike in this proportion in 2015, which was not sustained, there has been 
some small growth in the most recent information, although the level is very 
low (but higher than in many fully WAV hackney carriage fleet cities). Operator 
numbers have steadily and consistently grown over the period for which 
information is available. 

Oxford City Council undertakes regular review of its policy to limit hackney 
carriage vehicle numbers in line with the BPG. The previous surveys were in 
2015, 2012, 2009 and 1989, all for which reports remain available. This makes 
Oxford amongst one of the most regular 3-yearly testers of its unmet demand, 
which accords with the Best Practice Guidance very well.  

100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Oxford - operator numbers and % WAV in 
fleets

Ops % hcv WAV % phv WAV

37



 

 

11 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

3 Patent demand measurement (rank surveys) 
As already recorded in Chapter 2, control of provision of on-street ranks in 
Oxford City Council is undertaken by Oxford City Council who consults and 
adopts the ranks to ensure they are able to enforce them. Oxfordshire County 
Council (who hold overall transport powers for the area) must however 
approve a proposal for a new or amendment to a ranks.  

Appendix 2 provides a list of ranks in Oxford City Council at the time of this 
current survey. 

Our methodology involves a current review both in advance of submitting our 
proposal to undertake this Unmet demand survey and at the study inception 
meeting, together with site visits where considered necessary. This provides a 
valid and appropriate sample of rank coverage which is important to feed the 
numeric evaluation of the level of unmet demand, and its significance (see 
discussion in Chapter 7). The detailed specification of the hours included in the 
sample is provided in Appendix 3.  

There has been relatively little change in rank provision between the last 
survey and the current one.  

However, after the last survey there was a significant change with the closure 
of Queen Street to all traffic and the movement of the Queen Street rank in to 
Cornmarket Street to replace this location. However, after various issues, the 
Queen Street route was again made accessible to hackney carriages and the 
Queen Street rank was returned, and the Cornmarket Street location 
abandoned.  

There was also a move implemented for the High Street rank, but this proved 
to be to a location which if used blocks other traffic. There is a proposal to 
return that rank to its previous location, although historically it has only seen 
small levels of usage. 

Further, the city centre now sees the completion of the new shopping centre 
and associated link road, which is only open to buses. A large capacity hackney 
carriage rank was provided to the side of the new shopping centre, in Old 
Greyfriars Street. This location is signposted from within the centre, but is also 
effectively at perhaps the quietest location in the centre footfall. Further, other 
road works that affected the Park End Street rank during the last survey are 
long completed, and this rank is now active again. 

At inception, a tour was undertaken of the suburban ranks to identify their 
potential for usage. A summary of this tour is provided below, which resulted 
in no further detailed survey being required for these locations. 

 

38



 

 

12 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Proposed new ranks 
New taxi ranks are proposed to be introduced by Easter in the following 
locations: 

- New Road – 24-hour – 2 spaces 
- Little Clarendon Street – 18:30 to 08:00 – 3 spaces 

Both have been approved by the County Council and are undergoing the 
implementation phase with the City Council. 
 
Overall survey results 
The observations from the rank surveys were analysed and overall estimated 
weekly levels of demand estimated for each rank. To provide a historic link 
and validate the current observations, information from previous surveys has 
also been drawn into this Chapter and compared to the current observations. 
Full details of the principal rank flows by hour are given in Appendix 4. The 
table below compares estimated weekly passenger numbers by rank for the 
current survey and for each survey for which comparable data is available from 
the last few surveys.  

Rank 

P
as

s 
/w

k 
2
0
1
8
 

su
rv

ey
 

P
as

s/
w

k 
2
0
1
5
 

su
rv

ey
 

P
as

s 
w

k,
 

2
0
1
2
 

su
rv

ey
 

2
0
0
9
 

P
as

s/
w

k 
1
9
8
9
 

su
rv

ey
 

Oxford Train Station 4433 (37%) 5380 (43%) 5956 (37%)  4480 (37%) 
Queen Street (Carfax) 3728 (31%) 2557 (21%) 2853 (18%)  2520 (21%) 

Gloucester Grn (St George’s Pl) 2869 (24%) 3529 (30%) 2922 (18%)  2185 (18%) 
Park End Street 461 (4%) Unusable 2169 (13%)   

St Giles 494 (4%) 678 (6%) 946 (6%)  1315(11%) 
Old Greyfriars Street (new SC) 2 (0%) Non existent 

Broad Street     21 (0.0%) 
George Street 

No longer existing 

176 (1%) 
Bonn Square 113 (1%) 
Castle Street 60(0.5%) 

St Ebbes Street 32 (0.3%) 
Barns Road (Cowley)  24 (0.0%) 223 (1%)  1085(9%) 
The Plain (Cowley)  23(0.0%) 225(1%)  6 (0.0%) 

High Street  9 (0.0%) 684(4%)  4(0.0%) 
Between Towns Road  0 0  0 

Cowley Road (Manzil Way)  0 128 (1%)  0 
London Road B  (0) 23(0.0%)   
London Road A  (0) 0  84 (1%) 

Total est weekly demand 11,987 12,299 16,128 14,303 12,081 
Growth from previous -3% -24% +6% 18% n/a 

Growth from 1989 -1% -14% +33% 18%  

39



 

 

13 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The table shows that our estimates suggest current average weekly passenger 
levels at the active ranks in Oxford are now about 3% lower than they were at 
the time of the last survey in 2015. However, this level of reduction is much 
less than the change between the previous survey and 2015, which suggests 
a slowing down of the decline in usage. The level of usage now is almost the 
same as it was in 1989. 

All ranks have seen a decline in usage apart from Park End Street which was 
not in use at the time of the last survey, and more markedly, Carfax which 
seems to have gained in usage significantly despite the changes it had faced 
in the interim. The level of change has been such that it has now become the 
second busiest rank despite its limited hours of service. Effectively there are 
now three main active ranks with between 24 and 37% of passengers each. 
Park End Street and St Giles both see about 4% of passengers, whilst the new 
rank at Old Greyfriars Street is used, but very sparingly at the present time. 

The station rank needs a separate permit to operate, so there is some concern 
that it is the busiest rank and provides nearly 40% of the custom for the trade, 
although the threat of loss of rail station ranks to private hire company 
contracts is much less now than it has been in the past. However, it must be 
noted that a good proportion of patronage for the hackney carriage fleet is 
provided by an authority beyond the licensing authority, and over whom the 
licensing authority, and for that matter the trade, have relatively little control 
and certainly no jurisdiction. 

Contribution of ranks over time 
The actual passenger flows by hour at each observed rank were plotted to 
show how they varied during the survey period.  

40



 

 

14 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 

The graph confirms the dominance of the Queen Street (Carfax) rank over 
other sources of demand when it is operating. This rank also sees a much more 
peaked profile than any other location. The graph also demonstrates the 
growth of demand from Thursdays through Friday to Saturdays, although the 
difference between the days is not as marked as in many other locations.  

Interestingly, demand at Park End Street peaks on the Thursday of the survey, 
with the quietest day being Friday and the busiest, but over a longer period, 
being Saturday. St Giles rank tends to see usage over a longer period but 
usually later in the day. 

The private Train station rank provides the bulk of demand for the City during 
daytime hours, but tends to reduce as the Carfax and other night ranks 
develop. Gloucester Green Rank (referred to by some as St George’s Place) 
generally sees lower demand, operates day and night, but tends to grow in 
usage through the day towards a peak which is usually different to that at 
Queen Street. This helps spread service by vehicles and improves service to 
the public. 

 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

14 1821 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18 21 0 3 6 9 12 15 18

Thurs 15

Fri 16

Sat 17

Sun 18

Oxford total passenger numbers by rank

Old Greyf St Park End St St Giles Glos Grn Queen St Station Private All ranks

41



 

 

15 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Review of the overall data for the ranks shows that there is no hour during the 
surveyed period when there is no demand at ranks for hackney carriages, 
although nearly all ranks have some period when they are not used. This 
confirms that Oxford remains a 24/7 city and that its hackney carriages also 
provide a service over the hours when people are around – i.e. all hours. 

Review of suburban ranks 
In advance of the inception meeting, a tour was undertaken of the suburban 
ranks. The Plains rank remains marked and signed, but is used for parking 
during the daytime. Licensing are aware that these vehicles often do not leave 
when the parking becomes restricted. There has also been little use by hackney 
carriages that reinforces the potential for people to use the site for parking. It 
is also felt that the cost of enforcement would not be worthwhile as it would 
not be used and people would feel they had been wrongly penalised.  

It does have several bars nearby but is slightly awkward in its location just off 
the major roundabout. It would see many passing hackney carriages who 
might service the relatively small amount of trade that the bars might provide. 
The location is also on a high number of bus routes which operate extended 
hours which may also reduce potential trade for hackney carriages. 

Cowley Road rank remains well marked and signed and does not tend to see 
abuse by parking or private hire vehicles. It is outside a major health centre 
but other potential business from shops is a little more distant. Again, anyone 
wanting to hail a hackney carriage along this section of road would be well-
served and the level of demand does not justify any vehicles sitting here for 
custom. There are considerations in place to attempt a move to a location 
nearer to busier footfall areas of the road, although it is not known when this 
will occur. 

The Barns Road, Cowley rank is well-marked and signed and located in a 
dedicated lay-by directly outside a bar and restaurant. It is near an exit from 
the nearby shopping centre but levels of demand are relatively light, and there 
are few passing hackney carriages. In contrast, a high volume of local buses 
service the nearby area with regular service to most parts of Oxford.  

The other Temple Cowley rank is near the other exit to the shopping centre. 
This exit seems even quieter than the Barns Road one. The shopping centre 
has also lost trade to the nearby retail park over the road. The markings for 
this rank are very faded and in consequence the location is mainly used by 
parked private vehicles, again with no competition for use from hackney 
carriages given the very low demand and high competition from car usage and 
public transport. 

42



 

 

16 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Both Headington ranks are single spaces which remain marked albeit with fairly 
faded road markings. The out of town space is near a club and other potential 
demand sites although the level of demand arising from these uses is very low. 
This site appears to be mainly used by parked private cars again with very 
little potential for hackney carriage waiting. Again, this road sees high levels 
of passing hackney carriages which could be hailed if required.  

The rank on the to-City side of the road is in a much busier area, and at the 
head of a bus stop. Despite this, there is relatively little potential for usage 
and much demand would be soaked up by the high frequency bus services 
along this very busy road. During the return to the city centre, a good volume 
of hackney carriages were observed, spread between those in service and 
those returning from delivering passengers, confirming that hailing would be 
a key way that people could get access to hackney carriages along the length 
of the road, rather than focussed at one point. 

The High Street rank was also noted. It is fairly close to the City Centre and 
near to higher demand, but its current location if used would block other traffic. 
Even when it returns to its previous location, on the other side of the road, it 
is not likely to see extensive waiting by hackney carriages. Again, the road has 
very high levels of bus service, and would also provide more than adequate 
hackney carriage service through hailing of passing vehicles. 

For all these reasons, no surveys were undertaken at any of the out of town 
suburban ranks, allowing a focus on the principal central area ranks. 

Availability of hackney carriage vehicles 
A test was undertaken on the busiest expected day, Saturday, to identify the 
level of the hackney carriage fleet which was active during that day. The test 
sought to check if there was ‘playing-up’ to the survey, i.e. were the trade 
aware of the survey and operating more vehicles than normal, and also to 
identify the variation through the day of levels of operation. 

Three periods (one 1.5-hour and two one hour) were undertaken near the Train 
station rank, a 1.5-hour period near Carfax, and two 1.5-hour and one 2-hour 
period near the Gloucester Green Rank. All were undertaken at a short distance 
away from the rank to avoid the surveyor being observed, and may therefore 
also have observed some vehicles that had not actually serviced the rank itself.  

A total of 235 Oxford hackney carriage movements were observed over the 
ten hour sample. During the full set of hours a total of 92% of the fleet was 
observed, a very high level. However, when compared to the separate 
locations and hours, the highest proportion observed in any period was 46% 
of the fleet near to Queen Street.  

43



 

 

17 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The daytime period near the station observed 37% of the fleet, with 18% 
observed in the daytime at the Gloucester Green Rank. Early evening levels 
were 29% and 26% respectively. Late evening near the station observed 31% 
of all plates, with the peak activity level 46% at Queen Street in the period up 
to midnight. The early hours saw a third of the fleet active near the Gloucester 
Green Rank. Given the previously observed demand profiles all these values 
seem to be reasonable, showing a highly active fleet.  

We do not consider that these levels suggest that the trade were aware of the 
surveys, and in fact we had a comment in trade consultation that confirmed 
they had thought the surveys had been undertaken during December as they 
provided detailed comment about why ranks were difficult to service during 
that period. 

Disability service at ranks 
During the course of our surveys at ranks, five people were observed accessing 
hackney carriages using wheelchairs. Two of these examples were at Queen 
Street, two at Gloucester Green and one at the rail station. In terms of others 
with disabilities, but not wheelchair users, there were 11 at Gloucester Green 
and 7 at Queen Street. In 2015, there was just one wheelchair passenger and 
one with other disabilities, suggesting a strong increase in usage by those with 
disabilities since 2015. 
 
Rank usage by other vehicles 
A review was also undertaken of the vehicles seen at or near ranks in the area 
during the survey. For the current survey, 91% of vehicles at or near ranks 
were hackney carriages, very similar to the 90% in 2015. The 7% private car 
value in 2015 had reduced to 6% now, whilst the proportion of goods vehicles 
was the same at 1%. The 2% of vehicles which were identified as private hire 
in 2015 is now the same, but split almost equally between private hire vehicles 
and out of town licensed vehicles. This suggests only marginal change in terms 
of how well ranks are observed by others. The high levels of conformity are 
assisted by two ranks being designed to be hackney carriage only (St Giles 
and Gloucester Green). The worst conformity in this survey was the rank at 
Old Greyfriars Street, which was not helped by its lack of use by the trade. The 
next highest issue (19% cars) was at Park End Street, which is an on-street 
rank in a very busy area in terms of desire for people to set down or pick up 
passengers when the rank is operating.  
 
 
 
 
 
Extent of unmet demand 

44



 

 

18 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The rank data was analysed to identify the periods when there was unmet 
demand observed. Our definition of unmet demand is when passengers arrive 
at a rank and find no hackney carriage available for immediate hiring. Our 
initial cut-off for this is that the passenger needs to be waiting for a minute or 
more, with smaller waits generally ignored. In cases where people have to wait 
to enter vehicles arising from the layout of the rank or when there are large 
numbers of passengers arriving at a similar time, we count this as geometric 
delay as it is not resulting from a shortage of vehicles, but more from layout 
and specific short-term arrival and departure profiles. 

The rank observations were sorted to identify all hours when there was an 
average passenger delay – determined as the total passenger delay time 
divided by the number of passengers in that hour. Further analysis of the 
significance of the unmet demand observed is provided in Chapter 7 below, 
which uses slightly different categorisation focussing on significance rather 
than specific incidence of unmet demand. 

Of the total hours observed, just ten, or 3.5%, saw average passenger waits 
in an hour shared over all passengers of a minute or more. Half of these were 
at the Carfax rank from 23:00 on the Saturday through to 03:00 in the early 
hours of Sunday morning. The worst average passenger delay in an hour was 
there, in the 03:00 hour, with the average passenger wait being nearly five 
minutes, with the longest wait being 20 minutes, which is quite long. This arose 
following the sustained high demand of the previous four hours. 

The longest observed wait for any passenger was 26 minutes, a significant 
wait, with this hour being the only hour at the station with an average 
passenger delay of over a minute (nearly 2.5 minutes), again in the early hours 
of Sunday morning. This wait has to be seen in the context of there being 23 
other passengers in that hour, with 11 of them waiting also, but only between 
one and five minutes. The next hour only saw one passenger who did not have 
to wait. There was one incidence of an average passenger delay a minute or 
more at Gloucester Green Rank in the 22:00 hour on the Friday evening, and 
three incidences at St Giles, although all of these seemed to occur as the result 
of low flows rather than high demand, known as ‘thin demand’. In this case, 
people expect to find vehicles but the level of passenger demand is so low that 
a short period of more arrivals can lead to a relatively lengthy wait given the 
expectation from drivers of average low demand there. 

 

 

There were a further 48 hours, or 17% of the total hours, when there was 
some average delay but not more than a minute. This means that a total of 

45



 

 

19 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

20% of all hours (one in five) saw some average delay. However, this has to 
be set against the number of people who actually experienced delay. In total, 
492 people were observed having a wait of a minute or more for a vehicle to 
arrive. This is 6.5% of all passengers. However, there were only 22 people in 
total who waited 11 minutes or more, 52 who waited between six and 10 
minutes, with the remaining 418 waiting between one and five minutes. 
Overall, this is clearly demonstration of unmet demand, with the significance 
of this is discussed in Chapter 7. 

 

 

 

 

  

46



 

 

20 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Page left intentionally blank  

47



 

 

21 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

4 General public views 
It is very important that the views of people within the area are obtained about 
the service provided by hackney carriage and private hire. A key element which 
these surveys seek to discover is specifically if people have given up waiting 
for hackney carriages at ranks (the most readily available measure of latent 
demand). However, the opportunity is also taken with these surveys to identify 
the overall usage and views of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles 
within the study area, and to give chance for people to identify current issues 
and factors which may encourage them to use licensed vehicles more. 

Such surveys can also be key in identifying variation of demand for licensed 
vehicles across an area, particularly if there are significant areas of potential 
demand without ranks, albeit in the context that many areas do not have 
places apart from their central area with sufficient demand to justify hackney 
carriages waiting at ranks.  

These surveys tend to be undertaken during the daytime period when more 
people are available, and when survey staff safety can be guaranteed. Further, 
interviews with groups of people or with those affected by alcohol consumption 
may not necessarily provide accurate responses, despite the potential value in 
speaking with people more likely to use hackney carriages at times of higher 
demand and then more likely unmet demand. Where possible, extension of 
interviews to the early evening may capture some of this group, as well as 
some studies where careful choice of night samples can be undertaken. 

Our basic methodology requires a sample size of at least 200 to ensure stable 
responses. Trained and experienced interviewers are also important as this 
ensures respondents are guided through the questions carefully and 
consistently. A minimum sample of 50 interviews is generally possible by a 
trained interviewer in a day meaning that sample sizes are best incremented 
by 50, usually if there is targeting of a specific area or group (e.g. of students, 
or a sub-centre), although conclusions from these separate samples can only 
be indicative taken alone. For some authorities with multiple centres this can 
imply value in using a higher sample size, such as 250 if there are two large 
and one moderate sized centre. 

More recently, general public views have been enlisted from the use of council 
citizens’ panels although the issue with these is that return numbers cannot 
be guaranteed. The other issue is that the structure of the sample responding 
cannot be guaranteed either, and it is also true that those on the panel have 
chosen to be there such that they may tend to be people willing to have 
stronger opinions than the general public randomly approached. 

Finally, some recent surveys have placed an electronic copy of the 
questionnaire on their web site to allow interested persons to respond, 

48



 

 

22 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

although again there needs to be an element of care with such results as 
people choosing to take part may have a vested interest. It is normal practice 
to compare the resulting gender and age structure to the latest available local 
and national census proportions to identify if the sample has become biased in 
any way. For this set of data, males were under-represented (as they were in 
2015), whilst the over-55’s were slightly over-represented with the middle 
group more so, mainly at the expense of the younger group.  

A total of 200 persons were interviewed, mainly in the central area of Oxford, 
but avoiding locations immediately adjacent to ranks to avoid issues arising 
from the trade being aware of these surveys, at the council request. 28% said 
they had used a licensed vehicle in the last three months, significantly reduced 
from the value of 40% obtained in the 2015 survey. This itself had been a fall 
from the level of 64% in 2012 – a very strong decline. 

82% of respondents told us how often they used licensed vehicles in the area 
– actually an increase from the proportion that gave us a response in 2015. 
Using the quoted frequencies suggests some 0.6 trips per month, compared to 
1.4 trips in 2015. When specifically asked in regard to hackney carriages, the 
number of trips per month drops to 0.3. This suggests about half the use of 
licensed vehicles is hackney carriages, quite a high proportion albeit of a low 
overall proportion. Interestingly, the hackney carriage level has dropped 
significantly less than the overall value, in 2015 the hackney carriage value 
was 0.4, and the proportion by hackney carriage therefore rises from 29% to 
50% on this basis. This suggests some resurgence of hackney carriage usage 
since the last survey. 

People told us how they obtained licensed vehicles in Oxford. Many provided 
multiple answers. Of the total answers provided, 47% said they telephoned a 
company (continued decline from 62 in 2012 to 50 in 2015), 24% said they 
got one at a taxi rank (increase from 20 in 2012 but slight decrease from 26 
in 2015) and 16% said they used their mobile or smart phone (slight decline 
also from 19% in 2015). The main gain from the last survey was 6% now said 
they hailed (zero in 2015) and 7% said they used free phones (4% in 2015). 
Again this perhaps shows some resurgence in the hackney carriage element of 
the market. The level of response to this question in terms of numbers of 
people was very similar, if not slightly better in the latest survey. 

 

 

A relatively low proportion of respondents told us which companies they 
phoned for. 62 people, lower than in 2015, provided 105 different responses 
(slightly less than in 2015). The same number of people, five, gave three 

49



 

 

23 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

company names. However, in 2018 more people gave two names, just over 
half, than in 2015 when the dominant response was a single company.  

Of all the responses, the top two companies obtained 29% and 27% 
respectively, with the next two obtaining 17% and 13%. Three other 
companies were named with 4, 2 and 1% of the responses. The top three in 
order above equate to the top three companies in terms of size, with the third 
company being the hackney carriage radio operation.  

Interestingly, and encouragingly, 8% of responses additionally said ‘mytaxi’. 
This makes this the fifth largest contacted group. This was reiterated when 
people were asked which app they used if they did use one. 85% said ‘mytaxi’ 
with the remainder, 15% saying Uber, although the total overall responses 
were quite small (just 13% of total respondents). If the radio hackney carriage 
operation is added to the mytaxi value, this provides a quarter of the bookings 
quoted being with hackney carriage vehicles.  

People were asked how they felt about using an app. A higher number 
responded, with 52% of responses being they would never use one. 38% said 
they regularly used them, with 10% not being sure what they felt. Most of 
those who were not sure (83%) said it was mainly because they were not used 
to them. 

Of all those responding to the question about usage of hackney carriages, 63% 
said they could not remember when they last used a hackney carriage. This is 
reduced from the 74% that said this in 2015. However, an encouragingly low 
3% said they could not remember when they had last seen one, although 
strangely this was in fact an increase from the none that said this in 2015.  

With respect to ranks, again there was a relatively low response. Of those 
responding, 62% named the station, 37% Gloucester Green and just one 
person responded ‘George Street’, and another ‘Cinema’, both of which are 
Gloucester Green. For the sake of clarity, Gloucester Green, George Street and 
the Cinema are all names for the same rank. There was also a specific rank 
within the bus station itself for some years. The surprise this time is that the 
four above locations were all that were named. This is very large reduction 
from the 2015 response although the top two (and only) ranks named were 
the same.  

 

Key locations no longer mentioned were Queen Street, its other name of 
Carfax, the bus station (either with reference to the specific in-station facility, 
or as another name for Gloucester Green) and St Giles. This may also relate 
to the increased in quoted hailing of vehicles, or to the increase in use of 
‘mytaxi’ to obtain hackney carriages. 

50



 

 

24 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Unsurprisingly there was no response to the question of where people might 
wish to see new ranks.  

Just under a quarter of all respondents provided ratings for various elements 
of their last trip by hackney carriage. This question was in the section that 
interviewers had specified should be answered for hackney carriages only, and 
immediately after the rank survey. Some 43 people responded to this question, 
all but three of whom had told us the frequency in which they used hackney 
carriages, so we believe that the bulk of responses here are to hackney 
carriage journeys. 

For all the responses, vehicle cleanliness, vehicle repair, driver behaviour / 
appearance / hygiene / professionalism and knowledge of the area, the highest 
score was for ‘very good’ followed by ‘good’ with a small number saying 
average. The only markedly different response was that for price. For that 
element, 2% said poor, 19% average, 47% good and 33% very good. These 
scores suggest overall high satisfaction with licensed vehicle journeys when 
they had been made.  

Even response to price, although the least favourable response, was fairly 
positive. This is unusual, with this response often strongly different to the other 
responses in the most negative voting for these options. This suggests that 
people in Oxford seem to feel hackney carriages are reasonable value for 
money. This might arise from more regular comparison with London fares 
which more Oxford people may have experience of than other areas we have 
studied. Further comment is made below. 

Just two comments were made within the thoughts about any poor service, 
both reflecting that drivers often had no change, and seemed to expect the 
change to be given as a tip. However, this point was only made by two 
respondents. However, as this was not directly requested, this is an important 
point. 

98% of the relatively small response to the question if people were satisfied 
with the service they received in terms of arrival and journey times said they 
were, again highlighting the good service people felt they received. 

 

People were asked what might encourage them to use hackney carriages or to 
use them more often. The largest response, 44%, was given under ‘other’ with 
people saying nothing would encourage them. The next largest suggestion was 
more hackney carriages they could hail or get at a rank followed by 16% for 
cheaper fares and 14% for better drivers. Combined with the low level of 
response this is a worrying result for the hackney carriage future.  

51



 

 

25 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

This is not a normal response in other surveys we have undertaken, where 
price is often dominant in the response. However, it also has to be taken in 
context of the actual growth in stated usage of hackney carriages within the 
overall market, principally through use of the booked vehicles and the growth 
of mytaxi. 

The omission of people adding ‘price’ as a key determinant to more usage of 
hackney carriages is further evidence that people in Oxford are generally 
satisfied with how reasonable hackney carriage fares are. As already noted, 
this is a much different response to the general one we receive in nearly every 
other recent survey and on this basis must be significant. 

The industry standard comparison of fares is produced regularly in the Private 
Hire and Taxi Monthly (PHTM). The latest March 2019 table shows Oxford 75th 
equal in UK fares (where there are 362 licensing authorities including the 
Channel Islands) with a typical two-mile fare of £6-40 compared to the national 
average of £5-88, and a London equivalent of £7-80. This is the same level as 
in Bristol, Leeds and Sheffield, but exceeded by Cambridge, Reading, Swindon, 
Brighton, Bath, Vale of White Horse, Sevenoaks and Watford. The lowest fare 
is £3-50 and the highest – other than Luton and Heathrow Airport fares – is 
Watford at £8.40. The PHTM record suggests they were last increased in 2014, 
five years ago. 

The proportion of people who knew someone that needed a wheel chair 
accessible vehicle was high suggesting a high level of need for such vehicles 
in Oxford. No-one suggested other vehicle types might be required. 

The latent demand questions both received just three people saying they had 
given up at a rank or hailing. The rank-based latent demand all related to the 
station rank, whilst the hailing was in the city centre in all three cases. This 
provides a rank/hail combined latent demand factor of 1.015 for council ranks 
and one of 1.015 for the private station rank. If all ranks and hailing were 
considered together, the overall level of latent demand factor would be just 
1.03, very low. This is a similar level to 2015, although the hailing component 
was not estimated in that survey, so the current level may be a reduction in 
the latent demand level.  

The issue of latent demand was mirrored with the question if people felt there 
were enough hackney carriages in the Oxford City Council area. 65% (of 19% 
of the total interviewees) said they felt there were.  

Whilst everyone who responded said they felt safe using licensed vehicles 
during the daytime, 11% were concerned about safety using them at night. 
The only positive suggestion given was one person suggesting need for more 
female drivers.  

52



 

 

26 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

People were asked if they would choose to use an electric powered hackney 
carriage. 71% said they had no preference whilst 29% said they would only 
use them if they did not cost more to use. None would be willing to pay higher 
fares to use electric vehicles.  

73% would be happy to use a card machine to pay for their hackney carriage 
fare, but only if there was no surcharge for doing so. A further 7% said they 
would use this option for every journey, whilst 3% said they would still pay 
cash. This question was answered by 30% of those interviewed, still a 
significant result. 

71% had regular access to a car and 90% said they lived in the Oxford area. 
Of these, most came from nearby Oxford locations, although there were a 
small number from Northern Ireland and from Reading or London. None are 
expected to have significantly impacted the results. 

 

 

  

53



 

 

27 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

5 Key stakeholder consultation 
The following key stakeholders were contacted in line with the 
recommendations of the BPG: 

 Supermarkets 
 Hotels 
 Pubwatch / individual pubs / night clubs 
 Other entertainment venues 
 Restaurants 
 Hospitals 
 Police 
 Disability representatives 
 Rail operators 
 Other council contacts within all relevant local councils 

Comments received have been aggregated below to provide an overall 
appreciation of the situation at the time of this survey. In some cases, there 
are very specific comments from given stakeholders, but we try to maintain 
their confidentiality as far as is possible. The comments provided in the 
remainder of this Chapter are the views of those consulted, and not that of the 
authors of this report.  

Our information was obtained by telephone, email, letter or face to face 
meeting as appropriate. The list contacted includes those suggested by the 
Council, those drawn from previous similar surveys, and from general internet 
trawls for information. Our target stakeholders are as far as possible drawn 
from across the entire licensing area to ensure the review covers the full area 
and not just specific parts or areas. 

For the sake of clarity, we cover key stakeholders from the public side 
separately to those from the licensed vehicle trade element, whose views are 
summarized separately in the following Chapter. 

Where the statistical analyses in Chapter 2 demonstrate low levels of 
wheelchair accessible vehicle (WAV) provision, an increased emphasis will be 
given to the issue in terms of the focus of stakeholders but also in specific 
efforts to contact disabled users and their representatives. However, it must 
be remembered that none of our consultation is statutory and for cost effective 
and fixed budget reasons we limit our attempts to contact people generally to 
a first attempt and reminder.  

 
 
 
 
 

54



 

 

28 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Supermarkets 
One supermarket said that their customers did use licensed vehicles, but via a 
free phone within the store. They were not aware of ranks their customers 
might use, nor were they aware of any issues arising from the service provided. 
Five other supermarkets contacted made no comment. 

Hotels 
Four hotels advised us their customers did use local licensed vehicles, although 
all were via reception making phone calls when asked. None were aware of 
any nearby ranks customers might use. One said there was an issue with 
phoned for vehicles arriving late, whilst another said the service provided was 
very reliable (they used a free phone). Three other hotels made no comment. 

Public houses 
Five public houses responded to tell us their customers did use local licensed 
vehicles. Two said they would phone for a vehicle if asked, two said customers 
tended to book themselves and two said that customers would need to make 
their own arrangements. Two were aware of nearby ranks, one of a rank about 
ten minutes away whilst another suggested a booking office was where people 
might go to get a vehicle.  

Four reported there were no issues that either they or customers had made 
them aware of regarding the service provided. One felt all licensed vehicle 
fares tended to be expensive. One comment of concern was that they had been 
advised of driver behaviour issues. 

One location could not be contacted, and eight others made no comment within 
the time available despite re-calls.  

Night clubs 
Within the time available, no comment was provided by any of the night clubs 
contacted. 

Other entertainment venues 
Three venues contacted made no comment. 

Restaurants 
Four restaurants / café’s said their customers used local licensed vehicles. Two 
had their own free phone system, whilst two others said customers often made 
their own arrangements, although they also had free phones they would use if 
anyone asked. One was aware of a rank about five minutes away whilst the 
others were unware of any ranks. Just one had an issue that the vehicles they 
called always parked at the front of the restaurant even though they always 
asked vehicles to come to the rear of their location. 

 

55



 

 

29 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Hospitals 
There was no comment from the hospitals contacted. 

Police 
The police told us any issues they had were always dealt with by the licensing 
section effectively so the operation overall worked well. Their only concerns 
related to some vehicles ignoring traffic restrictions, and to the level of out of 
town vehicles which they identified plying for hire. They felt the level of present 
regulation was about right. 

They also advised us that they were concerned about some recently observed 
growth in queueing for hackney carriages to access current ranks. They feel 
there are few opportunities to add further spaces in the central area which 
means they would be concerned at any increase in size of the current hackney 
carriage vehicle fleet. At most they would only feel there would be capacity for 
a very small increase in the fleet numbers. Additional vehicles could lead to 
congestion and safety issues from vehicles waiting beyond the current rank 
spaces. 

Oxford Pubwatch were contacted but had no comments about the licensed 
vehicle service provided. 

Other contacts 
No further comment was provided by a range of disability, council, trade or 
other consultees, as listed in the Appendix. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Rail passenger growth 

56



 

 

30 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The latest available national rail passenger entry and exit counts were used to 
identify recent growth at the station.  

Rail year (ends March 
in last year noted) 

Entries / exits Growth / 
decline 

Oxford (59th) 
1997 / 1998 3,064,352 n/a 
1998 / 1999 3,275,869 +7% 
1999 / 2000 3,377,100 +3% 
2000 / 2001 3,369,139 -0.0% 
2001 / 2002 3,423,749 +2% 
2002 / 2003 3,648,550 +7% 
2003 / 2004 n/a n/a 
2004 / 2005 3,956,477 +8% (2 yrs) 
2005 / 2006 4,076,814 +3% 
2006 / 2007 4,540,878 +11% 
2007 / 2008 4,712,647 +4% 
2008 / 2009 5,080,934 +8% 
2009 / 2010 5,427,286 +7% 
2010 / 2011 5,797,984 +7% 
2011 / 2012 6,226,478 +7% 
2012 / 2013 6,309,582 +1% 
2013 / 2014 6,509,093 +3% 
2014 / 2015 6,624,954 +2% 
2015 / 2016 6,564,678 -1% 
2016 / 2017 6,631,498 +1% 
2017 / 2018 7,984,182 +20% 

Overall 97/98 to 17/18 +160% 
Last three available 2014/15 to 2017/18 +21% 

 

From its opening in the 2015/16 period to the current figures, Oxford Parkway 
has increased from 274,696 to 938,844, some 241%, although the first year 
may have been only partial. Around the time of opening, Oxford main station 
itself saw a marginal drop, although the latest year has seen growth again to 
the level of some 20% in the period ending March 2018. Over the last three 
years since the last survey, growth has been 21% although much of this was 
in the recent period. During the same period, rank usage there fell 18%. 

  

57



 

 

31 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

6 Trade stakeholder views 
The BPG encourages all studies to include ‘all those involved in the trade’. 
There are a number of different ways felt to be valid in meeting this 
requirement, partly dependent on what the licensing authority feel is 
reasonable and possible given the specifics of those involved in the trade in 
their area. 

The most direct and least costly route is to obtain comment from trade 
representatives. This can be undertaken by email, phone call or face to face 
meeting by the consultant undertaking the study. In some cases to ensure 
validity of the work being undertaken it may be best for the consultation to 
occur after the main work has been undertaken. This avoids anyone being able 
to claim that the survey work was influenced by any change in behaviour. 

Most current studies tend to issue a letter and questionnaire to all hackney 
carriage and private hire owners, drivers and operators. This is best issued by 
the council on behalf of the independent consultant. Usual return is now using 
an on-line form of the questionnaire, with the option of postal return still being 
provided, albeit in some cases without use of a freepost return. Returns can 
be encouraged by email or direct contact via representatives.  

Some authorities cover private hire by issuing the letter and questionnaire to 
operators seeking they pass them on when drivers book on or off, or via vehicle 
data head communications. 

In all cases, we believe it is essential we document the method used clearly 
and measure response levels. However, it is also rare for there to be high 
levels of response, with 5% typically felt to be good and reasonable. 

For this survey, the authority had email addresses for the bulk of drivers. A 
copy of the explanatory letter, questionnaire and link to the electronic 
questionnaire was issues to some 1,171 addresses, including some duplicates 
it was not practicable to remove. The resulting response was some 152 replies.  

Checks were made to ensure there were no duplicate or multiple entries – with 
just one response being removed on this basis. This implies a 13% or better 
response rate, very good for this kind of survey. 

 

 

 

66% of those responding said they drove a hackney carriage, with 28% saying 
private hire, 3% saying both and a further 3% saying they did not currently 

58



 

 

32 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

drive any vehicle. This is a fair split of responses given that the main focus is 
on the hackney carriage service, but that the DfT BPG encourages that all 
involved in the licensed vehicle trade are given opportunity to give their views. 

The responses were analysed taking into account the potential different 
understanding and attitudes from various elements within the trade (including 
hackney carriage and private hire, owner/driver, owner only or driver only). 
This analysis allows both setting of the background to the present operation 
as well as clarification of the views of those providing the service to the public 
in its various guises which often the public perceive to be similar. 

The overall profile of the experience in the trade gives an average length of 
service of respondents of 15 years, with the maximum length of service quoted 
as 42 years. From our sample, those saying they were hackney carriage drivers 
had above average experience (18 years compared to 10 for pure private hire 
drivers), but the longest serving person responding, with 42 years, was from 
the private hire side, with the hackney carriage equivalent being a still 
substantial 35 years. 

For the overall set of responses, 35% said they worked six days, with the 
actual average being five days. The breakdown by days was 24% for five days, 
16% for seven, 15% for four and between one and five % each for the four 
other lengths of operation. The average number of days worked was similar 
when split between hackney carriage and private hire, although the 
proportions of people working peaked on six days for hackney carriage 
respondents and five for private hire. 

The overall average number of hours worked in the week prior to answering 
the questionnaire was 40, ranging up to one person stating their maximum of 
95 hours. This was also the value when hackney carriage alone was 
considered. For private hire, the average was just an hour less, with the 
maximum at 87 hours. This is not a significant difference but is in the same 
nature as that for overall days worked – i.e. marginally longer working weeks 
and hours for hackney carriage compared to private hire. This is typical around 
the country. Whilst the 95 hours quoted is 56% of the week, this would be the 
hours a person was out ‘on the road’ and would include waiting time at ranks 
or, for private hire, for calls to be put through.  

 

Such long hours are typical of hackney carriage drivers who often tend to set 
their target of earnings and are willing to work on until that target is met. This 
can, however, have varied implications on availability of vehicles depending on 
when a person feels their week started. It can result in drivers finishing work 
even during busy periods. 

59



 

 

33 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Respondents were asked the issues that affected their choice of shift. From the 
total responses provided, avoiding heavy traffic times was top with 34% of 
responses. Family commitments and sharing a vehicle shared the next two 
spots, both having 15% of responses. Choosing to work when it was busy 
obtained 11% and ‘preference’ gained 10%.  

Various other lesser reasons were given. Just 1% said they worked hours that 
avoided difficult passengers or times they felt it was not safe to work.  

Two thirds said they owned their own vehicle, with just over half saying that 
someone else also used the vehicle they mainly drove. Of those with shared 
vehicles, the other person used it in daytimes (44%), nights (21%) and 
evenings (10%), with various other choices also given. 

Just over two thirds of the entire respondent set accepted pre-bookings. There 
were two principal ways this occurred, with again two thirds saying via an office 
radio circuit, whilst 22% said via an app. Again, other responses with less 
share were given showing a range of operating practices.  

When asked to name who the pre-bookings were with, the top response was 
32% saying the hackney carriage circuit, with a further 11% saying the mytaxi 
app. Some said they obtained circuit and app bookings (adding a further 6% 
to those saying they used the app). This suggests a total of 49% of those 
taking bookings do so via a hackney carriage platform. The largest two private 
hire operators received 15% and 8% of mentions respectively.  

Respondents were asked about ranks serviced. A check was made to remove 
any reference to ranks from private hire only respondents. There were six such 
responses although half simply said ‘All’ and the rest provided either base 
locations or suburbs. Many hackney carriage drivers or those driving both 
hackney carriage and private hire provided several locations. Of the total 
responses, 34% quoted the railway station, 24% Gloucester Green, 21% 
‘Carfax Tower’ (assumed to be the Queen Street rank) and 11% St Giles. 
Some, minor, mention was made of Cowley, Headington and the new Westgate 
rank.  

For the overall response, two thirds said their main method of obtaining fares 
was from ranks, with 28% from phone bookings, 3% from school contracts, 
1% from hailing and a few from emails with one saying the ‘mytaxi’ app. 
Further disaggregation then was provided splitting responses between hackney 
carriage and private hire. 

58% of the hackney carriage respondents obtained nearly all their fares from 
the rank. Just 5% got up to half from phone bookings, with overall hackney 
carriages suggesting phone bookings were rarely more than a quarter of their 

60



 

 

34 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

overall fares. 83% said hailing was between 1 and 25% of fares. School 
contracts were of little consequence to those responding. 

For the private hire only respondents, 48% obtained all their bookings from 
the phone. For those with other sources, the principal one was school contracts 
although only 2% said 51-75% and 5% said 26-50% contribution was made 
from this element. One respondent said all their work came from other sources. 

75% of respondents, a high percentage, felt there were enough hackney 
carriages in the City council area. This question was new to this survey so it is 
not possible to compare to previous surveys.  

69% of respondents answered the question if the limit on hackney carriage 
numbers should remain. Of these, 96% agreed the limit should remain. Of 
those saying the limit should not remain, three quarters were hackney 
carriage. Of those agreeing with the limit remaining, 14% were private hire. 

The respondents were asked what their reaction would be were the limit either 
removed or increased. 32% said they would leave the trade. 31% said they 
would have no reaction. 9% said the would work longer hours whilst a few said 
they would apply for their own plate, or be concerned about their ability to 
continue to support their families, plus various other reactions including legal 
means to oppose. 

Respondents were asked how they felt the current limit benefitted the public. 
The top response was that it ensures supply met demand (25%), followed by 
reducing congestion and pollution (23%) and ensuring clean, safe and well-
maintained vehicles.  

18% of the responses to this question were from people who said the limit did 
not benefit the public. The largest proportion of these were hackney carriage 
drivers who presently rented and who put over their view that they should 
have opportunity to have their own vehicle.  

Many comments were provided, many quite strong on various matters. There 
were many who gave reasons that more hackney carriages were needed, 
principally related to plate values but also considering that the lower numbers 
of vehicles made them less able to compete with other vehicles. The point was 
made that with more hackney carriages about out of town vehicle numbers 
and private hire might in fact reduce.  

There were also quite strong views that there were presently enough hackney 
carriages and that the present fleet found it hard to make a living. Some also 
pointed out the lack of a central rank near the busy Carfax axis to service the 
daytime trade, whilst the issue of the lack of access to the new shopping centre 
bus only route was also raised. 

61



 

 

35 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Further discussion was held with trade representatives and each of the local 
operators. Response was provided by COLTA. They told us a major concern 
remained the out of town vehicles they felt pretended to be hackney carriages 
by use of their illuminated ‘Taxi’ signs which local private hire do not have. 

They also advised us the Parkway station at Kidlington had reduced demand 
from the main station in the centre as many passengers now chose to head to 
their destinations from that point rather than coming in to central Oxford.  

There were also regular issues with levels of traffic and many times when traffic 
works made it hard to access ranks, or provide customers rapid journey times. 
This had not been helped by the closure of access via the new Westgate 
Shopping Centre link which was initially restricted to buses only. They are 
currently within a six month trial period of being allowed to use this access.  

There had been significant recent issues with serving the private rank at the 
Train station. They felt that the level of service they received for a payment of 
£1000 per vehicle and £100 per additional driver was not matched, particularly 
with the issue of recent forecourt use by contractors reducing their spaces at 
the station to just 16 rather than the 30 that had been possible. This led to 
issues when busy trains arrived as the waiting vehicles might very easily be 
exhausted and with nowhere else to wait, fresh vehicles took some while to 
collect passengers.  

They also advised us there had been severe traffic issues through December 
2018 impacting on their ability to service increased demand in the run up to 
Christmas. There had been severe issues at the Train Station rank whilst 
rebuilding work was under way, whose impact was worsened by the drop in 
patronage arising from the opening of Oxford Parkway. 

 

 

 

There was also concern raised about inclusion of private hire in the all-driver 
survey although our view remains that the guidance letter allied to the DfT 
BPG document does require ‘all involved in the trade’ to be consulted. This also 
ties in with our experience that it is best to give those that might wish to 
challenge any result the opportunity to have their say and provide their 
opinions within any study rather than afterwards. All our results carefully take 
on board who is providing any response in our interpretation of their inputs.  

62



 

 

36 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Despite chasing, no other trade representatives or companies provided any 
input to the survey directly. This is unfortunate, but the consultation associated 
with this survey is not mandatory in any way. 

 

  

63



 

 

37 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

7 Evaluation of unmet demand and its significance 
It is first important to define our specific view about what constitutes unmet 
demand. Our definition is when a person turns up at a hackney carriage rank 
and finds there is no vehicle there available for immediate hire. This normally 
leads to a queue of people building up, some of who may walk off (taken to be 
latent demand), whilst others will wait till a vehicle collects them. Later 
passengers may well arrive when there are vehicles there, but because of the 
queue will not obtain a vehicle immediately.  

There are other instances where queues of passengers can be observed at 
hackney carriage ranks. This can occur when the level of demand is such that 
it takes longer for vehicles to move up to waiting passengers than passengers 
can board and move away. This often occurs at railway stations but can also 
occur at other ranks where high levels of passenger arrivals occur. We do not 
consider this is unmet demand, but geometric delay and although we note this, 
it is not counted towards unmet demand being significant. 

The industry standard index of the significance of unmet demand (ISUD) was 
initiated at the time of the introduction of section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act 
as a numeric and consistent way of evaluating unmet demand and its 
significance. The ISUD methodology was initially developed by a university and 
then adopted by one of the leading consultant groups undertaking the surveys 
made necessary to enable authorities to retain their limit on hackney carriage 
vehicle numbers. The index has been developed and deepened over time to 
take into account various court challenges. It has now become accepted as the 
industry standard test of if identified unmet demand is significant.  

The index is a statistical guide derived to evaluate if observed unmet demand 
is in fact significant. However, its basis is that early tests using first principles 
identified based on a moderate sample suggested that the level of index of 80 
was the cut-off above which the index was in fact significant, and that unmet 
demand therefore was such that action was needed in terms of additional issue 
of plates to reduce the demand below this level, or a complete change of policy 
if it was felt appropriate. This level has been accepted as part of the industry 
standard. However, the index is not a strict determinant and care is needed in 
providing the input samples as well as interpreting the result provided. 
However, the index has various components which can also be used to 
understand what is happening in the rank-based and overall licensed vehicle 
market. 

 

 

64



 

 

38 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

ISUD draws from several different parts of the study data. Each separate 
component of the index is designed to capture a part of the operation of the 
demand for hackney carriages and reflect this numerically. Whilst the principal 
inputs are from the rank surveys, the measure of latent demand comes from 
the public on-street surveys, and any final decision about if identified unmet 
demand is significant, or in fact about the value of continuing the current policy 
of restricting vehicle numbers, must be taken fully in the context of a careful 
balance of all the evidence gathered during the survey process.  

The present ISUD calculation has two components which both could be zero. 
In the case that either are zero, the overall index result is zero, which means 
they clearly demonstrate there is no unmet demand which is significant, even 
if other values are high. 

The first component which can be zero is the proportion of daytime hours 
where people are observed to have to wait for a hackney carriage to arrive. 
The level of wait used is ANY average wait at all within any hour. The industry 
definition of these hours varies, the main index user counts from 10:00 to 
18:00 (i.e. eight hours ending at 17:59). The present index is clear that unmet 
demand cannot be significant if there are no such hours. The only rider on this 
component is that the sample of hours collected must include a fair element of 
such hours, and that if the value is non-zero, review of the potential effect of 
a wider sample needs to be considered. 

The other component which could be zero is the test identifying the proportion 
of passengers which are travelling in any hour when the average passenger 
wait in that hour is greater than one minute.  

If both of these components are non-zero, then the remaining components of 
the index come into play. These are the peakiness factor, the seasonality 
factor, average passenger delay, and the latent demand factor.  

Average passenger delay is the total amount of time waited by all passengers 
in the sample, divided by the total number of passengers observed who 
entered hackney carriages.  

The seasonality factor allows for the undertaking of rank survey work in periods 
which are not typical, although guidance is that such periods should normally 
be avoided if possible particularly as the impact of seasons may not just be on 
the level of passenger demand, but may also impact on the level of supply. 
This is particularly true in regard to if surveys are undertaken when schools 
are active or not.  

 

65



 

 

39 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Periods when schools are not active can lead to more hackney carriage vehicles 
being available whilst they are not required for school contract work. Such 
periods can also reduce hackney carriage demand with people away on holiday 
from the area. Generally, use of hackney carriages is higher in December in 
the run-up to Christmas, but much lower in January, February and the parts 
of July and August when more people are likely to be on holiday. The factor 
tends to range from 0.8 for December (factoring high demand level impacts 
down) to 1.2 for January / February (inflating the values from low demand 
levels upwards).  

There can be special cases where summer demand needs to be covered, 
although high peaks for tourist traffic use of hackney carriages tend not to be 
so dominant at the current time, apart from in a few key tourist authorities. 

The peakiness factor is generally either 1 (level demand generally) or 0.5 
(demand has a high peak at one point during the week). This is used to allow 
for the difficulty of any transport system being able to meet high levels of 
peaking. It is rarely possible or practicable for example for any public transport 
system, or any road capacity, to be provided to cover a few hours a week.  

The latent demand factor was added following a court case. It comes from 
asking people in the on-street questionnaires if they have ever given up waiting 
for a hackney carriage at a rank in any part of the area. This factor generally 
only affects the level of the index as it only ranges from 1.0 (no-one has given 
up) to 2.0 (everyone says they have). It is also important to check that people 
are quoting legitimate hackney carriage rank waits as some, despite careful 
questioning, quote giving up waiting at home, which must be for a private hire 
vehicle (even if in hackney carriage guise as there are few private homes with 
taxi ranks outside). 

There can be times where the make-up of the unmet demand contributing to 
the significance determination can include times of what is termed ‘thin’ 
demand. This occurs when the overall demand in passenger terms at a rank is 
low, perhaps ten or less passengers in an hour. This is a level which hackney 
carriages may often choose not to meet as it can result for them in very long 
waits between passengers. However, in such circumstances, the existence of 
vehicles may lead to passengers expecting a vehicle to be there, and being 
prepared to wait till one comes along. If for some reason more than one or 
two people arrive near to each other, this can result in the low number of 
servicing vehicles leaving with passengers just before their arrival, and with 
typical return to rank times of around 20 minutes, can lead to substantial waits 
for this one, or sometimes, two passengers that arrive.  

66



 

 

40 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

For this reason, we screen overall unmet demand (see the earlier chapter) and 
take these events into consideration when a conclusion is moving towards the 
unmet demand that is observed being significant. 

The ISUD index is the result of multiplying each of the components together 
and benchmarking this against the cut-off value of 80. Changes in the 
individual components of the index can also be illustrative. For example, the 
growth of daytime hour queueing can be an earlier sign of unmet demand 
developing than might be apparent from the proportion of people experiencing 
a queue particularly as the former element is based on any wait and not just 
that averaging over a minute. The change to a peaky demand profile can tend 
towards reducing the potential for unmet demand to be significant.  

Finally, any ISUD value must be interpreted in the light of the sample used to 
feed it, as well as completely in the context of all other information gathered. 
Generally, the guide of the index will tend not to be overturned in regard to 
significant unmet demand being identified, but this cannot be assumed to be 
the case – the index is a guide and a part of the evidence and needs to be 
taken fully in context. 

For this survey, including all data, the average wait time for passengers at 
ranks was 14 seconds, or 0.23 minutes. Evidence suggests the profile of 
demand is peaky. The level of queueing in off peak hours is 18.75%, whilst 
8.44% of passengers travel in hours when the average passenger delay is a 
minute or more. The seasonal factor is 1.0 whilst latent demand, covering both 
rank and hail-based elements is 1.03. The overall level of significance 
estimated is therefore 19.02. This is well under the accepted industry standard 
cut-off level of 80. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The table below compares results from previous surveys for which information 
about the ISUD components is available. 

67



 

 

41 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Element 2018 2015 2012 2009 2001 

Average wait (mins) 0.23 0.03 0.65 0.24 1.72 

Peak factor 0.5 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 

% Queues in weekday daytime 
hours 

18.75 6.3 7 10 10 

% pass in hours with waiting 1 
minute or more 

8.44 0.6 4.3 3.1 47.6 

Seasonal factor 1 1 1 1 1 

Latent demand 1.03 1.015 1.308 n/k n/k 

Overall index 19.02 0.06 13 4 409 

 

The table sets the current result in context with previous tests of the 
significance of unmet demand identified in the City. Since the last survey, each 
of the elements of the ISUD index have either remained the same, or increased 
towards becoming significant. However, the values are all a long way from 
those identified in 2001 which was the last time unmet demand in the area 
was considered to be significant. 

From our earlier review, much of the unmet demand arose from the five hours 
in the early part of Sunday morning at Carfax; together with some element 
arising from thin demand issues at St Giles.  

The largest factor involved in the components is the proportion of hours on 
weekdays when there is some average delay. This can arise from hackney 
carriages working on private hire circuits, or telephone circuits rather than 
waiting at ranks at times of lower demand. However, further investigation 
shows all of these occasions were at the private station rank, mainly during 
the Friday when demands tend to be higher, and for some hours supply of 
hackney carriages can be lower (around lunchtime). At all other, council 
provided, non further-restricted locations, there is no delay at all. 

 

 

In some cases, we remove the private rank demand from estimation of 
significance of unmet demand. This is where issues arise from the additional 
restriction implied by the supplementary fee (and some times restriction on 
either numbers additionally, or of who can pay the fee, if linked to a company 

68



 

 

42 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

or organisation). This implies that, if there is unmet demand, it is fuelled not 
by a shortage of vehicles within the council limit, but by the supplementary 
impact of the private operation. If this were undertaken for Oxford, there would 
be no queues in weekday daytime hours and the index for the Council provided 
ranks would therefore be zero.  

Overall, this review supports the conclusion that there is no unmet demand at 
this time in the Oxford City area that can be seen as significant in terms of the 
industry standard ISUD evaluation. This is further taken in context in the 
synthesis below.  

69



 

 

43 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

8 Summary, synthesis and study conclusions 
This Unmet demand survey on behalf of Oxford City Council has been 
undertaken following the guidance of the BPG and other recent case history 
regarding unmet demand and its significance. 

Background and context 
This latest review of the level and significance of observed and latent unmet 
demand for Oxford City Council was undertaken between August 2018 and 
March 2019, with on-the-ground survey work undertaken in November 2018 
and driver views obtained in December 2018. The current restricted level of 
hackney carriage vehicle numbers is in context of a recent decline in locally 
licensed private hire vehicle numbers. After a change to promote a dual driver 
option, recent years have seen some favouring of the private hire only driver 
option, although overall driver numbers are reduced in the last few years. 
 
Despite a fully wheelchair accessible hackney carriage fleet, there are a small 
number of wheelchair accessible vehicles in the private hire fleet, most recent 
data suggesting a very marginal increase in this number.  
 
Against vehicle and driver trends, operator numbers have steadily and 
consistently grown. 
 
This review is the latest in a regular series of reviews which generally accord 
with the Best Practice Guidance (BPG) encouragement of a three-year 
frequency. This is excellent best practice for the authority, which remains one 
of the most regular reviewers of its limitation policy. 
 
Rank observations 
The only real current change to rank provision since the last survey is the new 
rank located at the rear of the new shopping centre, plus the cessation of road 
works that precluded use of Park End Street rank in the previous survey. Two 
new ranks are now expected within the very near future. 
 
A review of the suburban ranks found that there is very little significant usage 
of any of them, although most locations have sufficient passing hackney 
carriages to allow anyone wishing to obtain one to hail a vehicle.  
 
Current observed usage of hackney carriage vehicles at ranks in the area is 
marginally reduced from the level in 2015, with just under 12,000 passengers 
per typical week estimated at this time. Comparison to previous surveys 
suggests the previous strong decline in usage may have perhaps slowed 
somewhat.   

70



 

 

44 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

The Station rank remains the busiest, providing some 37% of total passengers 
in a typical week. Despite the changes applied to the Queen Street rank 
between the last survey and now, this is one of two ranks that has seen growth 
in usage, so that it is now the second busiest with some 31% of passengers 
despite only operating at night. The main council central all-day rank at 
Gloucester Green sees 24% of passengers. The two other active ranks (both 
effectively night only) see 4% of demand each. The new shopping centre rank 
did see some usage, but only at a very minor level, and there are still no 
vehicles appearing to regularly wait here for custom. 
 
During its operational hours, the Queen Street rank is the dominant location 
in passenger terms. Over the whole set of ranks, demand grows from Thursday 
through Friday to the Saturday peak. However, the difference in demand from 
Thursday to Saturday is not as great in Oxford as it is in many other recently 
surveyed locations.  
 
The usage of the different ranks tends to complement each other, with peaks 
at different times meaning vehicles are better able to spread service to places 
that need vehicles. The City does not tend to see any hour of the day or week 
without someone using a hackney carriage from a rank. 
 
In terms of levels of vehicle activity, our sample survey found 92% of the fleet 
active on the busiest day. However, the highest level in any one period was 
lower at 46%. Further, comments from the trade tend to confirm they were 
unaware of the observations and had not played up. The Oxford fleet tends to 
be highly active, using regular double-shifting of vehicles. 
 
The proportion of hours with an average passenger delay in that hour of a 
minute or more was very low at 3.5%. Even within this good performance, 
there were two passengers who waited 26 and 20 minutes respectively, but 
these were the only two in the whole survey who waited that long. Some of 
the over a minute average passenger delays occurred due to ‘thin demand’ 
rather than a lack of vehicles. 
 
However, there were 17% of the total surveyed hours when there was some 
average passenger delay, but less than a minute. Adding in the longer average 
passenger delays, a fifth of all observed hours actually saw a non-zero average 
passenger delay value. However, in context, just 6.5% of all passengers 
actually experienced a delay of a minute or more. Within this, just 22 waited 
11 minutes or more, with 418 waiting no more than five minutes. As in most 
places, there is unmet demand, but its significance in context is discussed 
separately using the industry standard measures. 
 

71



 

 

45 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

With respect to use by those with disabilities, both the wheelchair and other 
disability usage levels have increased since 2015, although overall numbers 
using these options are small. 
 
For issues with other vehicles abusing ranks, the area has good practice in that 
two ranks are very purposely designed to make such abuse difficult. The main 
issue of abuse arises from the new rank which is little used by hackney 
carriages at present, followed by issues at one of the night ranks which is on 
a very busy street in terms of vehicles wishing to pick up and set down. 
 
On street public views 
At Council request the 2018 on street surveys were undertaken away from key 
ranks to reduce the chance of drivers being alerted to the surveys under way. 
The overall sample structure and local nature of those interviewed was fairly 
reasonable and implies the results are likely to be reasonable. 
 
The level of people saying they had used a licensed vehicle in the last three 
months was very low, 28%, and continuing the strong decline seen from 2012 
(64%) to 2015 to date. 
 
Total licensed vehicle usage per person per month is low at just 0.6 trips, also 
reduced from the 2015 level which was 1.4. However, the hackney carriage 
level only dropped from 0.4 to 0.3, suggesting a resurgence in usage of 
hackney carriages in the overall Oxford mix since 2015. In terms of quoted 
ways of getting licensed vehicles the headline was an increase from zero to 
6% who now said they hailed vehicles.  
 
Apparent usage of private hire seemed to be reduced in terms of the number 
willing to tell us the companies they used. The hackney carriage radio circuit 
obtained the third highest level of citation. Further, the fifth largest named 
contact was ‘mytaxi’, with 8% of the share of peoples’ citations. A specific 
question about ‘apps’ found 85% of those using apps claimed to use mytaxi. 
Overall, 25% of booked trips are using hackney carriages, an encouraging 
level. 
 
A reduced level of people could not remember the last time they used a 
hackney carriage (from 74% to 63%). An encouragingly low 3% said they 
could not remember seeing a hackney carriage, although none had said this in 
2015. 
 
Knowledge of ranks, however, was confined to the Station and Gloucester 
Green.  
 

72



 

 

46 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
 
Satisfaction with the last hackney carriage journey made was very high, with 
only price scoring 2% poor and 19% average, whereas most other responses 
did not include any poor, and very few average responses. A further question 
about satisfaction also scored well. 
 
A negative response was provided to what might encourage people to use 
hackney carriages or use them more – with 44% saying ‘nothing’. The other 
items that followed were more hackney carriages to hail or obtain at ranks, 
cheaper fares and better drivers.  
 
There appeared to be relatively high need for wheelchair accessible vehicles in 
this survey, all focussed on wheelchair style and not other adaptations.  
 
The overall latent demand factor for this survey, covering hail and rank 
demand, both for the council ranks and the station rank, was 1.03, about the 
same as in 2015 although that factor excluded hailing based latent demand. 
 
A fifth of the people interviewed responded to if they felt there were enough 
hackney carriages – and nearly two thirds said they felt there were.  
 
All felt safe using hackney carriages in the daytime but 11% had safety 
concerns about using them at night.  
 
With respect to use of electric vehicles, 29% of those responding said they 
would use them but only if they did not cost more in fares.  
 
73% - a significant proportion of those responding - were happy to use a card 
machine to pay fares, but again only if there was no surcharge (which there 
cannot now be anyway). A further 7% said that if this was provided, they would 
always pay this way. This means 80% of those responding to this question 
would either definitely use a card machine or be willing to do so – a resounding 
confirmation this option is important. 
 
Key stakeholder views 
Most key stakeholders considered that their customers did use taxis. Some 
issues were reported but none of significance. Most tended to use private hire 
or phoned for options, with just a few aware of ranks. The most significant 
comment was from the local police who warned that there were issues with 
over-ranking and that there were few locations that extra rank spaces could 
be added. On this basis, they would find it hard to support many additional 
hackney carriage vehicles were that found to be necessary. 

73



 

 

47 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
Rail growth at Oxford station since the last survey was about 20%, although 
there had been clear impact when the new Parkway station opened, with some 
passengers choosing to begin or end journeys away from the busy city centre, 
although the recent year had seen strong resurgence at the central main 
station. 
 
Trade views 
The trade response to this survey was very good for this kind of survey. 13% 
responded, with 66% being from hackney carriage, 3% from non-drivers, 3% 
from those who said they drove both kinds of vehicle and 28% from private 
hire. Care was taken to distinguish results between private hire and hackney 
carriage. This also covered differences in views between owner/drivers, owner 
only, driver only or operator only responses. 
 
In general, hackney carriage drivers tended to have more experience than 
their private hire counterparts, although the person with the longest history in 
licensed vehicles in Oxford was a private hire driver. Although overall working 
days on average were similar, more hackney carriage drivers worked six days 
than did private hire. The overall working week for hackney carriage drivers 
was slightly longer but not as significantly so as in other areas. This is typical 
for hackney carriage drivers who often set a target of earnings and work till 
that is met, whereas private hire tend to have more guaranteed earnings from 
their operator. 
 
The most severe impact on when people worked related to avoiding heavy 
traffic.  
 
There was a high proportion of vehicles owned and driven by the same person, 
but then on top of that half said someone else also drove their vehicle. A very 
high two thirds overall accepted pre-bookings, with nearly a third of these via 
the hackney carriage radio circuit, and 11% with mytaxi. It was estimated that 
nearly half of those taking bookings did so via a hackney carriage based 
platform.  
 
In terms of ranks used, 34% said Station, 24% Gloucester Green, 21% Queen 
Street (but all called it Carfax Tower) and 11% St Giles. Some mentioned the 
new Westgate rank. 58% of hackney carriage respondents obtained nearly all 
their fares from ranks. 83% said hailing was between 1 and 25% of fares. Just 
5% obtained up to half their fares from bookings. 
 
On the private hire side, a quite low just under half said they obtained all their 
fares from bookings. Many had high levels of contract working. 

74



 

 

48 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

 
75% felt there were enough hackney carriages. 69% answered the question 
about limiting hackney carriage vehicle numbers, with 96% of these 
suggesting the limit should remain. Of those disagreeing with retention of the 
limit, three quarters were hackney carriage drivers. 14% of those agreeing the 
limit should remain were in fact from the private hire side. 
 
In terms of reaction to any change to the limit policy, the strongest reaction 
was 32% who said they would leave the trade followed by 9% saying they 
would work longer hours to ensure they met their targets.  
 
23% of the response about the benefit of the limit was that it reduced 
congestion and pollution that would result from extra vehicles. 18% used this 
question to say they did not think the limit provided any benefit – but the bulk 
of these were the always-vocal group of those who rent vehicles and want their 
own. 
 
COLTA provided useful input about the impact of traffic levels and the new 
Parkway station on patronage levels. This was in stark contrast to the lack of 
any direct response from private hire operators (apart from in the all-driver 
questionnaire responses). 
 
Formal evaluation of significance of unmet demand 
The industry standard evaluation of the level of significance of the observed 
unmet demand found that all elements of the index had either remained the 
same or increased towards the unmet demand becoming significant. However, 
the overall result of 19 is still a long way from the cut-off of 80 that would 
result in a view that the unmet demand observed was significant. Average 
passenger delay remained less than half a minute, but had increased from a 
negligible value in 2015, whilst the proportion of passengers travelling in hours 
with waiting a minute or more had also gone up somewhat, as had the 
proportion of queues in weekday daytime hours. 

These changes may be a result of the increased level of hackney carriages 
getting fares from mytaxi which would reduce their time available at ranks, 
although the high levels of overall satisfaction with hackney carriage travel 
suggests this is not as negative an impact on passengers as it is on the rank-
based performance indicator. 

 
 
 
 
 

75



 

 

49 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Synthesis 
The best practise of undertaking three-yearly reviews of the level of unmet 
demand in Oxford has the spin-off of being able to track changes in the demand 
for hackney carriages and private hire vehicles on a regular and relatively 
consistent basis. It also provides a record of changes which have impacted on 
the industry.  
 
For Oxford, a key impact on all transport in the area has been the 
redevelopment of many parts of the City. While other developments are still in 
the future, 2018 saw the culmination of several major projects all with strong 
impacts. These include revision of the roads around the Station, opening of the 
Westgate shopping centre, and related road revisions. 
 
Further, transport has been impacted by the opening of the Chiltern alternative 
route to London as well as the opening of Oxford Parkway station to the north 
of the City on that route. In due course, electrification will arrive at Oxford 
from Paddington as well as improved services on the Cotswold line. These 
changes have supplemented the widespread extension of bus services in the 
area allied to the strong move towards a 24/7 city. It seems that the 
introduction of Parkway station, alongside severe issues for hackney carriages 
introduced by the station works affecting their ability to get enough vehicles 
in to service customers over a period has depressed hackney carriage service 
and passenger use at the station. The recent resurgence of passenger flows at 
the station seems yet to filter through to demand for hackney carriages. 
 
The current time sees the principal Queen Street night rank back in its original 
location and access arrangements, and a new facility provided for the new 
shopping centre. Two other new ranks are in the pipeline in the City centre. A 
key development in 2018 was the introduction of mytaxi to the hackney 
carriage fleet offer. 
 
The current survey suggests that the long-term decline in hackney carriage 
usage at ranks has slowed significantly. Further, public quoted usage of 
licensed vehicles continues to reduce (with allied reduction in vehicle and driver 
numbers), but quoted values for hackney carriages have seen less reduction 
and their relative impact has shifted towards the hackney carriage a little. This 
may be the impact of mytaxi providing a more modern offer than has been in 
place for some years. The clear feeling is that there has been improvement in 
the hackney carriage offer since the last survey. 
 
 
It is encouraging that, despite the changes made in the interim period to its 
location and access, the Queen Street night rank seems to have resurged in 

76



 

 

50 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

its importance to the area. Overall, the current set of ranks complement each 
other, together with a trade willing to move around to meet relevant need at 
relevant ranks at the appropriate time. The current hackney carriage fleet is 
well utilised and highly active.  
 
Whilst our survey did identify some very poor experiences, including the worst 
two observed passenger waits of 20 and 26 minutes, overall the proportion of 
hours with a minute or more average passenger delay was low. However, a 
fifth of all hours actually saw a non-zero average passenger delay although 
countered again by an actual wait only being experienced by 6.5% of 
passengers.  
 
Despite the fact that the industry standard index of significance of unmet 
demand has worsened in most respects since 2015, the level of the significance 
remains at a fair level. Also, despite a supplementary fee being charged, the 
Station rank tends to see good levels of service with very few passenger waits 
arising there – but even with this good service usage has declined. 
 
Disability use of ranks has increased since the last survey, although the 
numbers involved remain small. Current ranks tend to be designed where 
possible to strongly discourage abuse by other vehicles. Peoples’ experience 
of hackney carriage trips is very good and the usual concern about price seems 
less dominant than in many other places and on this evidence we conclude 
that people seem to feel hackney carriages in Oxford are reasonable value for 
money. 
 
Although there are encouragements for the hackney carriage trade, there are 
other signs that remain of concern. One is that many people said nothing would 
encourage them to use hackney carriages or to increase their usage of them. 
Another was a significant drop in knowledge of where ranks were, despite the 
evidence to the contrary in the growth of usage of Queen Street. Issues 
regarding congestion were of concern to many. This included the police not 
wishing to see more hackney carriages as there were limited places they could 
wait for passengers, although the new ranks might be helpful in this regard. 
The issue of congestion reduced supply of hackney carriages at the most 
congested times.  
 
 
 
The resurgence of hackney carriages was demonstrated by an estimate that 
nearly half of people making bookings of licensed vehicles (by phone or app) 
were actually doing so with hackney carriages. Further, unlike in other areas, 

77



 

 

51 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

people seemed to think fares were reasonable value for money and were very 
willing to consider paying using card machines. 
 
The current climate encouraging a move by licensed vehicles to less polluting 
style vehicles introduces a further concern that this must not be allowed to 
reduce the number of vehicles that are available to the public. This could be a 
developing issue given that the target vehicle to be used to replace the 
hackney carriage would be the more expensive purpose built styles. 
 
Conclusions 
Both the police and the trade (including some private hire) tended to support 
retention of the current limit, and at its present level. The only concern is the 
movement of the components, and the index of significance of unmet demand 
itself, towards observed unmet demand being significant. However, the current 
level suggests the cut-off is unlikely to be breached before the next survey 
was undertaken in three years. 
 
There is no evidence that current unmet demand is significant in terms of 
Section 16 of the 1985 Transport Act. However, the shift of the components of 
the index, suggesting some impact of more people taking hackney carriages 
using the mytaxi app on rank-based performance measures, needs to be 
considered carefully in the next survey. 
 

  

78



 

 

52 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

79



 

 

53 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

9 Recommendations 
On the basis of the evidence gathered in this Unmet demand survey for Oxford 
City Council, our key conclusion is that there is no evidence of any unmet 
demand for the services of hackney carriages either patent or latent which is 
significant at this point in time in the Oxford City Council licensing area. The 
committee is therefore able to determine to continue its present policy of 
limiting hackney carriage vehicle numbers, and to retain the level of vehicles 
at the present number. 

Some way also needs to be found to encourage use of the new Westgate rank 
as well as the two new ranks being introduced. The continued development of 
usage of mytaxi needs to be monitored and understood in terms of its overall 
impact on vehicle availability to consumers. Use of card machines in vehicles 
also has a strong public support level. 
 
It may be prudent for the Council to consider providing various presentations 
of the current and new rank locations to the public, using internet and paper 
sources where possible.  
 

 

  

80



 

 

54 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

81



 

 

55 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Industry statistics 

      Oxford         
  

         
  

  Limit began at least 1990 
 

  

  
         

  
                       

hcv phv lv 
tota

l 

hcd phd dd tota
l d 

Ops % 
hcv 
WA
V 

% 
phv 
WA
V 

1989 99 84 183 350 12
0 

 
470 

 
100 

 

1994D 99 117 216 350 16
8 

 
518 

 
100 

 

1997D 99 150 249 315 21
5 

 
530 

 
100 

 

1999D 99 198 297 
 

25
1 

278 529 8 100 
 

2001D 99 248 347 
 

28
0 

248 528 7 100 
 

2004D 10
6 

278 384 
 

35
8 

292 650 9 100 
 

2005D 10
6 

308 414 
 

36
8 

294 662 9 100 
 

2007D 10
6 

350 456 
 

40
6 

317 723 10 100 
 

2009D 10
7 

443 550 
 

50
4 

319 823 17 100 
 

2010N 10
7 

520 627 
 

56
8 

326 894 19 100 0.4 

2011D 10
7 

524 631 
 

63
1 

333 964 20 100 0.3 

2012N 10
7 

556 663 
 

62
6 

331 956 22 100 0.2 

2013D 10
7 

569 676 
 

62
0 

328 948 24 100 0.2 

2014N 10
7 

583 690 
 

63
2 

330 962 27 100 0.2 

2015D 10
7 

697 804 
 

64
4 

331 975 30 100 4.3 

2017D 10
7 

585 692 
 

59
9 

324 923 32 100 0.7 

2018C 10
7 

579 686 
 

61
4 

297 911 33 100 1 

  

82



 

 

56 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

83



 

 

57 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 2 – List of ranks  

Rank / operating hours 
(council plan reference no.) 

Spaces Comments 

Well used ranks 
Gloucester Green (8) 12 Main council rank 

Queen Street, Carfax (6) 3 Operates from 18:30 to 08:00 only plus all 
day Sunday, had been closed and moved 
but now where was in last survey 

St Giles (9) 15 Original rank mainly used for parking by 
vehicles on break in day, but by passengers 
at night 

Very lightly used ranks 
Barns Road, Cowley (1) 4 Community Centre and Post Office this 

used to service now both gone. 
Between Towns Road, Cowley (2) 2 Introduced to prevent phv parking on 

footway without consultation with council 
or trade and has seen little usage. 

Cowley Road, (Manzil Way)(3) 2 Rarely used – health centre generates 
little traffic and route has 24/7 bus 
services 

Little if at all used rank locations 
The Plain (Cowley) (4) 3 Resurfaced but without lines on ground and 

with wrong times on signs – rarely used as 
night club it serviced closed. Correct hours 
are 2000-0600 every day 

High Street (5) 2 Moved to other side since last survey but 
current location unusable as blocks road 

Park End Street (7) 3  
London Road A (11A) 1 Near London Tube bus stop 
London Road B (11B) 1 For Oxford heading journeys 

Oakthorpe Rd n/a Gone 
Private rank location 

Oxford Train Station 15 Under agreement with rail operator 
Proposed new ranks 

New Road 2 24-hour 
Little Clarendon Street 3 1830 - 0800 

  

84



 

 

58 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

85



 

 

59 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Timetable of rank observations 

Please see separate document 

 

Appendix 4 – Detailed rank observation results 

Please see separate document 

 

Appendix 5 – Detailed on street interview results 

Please see separate document  

86



 

 

60 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

  

87



 

 

61 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Appendix 6 List of Stakeholders consulted 

Key consultee Response 
Supermarkets 

Sainsbury’s Westgate Y 
Waitrose, Botley Road N 
Sainsbury’s Heyford Hill N 
Templar’s Square Shopping Centre, Cowley N 
Co-op, Templar’s Square Cowley N 
Lidl, Wallington Road R 
Westgate Shopping Centre N 
  

Hotels 
Cotswold Lodge Hotel Y 
Old Parsonage Hotel N 
Vanbrugh House Hotel N 
Oxford Spires Four Pillars Hotel Y 
Heather House N 
Jury’s Inn Y 
Premier Inn Y 
Royal Oxford Hotel N 
  

Restaurants / Cafes 
Gee’s Restaurant Y 
Brown’s Y 
Bill’s Oxford Y 
Cote Brasserie N 
Nando’s Y 
  

Entertainment 
Oxford Playhouse N 
Kassam Stadium N 
The Ultimate Picture Palace N 
  

Public Houses 
The Plough Y 
The Perch Inn N 
The Old Bookbinders N 
Kings Arms Y 
The Jericho R 
Beerd N 
The Lighthouse N 
The Four Candles, George St Y 
The Crown Y 
The Varsity Club N 
Cape of Good Hope, The Plain R 
Half Moon, The Plain ® 
Be At One R 

88



 

 

62 Unmet demand survey 

 

 

Original Swan, Cowley N 
Templars Bar and Kitchen N 
Kiss Bar Y 
Susimanni Y 
The Oxford Retreat N 
  

Night Clubs 
The Bridge N 
Wahoo and the Glee Club (N) 
Lola Lo (N) 
Atik N 
Emporium Night Club and Bar N 
Plush Lounge R 
The Glee Club R 
Fever Night Club N 
The Bullingdon N 
  

Other key stakeholder groups 
John Radcliffe Hospital N 
Warneford Hospital N 
Police Y 
  

 

89



HCUDS Oxford LVSA

O
xf

o
rd

 S
ta

tio
n

 
(F

G
W

) 
(p

ri
va

te
)

S
t 

G
eo

rg
e'

s 
P

la
ce

Q
ue

en
 S

t 
C

a
rf

ax

S
t 

G
ile

s

P
ar

k 
E

nd
 S

t

O
ld

 G
re

yf
ri

ar
s 

S
tr

e
e

t

B
ar

ns
 R

o
a

d 
C

ow
le

y

T
he

 P
la

in

H
ig

h 
S

tr
e

e
t

B
et

w
ee

n 
T

ow
n

s 
R

o
ad

 C
o

w
le

y

C
o

w
le

y 
R

oa
d,

 
H

o
sp

ita
l

L
on

do
n 

R
d 

H
e

ad
in

g
to

n
 (

tw
o

 
lo

ca
tio

n
s)

H
o

ur
s

15 12 3 15 3 ?10 4 3 2 2 2 1+1

All All
1830-0800 + 

Sun
All 2300-0300 All hours All 2000-0600 All All All All

Well used
3529, 
30%

2557,21% 678, 6% Now growing New rank 24 23 9 Unused Unused Unused

Private
only used 
at night

Observe
No 

survey
No 

survey
No 

survey
No 

survey
No 

survey
No 

survey

Thursday 13:00 0
Thursday 14:00 1 1 1 2
Thursday 15:00 2 2 2 2
Thursday 16:00 3 3 3 2
Thursday 17:00 4 4 4 2
Thursday 18:00 5 5 1 5 3
Thursday 19:00 6 6 2 2
Thursday 20:00 7 7 3 1 3
Thursday 21:00 8 8 4 2 3
Thursday 22:00 9 9 5 3 3
Thursday 23:00 10 10 6 4 1 4
Thursday 00:00 11 11 7 5 2 4
Friday 01:00 12 12 8 6 3 4
Friday 02:00 13 13 9 7 4 4
Friday 03:00 14 14 10 8 5 4
Friday 04:00 15 15 11 9 6 4
Friday 05:00 16 16 12 7 3
Friday 06:00 17 17 13 8 3
Friday 07:00 18 18 14 9 3
Friday 08:00 19 19 1
Friday 09:00 20 20 1
Friday 10:00 21 21 6 2
Friday 11:00 22 22 7 2
Friday 12:00 23 23 8 2
Friday 13:00 24 24 9 2
Friday 14:00 25 25 10 2
Friday 15:00 26 26 11 2
Friday 16:00 27 27 12 2
Friday 17:00 28 28 13 2
Friday 18:00 29 29 15 14 3
Friday 19:00 30 30 16 15 3
Friday 20:00 31 31 17 10 3
Friday 21:00 32 32 18 11 3
Friday 22:00 33 33 19 12 3
Friday 23:00 34 34 20 13 10 4
Friday 00:00 35 35 21 14 11 4
Saturday 01:00 36 36 22 15 12 4
Saturday 02:00 37 37 23 16 13 4
Saturday 03:00 38 38 24 17 14 4
Saturday 04:00 39 39 25 18 15 4
Saturday 05:00 40 40 26 16 3
Saturday 06:00 41 41 27 17 3
Saturday 07:00 42 42 28 18 3
Saturday 08:00 43 43 1
Saturday 09:00 44 44 1
Saturday 10:00 45 45 16 2
Saturday 11:00 46 46 17 2
Saturday 12:00 47 47 18 2
Saturday 13:00 48 48 19 2
Saturday 14:00 49 49 20 2
Saturday 15:00 50 50 21 2
Saturday 16:00 51 51 22 2
Saturday 17:00 52 52 23 2
Saturday 18:00 53 53 29 24 3
Saturday 19:00 54 54 30 25 3
Saturday 20:00 55 55 31 19 3
Saturday 21:00 56 56 32 20 3
Saturday 22:00 57 57 33 21 3
Saturday 23:00 58 58 34 22 19 4
Saturday 00:00 59 59 35 23 20 4
Sunday 01:00 60 60 36 24 21 4
Sunday 02:00 61 61 37 25 22 4
Sunday 03:00 62 62 38 26 23 4
Sunday 04:00 63 63 39 27 24 4
Sunday 05:00 64 64 40 25 3
Sunday 06:00 65 65 41 26 3
Sunday 07:00 66 66 42 27 3
Sunday 08:00 67 67 43 2
Sunday 09:00 68 68 44 2
Sunday 10:00 69 69 45 2
Sunday 11:00 70 70 46 2
Sunday 12:00 71 71 47 2
Sunday 13:00 72 72 48 2
Sunday 14:00 73 73 49 2
Sunday 15:00 74 74 50 2
Sunday 16:00 75 75 51 2
Sunday 17:00 76 76 52 2
Sunday 18:00 77 77 1
Sunday 19:00 78 78 1
Sunday 20:00 79 79 1
Sunday 21:00 0

24
38
32
81
35

210
210

79 79 52 27 27 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 210
0 0 0 0 0 0 0

210

Total hours at site

Rank Spaces

Operating Hours

Usage?

Other comments

Week day
Week night

TOTAL

Weekend day
Weekend night

Inter periods

Sample details:

90



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Station priv 15/11/18 14 43 44 40 1.1 0 0% 40 00:03:25 00:03:25 00:11:02 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 15 35 34 31 1.1 1 3% 32 00:10:11 00:10:18 00:13:14 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 16 40 45 41 1.1 0 0% 41 00:03:29 00:03:29 00:17:11 00:00:08 00:02:04 3 0 0 00:02:53
Station priv 15/11/18 17 43 51 48 1.1 0 0% 48 00:10:10 00:10:10 00:21:57 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 18 59 54 51 1.1 2 4% 53 00:07:12 00:06:58 00:18:54 00:00:01 00:01:40 1 0 0 00:01:40
Station priv 15/11/18 19 59 46 43 1.1 0 0% 43 00:24:08 00:24:08 00:43:38 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 20 38 42 42 1 0 0% 42 00:24:14 00:23:31 00:32:49 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 21 22 28 28 1 2 7% 30 00:33:46 00:33:46 00:46:59 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 22 34 33 30 1.1 0 0% 30 00:17:22 00:17:22 00:30:29 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 23 52 60 51 1.2 0 0% 51 00:09:17 00:09:17 00:24:13 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 0 40 47 44 1.1 1 2% 45 00:19:42 00:19:21 00:47:06 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 1 6 14 12 1.2 4 25% 16 00:22:01 00:25:07 00:33:58 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 2 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 3 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 4 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 5 3 0 0 2 100% 2 00:28:48
Station priv 16/11/18 6 6 4 4 1 1 20% 5 00:11:46 00:11:46 00:19:34 0 0 0
Station priv 15/11/18 480 502 465 1.1 13 3% 478

91



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for 

a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e 

(for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e in H
our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e, those w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 

m
ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-

10 m
ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or 
m

ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Station priv 16/11/18 7 20 15 15 1 2 12% 17 00:15:18 00:15:25 00:22:50 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 8 43 49 44 1.1 2 4% 46 00:08:10 00:07:51 00:24:44 00:00:03 00:02:57 1 0 0 00:02:57
Station priv 16/11/18 9 80 80 69 1.2 0 0% 69 00:08:00 00:08:00 00:25:46 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 10 49 66 54 1.2 2 4% 56 00:14:22 00:13:48 00:29:51 00:00:07 00:04:14 2 0 0 00:04:14
Station priv 16/11/18 11 53 64 55 1.2 0 0% 55 00:05:36 00:05:36 00:12:15 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 12 40 62 44 1.4 0 0% 44 00:03:21 00:03:21 00:11:48 00:00:05 00:02:41 2 0 0 00:04:08
Station priv 16/11/18 13 47 49 42 1.2 0 0% 42 00:05:12 00:05:12 00:18:29 00:00:01 00:01:01 1 0 0 00:01:01
Station priv 16/11/18 14 46 55 44 1.2 0 0% 44 00:12:38 00:12:38 00:18:11 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 15 41 55 48 1.1 0 0% 48 00:12:23 00:12:23 00:20:57 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 16 44 52 43 1.2 1 2% 44 00:04:11 00:04:01 00:12:46 00:00:08 00:02:34 3 0 0 00:04:22
Station priv 16/11/18 17 57 66 57 1.2 0 0% 57 00:02:08 00:02:08 00:08:18 00:00:07 00:01:57 4 0 0 00:04:21
Station priv 16/11/18 18 70 67 63 1.1 0 0% 63 00:02:25 00:02:25 00:07:32 00:00:33 00:02:37 14 0 0 00:05:26
Station priv 16/11/18 19 78 87 82 1.1 0 0% 82 00:01:12 00:01:12 00:04:25 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 20 70 68 60 1.1 1 2% 61 00:10:01 00:10:02 00:21:30 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 21 40 48 42 1.1 1 2% 43 00:12:01 00:12:16 00:21:39 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 22 22 31 25 1.2 4 14% 29 00:17:40 00:16:57 00:29:06 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 23 34 42 33 1.3 1 3% 34 00:11:57 00:11:58 00:25:30 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 0 35 44 33 1.3 1 3% 34 00:07:36 00:07:28 00:19:13 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 1 19 14 12 1.2 10 45% 22 00:09:28 00:11:07 00:15:36 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 2 4 3 2 1.5 2 50% 4 00:02:32 00:00:35 00:00:43 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 3 4 2 1 2 2 67% 3 00:09:26 00:16:05 00:30:31 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 4 0 6 1 6 0 0% 1 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 5 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 6 3 1 1 1 1 50% 2 00:06:57 00:06:15 00:11:07 0 0 0
Station priv 16/11/18 899 1026 870 1.2 30 3% 900

92



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for 

a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e 

(for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e in H
our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e, those w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 

m
ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-

10 m
ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or 
m

ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait 
tim

e

Station priv 17/11/18 7 7 3 3 1 1 25% 4 00:43:50 00:49:02 01:00:19 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 8 21 15 12 1.2 0 0% 12 00:29:02 00:29:02 00:45:59 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 9 29 44 39 1.1 0 0% 39 00:16:36 00:16:36 00:31:43 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 10 46 50 38 1.3 0 0% 38 00:14:33 00:14:16 00:28:28 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 11 34 54 39 1.4 1 2% 40 00:18:52 00:18:52 00:31:45 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 12 35 40 34 1.2 0 0% 34 00:12:44 00:12:44 00:20:21 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 13 39 57 45 1.3 0 0% 45 00:04:11 00:04:11 00:11:16 00:00:59 00:04:06 10 4 0 00:08:28
Station priv 17/11/18 14 28 37 28 1.3 0 0% 28 00:03:05 00:03:05 00:09:49 00:00:05 00:01:35 2 0 0 00:02:00
Station priv 17/11/18 15 43 51 42 1.2 0 0% 42 00:02:28 00:02:28 00:05:48 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 16 34 50 35 1.4 0 0% 35 00:03:27 00:03:27 00:09:28 00:00:05 00:01:12 4 0 0 00:01:16
Station priv 17/11/18 17 40 50 40 1.2 0 0% 40 00:03:14 00:03:14 00:06:23 00:00:15 00:03:19 4 0 0 00:04:17
Station priv 17/11/18 18 50 64 48 1.3 1 2% 49 00:04:21 00:04:22 00:10:39 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 19 71 87 66 1.3 0 0% 66 00:04:01 00:03:50 00:15:29 00:01:11 1 0 0 00:01:11
Station priv 17/11/18 20 46 53 44 1.2 2 4% 46 00:13:49 00:13:54 00:23:38 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 21 43 48 40 1.2 2 5% 42 00:12:27 00:12:15 00:19:10 0 0 0
Station priv 17/11/18 22 26 51 31 1.6 0 0% 31 00:06:59 00:06:59 00:16:19 00:00:12 00:02:10 5 0 0 00:02:43
Station priv 17/11/18 23 29 28 20 1.4 6 23% 26 00:07:54 00:08:06 00:23:02 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 0 26 28 24 1.2 4 14% 28 00:06:48 00:07:13 00:20:38 00:00:05 00:02:44 1 0 0 00:02:44
Station priv 18/11/18 1 26 24 24 1 5 17% 29 00:01:24 00:01:19 00:05:39 00:02:26 00:04:40 11 0 1 00:26:29
Station priv 18/11/18 2 1 1 1 1 0 0% 1 00:01:12 00:01:12 00:01:12
Station priv 18/11/18 3 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 4 1 0 0 1 100% 1 00:00:26
Station priv 18/11/18 5 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 6 3 0 0 2 100% 2 00:06:45
Station priv 17/11/18 678 835 653 1.3 25 4% 678

93



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Station priv 18/11/18 7 3 1 1 1 1 50% 2 01:03:16 00:56:24 01:15:37 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 8 4 2 2 1 1 33% 3 01:07:13 00:58:13 01:08:37 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 9 17 12 12 1 2 14% 14 00:27:03 00:27:03 00:52:39 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 10 23 13 13 1 0 0% 13 00:57:34 00:57:34 01:12:29 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 11 19 27 23 1.2 0 0% 23 00:31:43 00:31:43 00:40:23 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 12 26 37 37 1 0 0% 37 00:18:40 00:18:40 00:31:55 00:00:15 00:02:34 4 0 0 00:02:53
Station priv 18/11/18 13 36 36 32 1.1 1 3% 33 00:11:56 00:12:00 00:27:49 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 14 29 34 32 1.1 0 0% 32 00:18:05 00:18:05 00:28:05 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 15 44 41 38 1.1 0 0% 38 00:09:38 00:09:38 00:16:18 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 16 43 51 43 1.2 0 0% 43 00:13:55 00:13:55 00:26:20 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 17 53 58 52 1.1 0 0% 52 00:15:26 00:15:26 00:25:47 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 18 59 77 64 1.2 1 2% 65 00:17:01 00:16:54 00:26:19 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 19 57 56 54 1 0 0% 54 00:16:14 00:16:14 00:35:34 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 20 76 88 81 1.1 0 0% 81 00:07:42 00:07:42 00:22:16 0 0 0
Station priv 18/11/18 489 533 484 1.1 6 1% 490

94



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Glos Green 15/11/18 14 16 18 12 1.5 1 8% 13 00:20:11 00:19:42 00:31:20 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 15 15 12 10 1.2 0 0% 10 00:29:11 00:29:11 00:46:38 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 16 8 23 14 1.6 0 0% 14 00:25:55 00:25:55 00:37:12 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 17 12 17 9 1.9 1 10% 10 00:14:12 00:14:36 00:19:12 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 18 13 24 14 1.7 1 7% 15 00:06:38 00:07:09 00:10:48 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 19 22 30 16 1.9 0 0% 16 00:21:45 00:20:31 00:48:58 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 20 11 21 15 1.4 2 12% 17 00:06:44 00:05:49 00:09:58 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 21 20 35 18 1.9 1 5% 19 00:09:26 00:09:19 00:18:42 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 22 20 27 18 1.5 1 5% 19 00:10:41 00:10:34 00:17:40 0 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 23 15 17 13 1.3 0 0% 13 00:13:45 00:13:45 00:29:28 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 0 14 23 17 1.4 0 0% 17 00:20:30 00:19:53 00:30:38 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 1 10 17 11 1.5 1 8% 12 00:04:28 00:04:28 00:10:41 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 2 12 19 11 1.7 1 8% 12 00:12:57 00:13:11 00:29:19 00:00:29 00:03:04 3 0 0 00:04:05
Glos Green 16/11/18 3 12 12 8 1.5 3 27% 11 00:13:18 00:12:58 01:03:50 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 4 1 1 1 1 0 0% 1 00:53:34 00:53:34 00:53:34 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 5 1 3 2 1.5 1 33% 3 00:17:33 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 6 0 0
Glos Green 15/11/18 202 299 189 1.6 13 202

95



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a 

fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for 

a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e in H
our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e, those w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 

m
ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 

m
ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or 
m

ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Glos Green 16/11/18 7 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 8 4 4 4 1 0 0% 4 00:07:32 00:07:32 00:23:46 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 9 8 8 7 1.1 1 12% 8 00:03:56 00:03:47 00:09:46 00:00:33 00:04:25 1 0 0 00:04:25
Glos Green 16/11/18 10 11 14 8 1.8 0 0% 8 00:19:44 00:19:44 00:38:21 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 11 4 5 4 1.2 1 20% 5 00:20:44 00:14:17 00:20:48 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 12 8 12 9 1.3 1 10% 10 00:05:16 00:05:26 00:10:36 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 13 8 12 6 2 2 25% 8 00:13:13 00:15:15 00:25:16 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 14 13 10 7 1.4 0 0% 7 00:21:29 00:21:29 00:35:32 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 15 9 9 8 1.1 2 20% 10 00:31:01 00:30:15 00:37:37 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 16 12 19 15 1.3 1 6% 16 00:15:53 00:15:53 00:21:45 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 17 13 20 11 1.8 2 15% 13 00:06:45 00:07:06 00:18:56 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 18 18 23 14 1.6 2 12% 16 00:04:02 00:04:10 00:10:45 00:00:17 00:01:45 4 0 0 00:01:57
Glos Green 16/11/18 19 16 32 19 1.7 0 0% 19 00:05:44 00:05:44 00:11:10 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 20 33 44 28 1.6 0 0% 28 00:10:49 00:10:49 00:28:36 0 0 0
Glos Green 16/11/18 21 14 39 18 2.2 1 5% 19 00:14:55 00:14:07 00:27:41 00:00:26 00:02:52 6 0 0 00:03:35
Glos Green 16/11/18 22 31 45 26 1.7 1 4% 27 00:03:56 00:03:49 00:11:14 00:00:26 00:02:49 7 0 0 00:04:05
Glos Green 16/11/18 23 30 51 28 1.8 2 7% 30 00:04:39 00:04:44 00:11:32 00:00:02 00:02:13 1 0 0 00:02:13
Glos Green 17/11/18 0 36 55 34 1.6 2 6% 36 00:06:48 00:06:58 00:22:59 00:00:01 00:01:00 1 0 0 00:01:00
Glos Green 17/11/18 1 16 26 14 1.9 1 7% 15 00:13:13 00:12:27 00:20:38 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 2 16 22 12 1.8 2 14% 14 00:19:38 00:20:35 00:30:44 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 3 12 28 13 2.2 3 19% 16 00:12:22 00:13:08 00:22:22 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 4 4 14 4 3.5 3 43% 7 00:11:14 00:20:44 00:20:44 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 5 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 6 1 0 0 1 100% 1 00:06:34
Glos Green 16/11/18 317 492 289 1.7 28 9% 317

96



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for 

a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e 

(for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e in H
our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting 
Tim

e, those w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 

m
ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-

10 m
ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or 
m

ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait 
tim

e

Glos Green 17/11/18 7 2 2 2 1 0 0% 2 00:07:48 00:07:48 00:14:11 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 8 5 6 5 1.2 0 0% 5 00:11:36 00:11:36 00:18:34 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 9 8 7 6 1.2 0 0% 6 00:07:13 00:07:13 00:22:13 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 10 2 4 3 1.3 1 25% 4 00:18:44 00:18:42 00:18:42 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 11 10 5 4 1.2 3 43% 7 00:20:39 00:19:52 00:33:25 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 12 10 16 11 1.5 1 8% 12 00:07:27 00:07:46 00:24:24 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 13 6 14 5 2.8 0 0% 5 00:14:27 00:14:27 00:24:05 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 14 8 22 10 2.2 0 0% 10 00:07:27 00:07:27 00:15:05 00:00:39 00:02:25 6 0 0 00:02:31
Glos Green 17/11/18 15 19 24 17 1.4 1 6% 18 00:03:41 00:03:44 00:11:05 00:00:52 00:07:01 1 2 0 00:08:23
Glos Green 17/11/18 16 17 29 17 1.7 1 6% 18 00:05:00 00:05:12 00:08:52 00:00:04 00:01:08 2 0 0 00:01:08
Glos Green 17/11/18 17 16 22 15 1.5 1 6% 16 00:01:54 00:01:53 00:05:09 00:00:22 00:02:03 4 0 0 00:03:13
Glos Green 17/11/18 18 15 26 14 1.9 1 7% 15 00:13:14 00:13:21 00:27:33 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 19 28 47 27 1.7 0 0% 27 00:04:59 00:04:57 00:11:13 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 20 25 35 20 1.8 2 9% 22 00:10:27 00:10:30 00:15:16 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 21 22 44 25 1.8 0 0% 25 00:08:03 00:08:03 00:15:41 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 22 24 53 24 2.2 0 0% 24 00:04:02 00:04:02 00:12:25 00:01:47 00:06:07 11 2 4 00:15:22
Glos Green 17/11/18 23 36 56 32 1.8 1 3% 33 00:04:10 00:04:04 00:11:52 00:00:40 00:03:05 9 2 0 00:06:08
Glos Green 18/11/18 0 27 52 29 1.8 1 3% 30 00:06:02 00:06:01 00:10:58 00:00:06 00:01:53 3 0 0 00:03:21
Glos Green 18/11/18 1 35 55 31 1.8 1 3% 32 00:04:22 00:04:08 00:11:05 00:00:09 00:01:47 5 0 0 00:02:11
Glos Green 18/11/18 2 36 75 35 2.1 2 5% 37 00:02:58 00:02:58 00:07:02 00:00:11 00:04:51 2 1 0 00:06:28
Glos Green 18/11/18 3 31 70 29 2.4 4 12% 33 00:02:32 00:02:33 00:05:21 00:00:44 00:03:41 10 5 0 00:06:04
Glos Green 18/11/18 4 18 35 16 2.2 2 11% 18 00:03:30 00:03:26 00:12:34 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 5 3 6 2 3 2 50% 4 00:01:18 00:01:25 00:01:25 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 6 2 0 00:21:04 00:21:37 00:21:37 0 0 0
Glos Green 17/11/18 405 705 379 1.9 24 6% 403

97



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Glos Green 18/11/18 7 4 3 3 1 1 25% 4 00:27:55 00:27:55 00:39:47 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 8 8 8 7 1.1 0 0% 7 00:32:18 00:32:18 00:43:30 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 9 7 7 6 1.2 0 0% 6 00:39:52 00:40:50 00:45:47 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 10 8 11 8 1.4 1 11% 9 00:19:35 00:19:35 00:27:59 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 11 11 10 8 1.2 0 0% 8 00:42:20 00:42:20 00:58:23 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 12 7 15 8 1.9 0 0% 8 00:41:09 00:41:09 00:50:11 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 13 10 21 11 1.9 0 0% 11 00:25:18 00:25:18 00:35:51 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 14 10 20 9 2.2 0 0% 9 00:20:19 00:20:19 00:34:48 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 15 13 20 14 1.4 0 0% 14 00:25:30 00:25:30 00:33:51 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 16 10 22 10 2.2 0 0% 10 00:22:58 00:22:58 00:28:59 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 17 14 17 14 1.2 0 0% 14 00:20:16 00:20:58 00:29:24 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 18 11 19 13 1.5 1 7% 14 00:21:33 00:21:33 00:35:37 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 19 14 15 10 1.5 0 0% 10 00:16:05 00:16:26 00:31:26 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 20 11 20 14 1.4 2 12% 16 00:26:44 00:27:33 00:40:31 0 0 0
Glos Green 18/11/18 138 208 135 1.5 5 4% 140

98



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Carfax 15/11/18 18 8 9 6 1.5 0 0% 6 00:03:42 00:03:27 00:11:15 0 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 19 16 17 14 1.2 2 12% 16 00:09:05 00:09:11 00:26:40 0 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 20 20 30 17 1.8 1 6% 18 00:16:37 00:17:08 00:33:22 0 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 21 20 25 19 1.3 0 0% 19 00:16:12 00:16:12 00:26:06 0 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 22 28 51 30 1.7 0 0% 30 00:06:48 00:06:48 00:17:19 0 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 23 38 66 36 1.8 0 0% 36 00:05:51 00:05:51 00:15:37 00:00:01 00:01:03 2 0 0 00:01:03
Carfax 16/11/18 0 38 61 36 1.7 0 0% 36 00:07:20 00:07:20 00:16:24 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 1 46 119 48 2.5 0 0% 48 00:04:31 00:04:31 00:13:22 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 2 54 125 54 2.3 0 0% 54 00:03:05 00:03:05 00:07:47 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 3 44 116 42 2.8 1 2% 43 00:09:25 00:07:09 00:42:32 00:00:01 00:01:06 3 0 0 00:01:06
Carfax 16/11/18 4 0 3 3 1 2 40% 5 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 5 0 0 0 1 100% 1
Carfax 16/11/18 6 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 7 0 0
Carfax 15/11/18 312 622 305 2 7 2% 312

99



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Carfax 16/11/18 18 1 1 1 1 0 0% 1 00:02:12 00:02:12 00:02:12 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 19 4 3 3 1 0 0% 3 00:02:58 00:02:58 00:06:06 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 20 24 35 22 1.6 1 4% 23 00:02:44 00:02:47 00:06:14 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 21 37 61 35 1.7 0 0% 35 00:04:57 00:04:57 00:10:13 0 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 22 50 107 53 2 0 0% 53 00:03:45 00:03:45 00:10:06 00:00:06 00:03:01 4 0 0 00:03:01
Carfax 16/11/18 23 69 138 64 2.2 0 0% 64 00:03:34 00:03:34 00:11:35 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 0 62 118 65 1.8 0 0% 65 00:03:09 00:03:09 00:08:57 00:00:01 00:01:04 2 0 0 00:01:04
Carfax 17/11/18 1 75 127 72 1.8 0 0% 72 00:03:25 00:03:25 00:11:06 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 2 75 184 80 2.3 0 0% 80 00:03:27 00:03:27 00:06:53 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 3 65 161 59 2.7 0 0% 59 00:02:47 00:02:43 00:14:31 00:00:49 00:03:38 28 5 4 00:11:43
Carfax 17/11/18 4 19 42 22 1.9 1 4% 23 00:11:31 00:11:31 00:25:49 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 5 2 4 4 1 1 20% 5 00:09:50 00:05:00 00:05:00 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 6 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 7 0 0
Carfax 16/11/18 483 981 480 2 3 1% 483

100



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Carfax 17/11/18 18 4 5 3 1.7 0 0% 3 00:04:32 00:04:32 00:06:58 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 19 17 36 15 2.4 0 0% 15 00:05:14 00:05:14 00:16:13 00:00:03 00:01:03 2 0 0 00:01:03
Carfax 17/11/18 20 36 73 33 2.2 0 0% 33 00:07:15 00:07:15 00:13:56 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 21 32 81 38 2.1 0 0% 38 00:06:05 00:06:05 00:15:05 00:00:44 00:07:17 2 7 0 00:10:03
Carfax 17/11/18 22 33 69 32 2.2 0 0% 32 00:01:22 00:01:22 00:03:09 00:00:01 00:01:01 2 0 0 00:01:01
Carfax 17/11/18 23 38 77 38 2 0 0% 38 00:01:32 00:01:32 00:04:25 00:01:06 00:02:44 32 0 0 00:04:21
Carfax 18/11/18 0 76 157 72 2.2 1 1% 73 00:01:15 00:01:15 00:03:00 00:01:07 00:03:17 54 0 0 00:05:37
Carfax 18/11/18 1 64 130 62 2.1 1 2% 63 00:01:14 00:01:14 00:03:16 00:02:03 00:03:56 54 12 0 00:08:44
Carfax 18/11/18 2 55 130 59 2.2 0 0% 59 00:01:50 00:01:50 00:05:22 00:01:01 00:03:03 43 1 1 00:14:46
Carfax 18/11/18 3 34 59 28 2.1 3 10% 31 00:01:46 00:01:51 00:05:59 00:04:52 00:08:23 10 10 12 00:20:06
Carfax 18/11/18 4 33 56 31 1.8 2 6% 33 00:08:10 00:07:39 00:21:41 0 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 5 3 7 6 1.2 1 14% 7 00:22:44 00:22:44 00:28:11 0 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 6 2 1 1 1 1 50% 2 00:04:38 00:06:24 00:06:24 0 0 0
Carfax 17/11/18 427 881 418 2.1 9 2% 427

101



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Carfax 18/11/18 7 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 8 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 9 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 10 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 11 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 12 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 13 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 14 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 15 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 16 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 17 0 0
Carfax 18/11/18 0 0 0 nan 0 nan% 0

102



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

St Giles 15/11/18 20 2 0 0 2 100% 2 00:14:16
St Giles 15/11/18 21 1 0 00:15:55 00:15:55 00:15:55
St Giles 15/11/18 22 4 6 3 2 2 40% 5 00:05:08 00:03:39 00:03:56 0 0 0
St Giles 15/11/18 23 9 8 5 1.6 3 38% 8 00:02:52 00:02:56 00:07:30 00:01:11 00:04:47 2 0 0 00:04:47
St Giles 16/11/18 0 7 13 5 2.6 3 38% 8 00:07:00 00:08:08 00:12:11 0 0 0
St Giles 16/11/18 1 1 0 0 1 100% 1 00:33:02
St Giles 16/11/18 2 3 4 2 2 1 33% 3 00:01:19 00:01:50 00:02:54 0 0 0
St Giles 16/11/18 3 4 4 3 1.3 1 25% 4 00:00:36 00:00:31 00:00:38 00:02:00 00:02:41 3 0 0 00:03:14
St Giles 16/11/18 4 0 0
St Giles 15/11/18 31 35 18 1.9 13 42% 31

103



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

St Giles 16/11/18 20 2 2 1 2 0 0% 1 00:04:40 00:04:40 00:05:50 0 0 0
St Giles 16/11/18 21 7 14 7 2 1 12% 8 00:06:44 00:06:40 00:19:29 00:00:06 00:01:24 1 0 0 00:01:24
St Giles 16/11/18 22 15 27 11 2.5 2 15% 13 00:04:05 00:04:38 00:20:45 00:00:22 00:01:39 6 0 0 00:01:43
St Giles 16/11/18 23 19 31 16 1.9 2 11% 18 00:07:10 00:06:10 00:22:06 00:00:14 00:01:55 4 0 0 00:01:55
St Giles 17/11/18 0 8 12 8 1.5 1 11% 9 00:17:38 00:17:38 00:34:11 0 0 0
St Giles 17/11/18 1 12 13 9 1.4 2 18% 11 00:12:55 00:10:42 00:23:31 0 0 0
St Giles 17/11/18 2 8 5 4 1.2 4 50% 8 00:16:49 00:13:06 00:21:47 0 0 0
St Giles 17/11/18 3 10 14 9 1.6 4 31% 13 00:03:22 00:04:13 00:10:55 00:00:32 00:03:16 2 0 0 00:03:16
St Giles 17/11/18 4 2 2 1 2 1 50% 2 00:04:14 00:05:37 00:05:37 0 0 0
St Giles 16/11/18 83 120 66 1.8 17 21% 83

104



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

St Giles 17/11/18 20 2 1 1 1 0 0% 1 00:19:17 00:19:17 00:38:05 00:02:40 00:02:40 1 0 0 00:02:40
St Giles 17/11/18 21 2 5 2 2.5 1 33% 3 00:25:54 00:23:07 00:23:07 0 0 0
St Giles 17/11/18 22 13 24 12 2 0 0% 12 00:07:08 00:07:08 00:22:20 00:00:13 00:01:48 3 0 0 00:01:48
St Giles 17/11/18 23 22 30 16 1.9 4 20% 20 00:06:49 00:07:41 00:42:46 00:00:21 00:01:30 7 0 0 00:02:05
St Giles 18/11/18 0 12 32 13 2.5 1 7% 14 00:05:08 00:04:50 00:13:24 0 0 0
St Giles 18/11/18 1 9 12 6 2 1 14% 7 00:23:30 00:21:38 00:40:40 0 0 0
St Giles 18/11/18 2 17 33 16 2.1 1 6% 17 00:11:32 00:12:06 00:27:18 0 0 0
St Giles 18/11/18 3 20 39 17 2.3 3 15% 20 00:06:19 00:06:30 00:14:33 00:00:05 00:01:10 3 0 0 00:01:10
St Giles 18/11/18 4 2 3 1 3 4 80% 5 00:14:03 0 0 0
St Giles 17/11/18 99 179 84 2.1 15 15% 99

105



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Park End St 15/11/18 23 3 5 2 2.5 1 33% 3 00:01:59 00:01:05 00:01:29 0 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 0 16 19 14 1.4 0 0% 14 00:01:59 00:01:59 00:07:25 0 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 1 41 49 39 1.3 2 5% 41 00:01:48 00:01:47 00:03:56 0 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 2 29 41 29 1.4 1 3% 30 00:03:09 00:03:09 00:09:26 0 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 3 3 6 4 1.5 0 0% 4 00:06:00 00:06:00 00:07:43 0 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 4 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 5 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 6 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 7 0 0
Park End St 15/11/18 92 120 88 1.4 4 4% 92

106



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Park End St 16/11/18 23 2 2 2 1 0 0% 2 00:03:36 00:03:36 00:03:53 0 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 0 4 2 2 1 1 33% 3 00:05:22 00:02:48 00:04:35 0 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 1 11 8 8 1 2 20% 10 00:10:13 00:10:18 00:17:55 0 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 2 15 13 13 1 4 24% 17 00:06:03 00:06:39 00:11:21 0 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 3 4 5 4 1.2 0 0% 4 00:00:30 00:00:30 00:00:37 0 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 4 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 5 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 6 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 7 0 0
Park End St 16/11/18 36 30 29 1 7 19% 36

107



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Park End St 17/11/18 23 4 6 4 1.5 0 0% 4 00:01:05 00:01:05 00:01:21 0 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 0 6 3 3 1 2 40% 5 00:02:56 00:03:40 00:09:36 0 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 1 13 14 12 1.2 2 14% 14 00:03:47 00:03:26 00:11:15 0 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 2 11 13 11 1.2 0 0% 11 00:02:09 00:02:09 00:04:30 00:00:29 00:06:29 0 1 0 00:06:29
Park End St 18/11/18 3 1 4 1 4 0 0% 1 00:00:41 00:00:41 00:00:41 0 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 4 2 7 2 3.5 0 0% 2 00:00:44 00:00:44 00:01:02 0 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 5 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 6 0 0
Park End St 18/11/18 7 0 0
Park End St 17/11/18 37 47 33 1.4 4 11% 37

108



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Old Greyf St 16/11/18 10 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 11 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 12 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 13 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 14 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 15 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 16 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 17 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 18 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 19 0 0
Old Greyf St 16/11/18 0 0 0 0 0 0% 0

109



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

Old Greyf St 17/11/18 10 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 11 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 12 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 13 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 14 1 1 1 1 0 0% 1 00:00:41 00:00:41 00:00:41 0 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 15 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 16 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 17 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 18 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 19 0 0
Old Greyf St 17/11/18 1 1 1 1 0 0% 1

110



Location Date

H
our

N
o of Vehicle A

rrivals

Total Passenger D
epartures

Loaded Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage vehicle occupancy

Em
pty Vehicle D

epartures

%
 of vehicles leaving em

pty

Total Vehicle D
epartures

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e

A
verage Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

M
axim

um
 Vehicle W

aiting Tim
e (for a fare)

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e in H

our

A
verage Passenger W

aiting Tim
e, those 

w
aiting only

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 1-5 m

ins

N
um

ber of people w
aiting 6-10 m

ins

N
um

ber w
aiting 11 m

ins or m
ore

M
axim

um
 passenger w

ait tim
e

All All 284 5209 7616 4986 1.5 223 4% 5209 0:00:14

111



56 28%
144 72%
200 100%

1 1%
11 7%
4 2%

22 13%
10 6%
40 24%
76 46%

164 100%

20

4

2

1

1

32 24%
8 6%

63 47%
9 7%

21 16%
0 0%

133 100%

30 29%
28 27%
18 17%
14 13%
8 8%
4 4%
2 2%
1 1%

105 100%

22 85%
4 15%

26 100%

Q1: Have you used a taxi in the last 3 months in the Oxford area? OXFORD
Yes
No
Total

Q2: How often do you use a taxi within this area? OXFORD

ONCE OR TWICE YEARLY
NEVER

Q3: How do you normally book a taxi within this area? OXFORD
At a Taxi rank
Hail in the street
Telephone a company
Use a Freephone

3 OR MORE TIMES WEEKLY
ONCE OR TWICE WEEKLY
LESS THAN  1 WEEKLY, MORE THAN 2 MONTHLY
ONCE OR TWICE MONTHLY
LESS THAN 1 MONTHLY, MORE THAN 2 YEARLY

Total

3 or more  times a week

once or twice a week

less than 1/week, but more than 2/month

once or twice a month

less than 1/month, but more than 2/year

0.6Resulting estimate of trips per person per month

A1 CARS

ABC RADIO

JET CARS
MY TAXI

OXFORD BLUE

ROYAL CARS

Use my mobile or smart phone
Other - ONLINE
Total

Q4: If you book a taxi by phone, which 3 companies do you call most often? OXFORD
001 TAXIS

COURTESY CARS

OXFORD

Total

Q5: If you used an app or website, which one did you use?
MY TAXI
UBER
Total

112



41 52%
30 38%
8 10%

79 100%

5 83%
1 17%
6 100%

1 1%
0 0%
1 1%

17 15%
3 3%

17 15%
74 63%
4 3%

117 100%

20

4

2

1

1

37 62%
21 35%
1 2%
1 2%

60 100%

0 0%
0 0%
1 2%

19 44%
23 53%
43 100%

OXFORD
3 OR MORE TIMES WEEKLY

OXFORD

NO INTERNET

Total

Q6b: If you indicated 'NOT SURE' to Q6a, please tell us why? OXFORD

Total

Q7. How often do you use a hackney carriage in the Oxford City Council area?

I WOULD NEVER USE ONE
I REGULARLY USE THEM
NOT SURE

Q6a: How would you feel about using an app to get a taxi?

UNUSED TO APPS

OXFORD

CINEMA
GEORGE STREET

GLOUCESTER GREEN
TRAIN STATION

ONCE OR TWICE WEEKLY
LESS THAN  1 WEEKLY, MORE THAN 2 MONTHLY

LESS THAN 1 MONTHLY, MORE THAN 2 YEARLY

I can't remember seeing a hackney carriage in the area
Total

3 or more  times a week

once or twice a week

less than 1/week, but more than 2/month

once or twice a month

less than 1/month, but more than 2/year

Resulting estimate of trips per person per month, hcv 0.3

Good
Very Good
Total

Q8. Which ranks are you aware of within the Oxford City area?

Total

Q9. Where in the Oxford City area would you like to see a rank? OXFORD

Total

Q10a. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the standard of 
Vehicle Cleanliness? OXFORD

Very Poor
Poor
Average

NO RESPONSES GIVEN

ONCE OR TWICE YEARLY

ONCE OR TWICE MONTHLY

I can't remember when I last used a hackney carriage

113



0 0%
0 0%
1 2%

19 44%
23 53%
43 100%

0 0%
0 0%
2 5%

17 40%
24 56%
43 100%

0 0%
0 0%
1 2%

18 42%
24 56%
43 100%

0 0%
1 2%
1 2%

18 42%
23 53%
43 100%

0 0%
1 2%
1 2%

18 42%
23 53%
43 100%

Poor
Average
Good
Very Good
Total

Q10d. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the state of 
Driver Appearance? OXFORD

Very Poor
Poor

Q10b. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the state of 
Vehicle Repair?

Very Poor
Poor
Average
Good
Very Good
Total

Q10c. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the state of 
Driver Behaviour?

Very Poor

Average
Good
Very Good
Total

OXFORD

OXFORD

Very Poor
Poor
Average
Good
Very Good
Total

Q10e. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the standard of 
Driver Hygiene? OXFORD

Very Poor
Poor
Average
Good
Very Good
Total

Q10f. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the standard of 
Driver Professionalism? OXFORD

114



0 0%
0 0%
3 7%

17 40%
23 53%
43 100%

0 0%
1 2%
8 19%

20 47%
14 33%
43 100%

0 0%

1 50%
1 50%
2 100%

42 98%
1 2%

43 100%

0 0%
1 2%
6 14%
9 21%

27 63%
43 100%

19 70%
7 26%
1 4%

27 100%

Q13a. What would encourage you to use hackney carriages or use them more 
often?

More hackney carriages I could hail or get at a rank
Other
Total

Total

OXFORD

Very Good
Total

Q10h. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the Price?

HC DRIVERS HAVE NO CHANGE FOR LARGE NOTES, AND EXPECT CHANGE AS A TIP

Q13b. If you indicated 'Other' to Q13a, please provide further details?

CHEAPER FARES
NOTHING 

UNSURE

Total

Q12a. Were you satisfied with the service you recived in terms of arrival and 
journey times?

Poor
Average
Good

Q10g. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate the standard of 
Driver Knowledge of the Area? OXFORD

Very Poor

OXFORD
Very Poor
Poor

Q11. For any aspects you rated poor or very poor, please provide further details? OXFORD

DRIVERS OFTEN HAVE NO CHANGE

Average
Good
Very Good
Total

Q10i. For your most recent trip by taxi, how would you rate any 'Other'? OXFORD
NO RESPONSES 

OXFORD

YES
NO
Total

Better Vehicle
More hackney carriages I could phone for
Better Drivers

OXFORD

115



25 68%
0 0%

12 32%
0 0%
0 0%
0 0%

37 100%

3 8%
35 92%
38 100%

3 100%
3 100%

3 8%
35 92%
38 100%

2 67%
1 33%
3 100%

24 65%
13 35%
37 100%

38 100%
0 0%

38 100%

34 89%
4 11%

38 100%

OXFORD

Q14. Do you, or anyone you know, need an adapted  licensed vehicle? OXFORD
No
Yes - WAV
someone I know WAV

Total

Q18 Do you feel safe using taxis during the day time (pre 6pm)?
Yes
No
Total

Q19. Do you feel safe using taxis during the night time (post 6pm)?
Yes
No

NO

Total

OXFORD

OXFORD

Total

Q17. Are there enough hackney carriages in the Oxford City Council area?? OXFORD
Yes
No

Yes
No
Total

Q16a. Have you ever given up waiting or made alternative arrangements 
when hailing a taxi, at a rank in the Oxford area? OXFORD

YES

Q15b. If you indicated 'YES' to Q15a, please tell us where?

Total

GEORGE STREET

Yes,but not WAV
Someone I know, but not WAV
Other
Total

Q15a. Have you ever given up waiting or made alternative arrangements for a 
taxi, at a rank in the Oxford area?

OXFORD
TRAIN STATION
Total

Q16b. If you indicated 'YES' to Q16a, please tell us where? OXFORD

BEAUMONT STREET

116



3 75%
1 25%
4 100%

45 71%
18 29%
0 0%

63 100%

44 73%
10 17%
4 7%
2 3%

60 100%

9 90%
1 10%

10 100%

141 71%
58 29%

199 100%

180 90%
20 10%

200 100%

OXFORDQ20. If you do not feel safe using taxis, what would make you feel safer?

Q21. If you had the choice of an electric powered hackney carriage, would you 
use one?

Total

OXFORD

Total

Q24a. Do you live in the Oxford area? OXFORD
Yes
No
Total

DO NOT USE HACKNEY CARRIAGES
UNSURE
Total

Q23. Do you have regular access to a car? OXFORD
YES
NO

Q22b. If you indicated 'OTHER' TO Q22a, please provide further details? OXFORD

NO PREFERENCE
YES, ONLY IF IT DID NOT COST ANYMORE
YES, AND WOULD PAY 10% MORE FARE
Total

Q22. Hackney Carriages may provide a facility to pay the fare by credit or 
debit card in the vehicle (CARD MACHINE) how do you feel about that? OXFORD

UNSAFE FOR WOMEN TO BE TRAVELLING ALONE AT NIGHT
MORE FEMALE DRIVERS

I WOULD STILL PAY IN CASH

WOULD BE HAPPY AS LONG AS NO SURCHARGE

WOULD USE FOR EVERY JOURNEY
OTHER

Total

117



4 20%
2 10%
2 10%
2 10%
2 10%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%
1 5%

20 100%

Census

79 40% 51% less

121 61% 49% more

200 100%

Census

58 29% 38% less

91 46% 38% more

51 26% 24% more

200 100%
3. Over 55
Total

Q25. GENDER

Q24b: If you do not live in the area, please provide the first half of your postcode? OXFORD

1. Under 30
2. 31 - 55

OXFORD
1. Male
2. Female
Total

Q26. AGE OXFORD

OX11

OX17

Total

RG1
OX28

EC1
HB18

RG2

BT40

OX10
CM1

OX12

OX14

OX18

118



 

 

  
 
 

 
To:    General Purposes Licensing Committee   
 
Date: 14 May 2019          

 
Report of:  Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety 
    
Title of Report:  Review of the Street Trading Policy 2019 
 

Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: To seek approval from the Committee to consult on the 
draft Street Trading Policy.  
         
Report Approved by:  
Finance:  Emma Burson 
Legal:  Daniel Smith 
 
Policy Framework: Vibrant Sustainable Economy 
 
Recommendations: The General Purposes Licensing Committee is 
recommended to: 
 
1. Note the content of the report and approve the draft Street Trading Policy; 

and 
2. Authorise the Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety to 

undertake a public consultation on the draft Street Trading Policy. 
 

Appendices  

Appendix A – Draft Street Trading Policy 2019 

Appendix B – Current Street Trading Policy 2015 

 
Introduction and Background 
 
1. The current Street Trading Policy was approved by the General 

Purposes Licensing Committee at its meeting on 27th January 2015 
and adopted by Council on 13th April 2015. At its meeting on 19th April 
2010 Council delegated subsequent revisions of the Policy to the 
General Purposes Licensing Committee. 

 
 
2. No additions or amendments are sought that would alter the authority 

of the Policy. Committee’s approval is sought to include items that are 
relevant to and within the scope of the Policy. 
 
 
 

 

119

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Amendments to the Street Trading Policy  
 
3. The Committee is asked to give its approval to the following 

amendments and additions to the current Policy: 
 

 Para 5.8 Criteria Considerations for Grant or Renewal of Street 
Trading Consent: New consideration to offer for sale low sugar/sugar 
free drinks - linked with SUGAR SMART Oxford scheme. 

 

 Para 5.11 Suitability of Applicant: New requirement to consider the 
suitability of applicants and employees.  
 

 Para 5.13 Advertisements: New advertising restrictions including    
prohibiting the use of ‘A’ boards on the highway. 
 

 Para 10.6 Revocation: Clarification of the grounds for revocation of 
consents. 
  

 Annex 2 General Conditions for Street Trading Consent:  

o New conditions to prevent the sale of tobacco/tobacco products; 
items made of animal fur; items that cause or contribute to crime 
and disorder or energy drinks to children below age of 16. 

o New requirement for traders to make full use of consent. 

o Amendment of condition relating to packaging and utensils to 
require use of recycled or part recycled materials. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
4. There are no financial implications attached to this report. 
 
Legal Implications 
 
5. There is no legal requirement for a Council to set any policy on Street 

Trading. However, authorities may if they wish decide to set policies in 
order to assist in consistent decision making. Policies may guide but 
not bind the authority. 

 
Author Name and Contact Details: Lesley Rennie 
           Business Regulation Team Manager 
           (01865) 252836 
                     lrennie@oxford.gov.uk 
 
 
 

120



 

Licensing Authority 

 
  

Street Trading Policy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Draft Version May 2019

121



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

  

 
This page is intentionally blank 

 

122



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 i 

 
CONTENTS 
 
 Introduction 1 

1 Purpose of the Policy 1 

2 Consultation 1 

3 Review of the Policy 2 

4 Legislation and current provision 2 

5 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions 3 

 New Applications for a Street Trading Consent 3 

 Peripatetic Street Trading 7 

 Renewals 7 

 Vacant Sites 8 

 Transfers 8 

6 Markets 8 

7 Special Events 8 

8 Fees 8 

9 Conditions 9 

10 Enforcement 9 

11 Contacts 10 

ANNEX 1 
 Approved Street Trading Sites 11 
 
ANNEX 2 
 General Conditions for Street Trading Consents 12 
 
ANNEX 3 

Guidance on SUGAR SMART Oxford Criteria                                       15 
 

ANNEX 4 
Guidance on suitability of applicants                                                  16 
 

ANNEX 5 
List of Small Community Events Exempt from Street Trading Fees       17 

 
  

123



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 ii 

Glossary 
 

The Council Oxford City Council 

The Applicant The trader who has submitted an application for Street 
Trading Consent. 

The Consent Holder An individual that holds a Street Trading Consent. 

A Street Includes any road, footway, beach or other area to which 
the public have access without payment. 

A Consent Street A street in which street trading is prohibited without the 
Consent of the Council. 

A Street Trading 
Consent 

A permission to trade, which is granted by a council 
subject to conditions and payment of a fee. 

A Roundsman An individual who visits a ‘round’ of customers and 
delivers the orders of those customers, for example a 
milkman. A person operating an ice-cream van is not 
classed as a roundsman. 

A Pedlar A pedlar is a trader who must: 
• keep moving, stopping only to serve customers at their 

request 
• move from place to place and not circulate within the 

same area 
• hold a valid pedlar’s certificate, issued by a Chief 

Constable of Police. 

A Peripatetic Trader A peripatetic street trader is one that: 
• continually moves from location to location 
• moves at least 50 metres from the last trading location 

and does 
• not return to that location within four hours 
• does not wait in one location for more than twenty 

minutes 
• does not trade within 100 metres of any entrance to any 

school or college (without formal invitation from the 
establishment). 

The Licensing Officer An officer employed by the Council and authorised by the 
Council to act in pursuance of the provisions of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

Activities that do not 
require Street Trading 
Consent 

Trading: 
• as a pedlar under a pedlar's certificate 
• as a news vendor 
• at a market or fair, the right to hold which having been 

obtained by a grant, enactment or order 
• at or adjoining a shop premises as part of the business 

of the shop 
• as a roundsman (i.e. delivering pre-ordered goods to 

customers) 
• from a licensed highway area 
• under a street collection permit for charitable purposes. 

 

124



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 1  

 Introduction 

 
The Council recognises that street trading is an established commercial 
activity that contributes to the vibrancy and vitality of the city and increases 
the diversity of the local economy.  

 
As the growth and development of the city continues, it is vital that the street 
trading environment responds to the physical changes and remains sensitive 
to the needs of the city. The policy allows the Council to continue to regulate 
the location and number of traders, ensuring that they meet the requirements 
set out and do not adversely impact the streets they occupy.  
 
In keeping with its vision for a successful and attractive city, the Council 
aspires to provide a continuously improving the street trading offer in terms of 
appearance/visual amenity and the quality of the goods on sale.  
 
A key priority of the council is to deliver health and wellbeing improvements in 
the city. Working with partners, we have made a commitment to reduce sugar 
intake, particularly amongst young people. The policy will support the 
objectives of SUGAR SMART Oxford’s campaign, seek to make a positive 
change and facilitate healthier choices.   
 

1 Purpose of the Policy 

1.1 This policy sets out Oxford City Council’s (hereafter referred to as the 
Council) legal framework for the management of street trading in Oxford and 
will guide the Licensing Authority when it considers applications for Street 
Trading Consents  

 
1.2 It outlines how decisions are made and aims to provide a transparent and 

consistent approach for dealing with the regulation of street trading. 
 
1.3 It also highlights the Council’s undertaking to avoid duplication with other 

statutory provisions and our commitment to work in partnership with other 
enforcement agencies. 

 

2 Consultation 

2.1 In determining this policy, the Council has undertaken a public consultation 
and has consulted the following stakeholders and organisations: 

 Thames Valley Police 

 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Oxfordshire County Council  

 Central, South and West Area Committee 

 Oxford City Centre Manager 

 All current Consent Holders 

 All relevant departments within Oxford City Council 
 
2.2 We have considered and taken into account the views of all consultees. 
 

125



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 2  

3 Review of the Policy 

3.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years and all interested parties 
consulted. In addition, we will continue to evaluate the policy and may update 
it at any time. Any minor changes can be agreed by the General Purposes 
Licensing Committee. 

 

4 Legislation and current provision 

4.1 In 1986 the Council resolved that Schedule 4 to the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 should apply to its area. Under Schedule 
4 of the Act the Council can manage street trading by designating streets as 
‘consent streets’, ‘licence streets’ or ‘prohibited streets’. 

 
‘Street Trading’ is defined as the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any 
article (including a living thing) in a street – subject to a number of exceptions 
such as: 
 
(a) Trading as a pedlar under the authority of a pedlar’s certificate granted 

under the Pedlars Act 1871; 
 

(b) Any trade in a market or fair, the right to hold which having been 
obtained by a grant, enactment or order; 

 
(c) Trading as a news vendor; 

 
(d) Trading at or adjoining a shop premises as part of the business of the 

shop; 
 

(e) Offering or selling things as a roundsman. 
 

Schedule 4 defines a street as any road, footway, beach or other area to 
which the public have access without payment; and a service area as defined 
in section 329 of the Highways Act 1980.  

 
A consent street is a street in which street trading can only take place if the 
consent of the local authority has first been obtained. 

 
Prohibited streets are streets where no street trading may take place at all. 

 
A licence street is a street that requires a formal licence before any form of 
street trading can take place. 

 
All streets in Oxford City Council area are designated as consent streets and 
any trading requires consent. There are currently no licence streets within 
Oxford. 
 
Street Traders that serve hot food or drink at any time between the hours of 
23.00 and 05.00 will also require a Premises Licence under the Licensing Act 
2003. 
 

  

126



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 3  

5 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions 

5.1 This part of the document sets out how we will deal with applications for 
Street Trading Consent in the City of Oxford. The Council aims to provide a 
clear, consistent licensing service for service users. It also aims to protect the 
safety of highway users and to prevent nuisance or annoyance. 

 
5.2 Delegation is laid out in the Council’s Constitution as follows: 
 

Full Council sets policies on licensing. 
 

The General Purposes Licensing Committee: 
 

 recommends and reviews policies on general licensing  

 sets and reviews licence fees  

 agrees and varies a street trading scheme.  
 

The General Purposes Licensing Committee appoints a General Purposes 
Licensing Casework Sub-Committee to: 
 
a) Decide street trading applications that are for longer than three months  
b) Decide applications to renew Street Trading Consent when there has been 

a complaint about the trader or the trader has breached the conditions of 
their Street Trading Consent in the past year 

 
The Responsible Head of Service is authorised to: 

 

(a) Issue Street Trading Consents and to attach such conditions as are 
necessary under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982; 

 
(b) Refuse any application for a Consent: 

(i) that is considered unsuitable under this policy; 
(ii) where there are objections from any of the following consultees; 
(Police, Fire or Highways on the grounds of Public or Highway safety); 

 
(c) Refer applications to the General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-

Committee: 
(i) when there has been a complaint or safeguarding concern about the 
trader or the trader has breached the conditions of their Street Trading 
Consent in the past year; 
(ii) where there are multiple applications for a vacant approved site; 

 
(d) Suspend a Consent for a period of up to 28 days pending referral to the                 

General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-Committee: where serious 
food safety issues or any other reasonable cause are found. 

 

 New Applications for a Street Trading Consent  

5.3 An application for Street Trading Consent must be made to the Council in 

writing. The following will be required to be submitted with the application: 
  

(a) A completed and signed Street Trading Consent Application Form. 
 

127



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 4  

(b) The full application fee as appropriate.  
 

(c) Where the proposed street activity is from a fixed position, a copy of a    
map of at least 1:1250 scale. The map should clearly identify the 
proposed site position by marking the site boundary with a red line.  

 
(d) Colour photographs of the stall or vehicle that will be used for the street 

trading activity.  
 

(e) A certificate of Public Liability Insurance that covers the street trading 
activity for third party and public liability risks. The minimum insurance 
cover shall be £5,000,000. 

 
(f) A current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering certificate for all food 

handlers.  
 
(g) A valid Waste Transfer Note. 
 
(h) Proof of the applicant’s and any prospective employee’s right to work in 

the UK. 
 
(i) Gas safety certificate for the vehicle or stall if applicable.  
 
(j) A description of the type of food and drinks to include sugar free and 

lower sugar drinks options. 
 

5.4 Street Trading Consents are issued for a period of up to one year and are 
renewed annually for the period 1 April to 31 March, unless granted for a 
reduced period. 
 

5.5 Before a Street Trading Consent is granted or refused, the Council will carry 
out a consultation process with various stakeholders including: 

 
• Oxfordshire County Council Highways  
• Thames Valley Police 
• Ward Councillors  
• Planning Service 
• Environmental Health Service 

 
Written observations from the above organisations will be sought and taken 
into consideration when determining an application. 

 
5.6 Street Trading Consents will not normally be granted where:  
 

• A significant effect on road safety would arise either from the siting of the 
trading activity itself, or from customers visiting or leaving the site. 

 
• There is a conflict with Traffic Orders such as waiting restrictions. 
 
• The site or pitch obstructs either pedestrian or vehicular access, or traffic 

flows, or places pedestrians in danger when in use for street trading 
purposes. 

 
• The trading unit obstructs the safe passage of users of the footway or 

carriageway. 

128



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 5  

 
• The pitch interferes with sight lines for any road users such as at road 

junctions, or pedestrian crossing facilities. 
 
• The supply of hot or cold food, drinks or confectionery between 07:30 and 

18:00 within 100 metres of the boundary of a school or college (during 
term time). 

 
5.7 In the absence of representations, the application will be referred to the 

Council’s General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-Committee who will 
use the criteria listed below to make their determination of the application, 
with equal weight applied to the criteria listed. Each case will be assessed on 
its merits and individual circumstances, where appropriate, may be taken into 
consideration. When there are representations, the Responsible Head of 
Service acting under delegated powers may refuse an application. 

  
5.8 In considering applications for the grant or renewal of a Street Trading 

Consent the following criteria will be considered: 
 

(a) Public safety 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk to the public. Factors taken into account will include: 
obstruction, fire hazard, unhygienic conditions or danger that may occur when 
a trader is accessing the site. 
 
(b) Public order 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk to public order.  
 
(c) Avoidance of public nuisance 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk of nuisance to the public, particularly in residential areas. 
 
(d) Appearance of the stall or vehicle 
The stall or vehicle must be maintained in good condition, of smart 
appearance and meet the criteria, including size, laid down in the standard 
Consent Conditions.  Photographs or sketches, including dimensions, must 
be provided with all new applications and requests for approval of changes to 
or replacement of a stall or vehicle. The general appearance of the vehicle or 
stall will also be considered in order to determine that the unit will not detract 
from the appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
(e) Needs of the area 
The demand for the articles for sale and the geographical location of the 
proposed site. 

 
(f) Environmental sustainability 
Measures to minimise the impact of the proposed operation on the local 
environment including street surfaces and materials, power supply, carbon 
footprint, supply chain, packaging, waste minimisation, recycling and waste 
disposal.  
 
(g) Food safety and food offer 
Applicants to trade in hot or cold food must be able to demonstrate a good 
understanding of food safety and be registered as a food business with the 

129



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 6  

relevant local authority.  As a minimum, food handlers must hold a current 
Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering accredited by The Chartered 
Institute of Environmental Health or The Royal Institute for Public Health. 
Consideration will be given to applicant’s ability to meet SUGAR SMART 
Oxford criteria (see Annex 3 for guidance). 
 
(h) Highway safety 
The location and operating times will be such that the highway can be 
maintained in accordance with the Oxfordshire County Council’s requirements 
and that there are no dangers to those who have a right to use the highway 
and no obstruction for emergency access. 

 
5.9 There is no statutory right of appeal against refusal to issue a Consent. 
 

Nature of goods on offer  
 
5.10 The type of goods allowed to be sold will be considered on a site by site basis 

and will be specified in the Consent. Consent holders must seek approval 
before making significant changes to the type of goods offered for sale.  

 

Suitability of Applicant 
 
5.11 When determining an application for the grant or renewal of a Consent, the 

Council will consider all relevant information relating to the suitability of the 
applicant and any employees including: 

 

 Whether they have been cautioned or convicted of any offences of:  
a. Violence 
b. Dishonesty 
c. Drug related offences 
d. Sexual offences 
e. Public Order offences 
f. Food safety or health and safety offences 
g. Any offence resulting in a sentence of imprisonment 

 
This will involve the applicant making a declaration to confirm their 
status relating to any ‘unspent’ cautions or convictions under the 
Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. Guidance on the relevance of 
cautions and convictions is contained in Annex 4. 
 

 Failure to pay the Council’s Street Trading Consent fees. 
 

 An applicant’s history of street trading including whether previous 
Consents have been used appropriately. 

 
5.12  The Council will reserve the right to request a basic disclosure check where it 

considers there is a risk to children and/or vulnerable people.  

 
Advertisements 

 
5.13 The use of ‘A’ boards is prohibited on the highway (unless express permission 

is given). 
 
5.14  Advertising should only relate to goods offered for sale at the consented site.  

130



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 7  

5.15  Third party advertisements are prohibited. 

 
Peripatetic Street Trading 

 
5.16 Street traders that meet the conditions below will be classed as peripatetic. 

Ice cream vans and mobile sandwich sellers would typically be deemed to be 
peripatetic street traders. 

 
5.17  Traders must meet all of the criteria below to be classed as peripatetic: 
 

• Move from location to location. 
• Move at least 50 metres from the last trading location and do not return to 

that location within four hours. 
• Do not wait in one location for more than 20 minutes. 

 

 Renewal Applications for a Street Trading Consent 

5.18 Street Trading Consents are renewed annually for the period 1st April to 31st 
March, unless granted for a reduced period. A renewal application for Street 
Trading Consent must be made to the Council in writing by 1st February. The 
following will be required to be submitted with the application: 

  
(a) A completed and signed Street Trading Consent Application Form.  

 
(b) The full fee as appropriate.  

 
(c) A certificate of Public Liability Insurance that covers the street trading 

activity for third party and public liability risks.  
 

(d) A current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering certificate for all food 
handlers.  

 
(e) Proof of the applicants and any prospective employees right to work in the 

UK. 
 
(f) A gas safety certificate for the vehicle or stall if applicable.  

 
(g) A licensed waste carrier agreement. 

 
5.19 At renewal, the Council may take into consideration any relevant information 

about the trading operation.  
 
5.20 If a renewal application is not received before the expiry of the current 

licence, a new application must be made. In this situation, trading will not be 
permitted until a new Consent is issued. 

 
5.21 Where a renewal application has been made and there have been complaints 

or enforcement issues or fees have not been paid on time, then the 
application will be referred to the General Purposes Licensing Sub-
Committee. 

 
  
 
 

131



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 8  

Advertising new or vacant sites 
 
5.21 The Council will advertise vacancies on the Council’s website for 28 days. 

Applications will be referred to the Council’s Licensing Sub-Committee who 
will use the criteria listed at paragraph 5.8 of this policy to make their 
determination.  

 

Transfers 

5.22 A Street Trading Consent cannot be transferred or sold to another person 
except that the Consent may be transferred to a member of the Consent 
Holder’s immediate family in the event of the Consent Holder’s death or 
incapacity on payment of a fee. The sub-letting of a pitch/site is prohibited. 

 

6 Markets 

6.1 The Gloucester Green weekly markets and the Covered Market are outside 
the scope of the street trading scheme.  Gloucester Green has Charter 
Market status and trading in the Covered Market takes place from permanent 
shop units. 

 

7 Special Events 

7.1 For events such as Christmas or Continental Street Markets, the Council will 
accept one application from the person organising the event. The event street 
trading application will require full details of each trader attending the event.  
Consent will be issued to each individual stall holder. This provision aims to 
promote events and encourage traders to attend. 

 
7.2 Trading at charity or small community events, where the profits from 

individual stalls/units are donated to charity, is exempt from the Council’s 
Street Trading requirements. Any traders (such as traders selling food or 
refreshments) attending for commercial gain will require Street Trading 
Consent. Examples of charity events are listed at Annex 5 of this policy. 

 

8 Fees 

8.1 Fees will be set and reviewed annually on a full cost recovery basis.  The 
level of fees applicable takes into account the location, the duration of the 
Consent, trading hours and the articles to be sold.  Details of the current fees 
can be found on the Council’s website or on application to the Licensing 
Officer.   

 
8.2 Fees must be paid in advance as set out in Annex 2, General Condition 28. 
 
8.3 Applications for Consents should be accompanied by the relevant non-

refundable fee. If the application is approved, the balance of the fee will be 
due before the Consent is issued.  If the application is not successful the 
application fee will be retained to cover the cost incurred in processing the 
application. 

 
8.4 A Consent Holder may terminate a Street Trading Consent by written notice 

to the Responsible Head of Service. Where trading ceases during the term of 
Consent, a refund will not be given for any remaining period of less than 3 

132



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 9  

months. Where payable, a refund of the portion of the fee equal to the 
remaining full months will be given, less £50 which the Council will retain to 
cover administrative costs.  

 

9 Conditions 

9.1 The Council applies standard conditions to Street Trading Consents.  
 

 General conditions for annual and weekly Street Trading Consents 

 Additional conditions applicable to Special Events 
 
The standard conditions are not exhaustive and other conditions may be 
added to individual Consents where appropriate. 
 

9.2   Standard Trading Hours are: 
 

(a) Roadside locations for vehicles   

 Daytime site from 08:00 to 18:00. 

 Evening sites for the Sale of Hot Food from 18:30 to 03:00 (can 
be extended to 04:00 Thursdays, Fridays, and Saturdays on 
application and subject to approval). 

(b) Pavement locations 

 08:00 to 21:00. 
 

(c) Weekly Let Sites 

 08:00 to 21:00. 
 
9.3 Street trading can only be carried out from the stall or vehicle authorised on 

the Certificate of Street Trading Consent.  Any changes to or replacement of 
the stall or vehicle must be approved by the Responsible Head of Service. 

 
9.4 The standard conditions applied to Street Trading Consents are attached to 

this policy as Annex 2.  
 

10 Enforcement  

10.1 The Council is committed to enforcing the provisions contained within the 
relevant legislation and to work in partnership with all enforcement agencies, 
to provide consistent enforcement on licensing issues in accordance with the 
Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy.  

 
10.2 The Business Regulation Team aims to work closely with other enforcement 

authorities to regulate relevant legislation where necessary. 
 
10.3 The Council will investigate any complaints relating to street trading activities 

e.g. trading without Consent or breach of conditions and may take 
enforcement action as appropriate. Consent holders should liaise with the 
Council to resolve complaints. 

 
10.4 If the Council feels that there is an issue of public order or threat to public 

safety associated with any street trading activity it will call for assistance from 
Thames Valley Police. 

 

133



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 10  

10.5  Failure to comply with one or more of the standard conditions of Consent may 
lead to revocation or non-renewal of Street Trading Consent. 

 

 Revocation 
 
10.6 The Council may revoke a Street Trading Consent at any time, on any 

reasonable grounds. This may be for a variety of reasons including breach of 
conditions, non-payment of fees or when the site location is no longer 
suitable/accessible e.g. due to emergency repairs in the street or 
construction/redevelopment work. 

 

11 Contacts 

The Street Trading function is part of the Business Regulation Team within 
the Environmental Health Service. 
 
Business Regulation Team 
Environmental Health 
Oxford City Council 
109-113 St Aldate’s Chambers 
St Aldate’s 
Oxford 
OX1 1DS 
 
To enquire about any street trading issue, please visit our website: 
www.oxford.gov.uk or contact us via email street_trading@oxford.gov.uk or 
ringing the Business Regulation Team on 01865 252561.

134

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/
mailto:street_trading@oxford.gov.uk


 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 11 

ANNEX 1 

Approved Street Trading Sites 

The City Council have given Consents for street trading at the following sites within 
Oxford (the list is subject to changes from time to time): 
 
ROADSIDE LOCATIONS FOR VEHICLES 
 
Daytime Sites (08:00 to 18:00) 
1 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s End 1 unit* 
2 Broad Street outside No. 17 1 unit  
3 Broad Street outside No. 14 1 unit 
    
Evening Sites for the Sale of Hot Food (18.30 to 03.00, Monday to Sunday, except 
where otherwise stated on the Consent). 
4 Banbury Road outside No. 263 1 unit 
5 Broad Street outside No. 17 1 unit 
6 New Road opposite County Hall Car Park 1 unit 
7 Cripley Road junction with Botley Road 1 unit 
8 George Street outside No. 25 1 unit 
9 High Street outside No. 22 North Side 1 unit 
10 High Street outside University College 1 unit 
11 London Road outside No’s. 73/75 1 unit 
12 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s end 1 unit 
13 Queen Street outside Clarendon Centre 1 unit 
14 St Aldate’s outside Christchurch 1 unit 
15 St Giles layby outside Taylorian Institute 1 unit 
16 St Giles layby outside Taylorian Institute 1 unit 
17 Woodstock Road outside Radcliffe Infirmary 1 unit 
18 London Road outside No. 93  1 unit 
19 High Street opposite No. 42/44 1 unit 
20 Banbury Road outside No. 221  1 unit 
    
PAVEMENT LOCATIONS 
Trading is allowed only between the times of 08:00 and 21:00 on any day of the 
week.   
24 Catte Street North end 1 unit 
26 High Street Magdalen College 1 unit 
27 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s end 1 unit 
28 St Giles outside No. 66 1 unit 
29 Catte Street North end 1 unit 
    
WEEKLY LET SITES 
Trading is allowed only between the times of 08:00 and 21:00 on any day of the 
week.  Stalls must have a maximum dimension of 2.3 metre x 1.5 metres.  
33 & 34 Cornmarket Street junction with Ship Street 2 units 
     
*Unit refers to a vehicle or stall. 
  

135



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 12 

ANNEX 2  

General Conditions for Street Trading Consents 

 
1. Street trading must only take place between the dates specified on the 

Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

2. Street trading must only take place during the operational hours specified on 
the Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

3. The Street Trading Consent relates only to the area/site vehicle or stall 
specified on the Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

4. The council will not normally allow the sale of: 

a. Tobacco or tobacco products 

b. Items made of animal fur 

c. Items that cause or contribute to crime and disorder 

d. Energy drinks to children below 16 years old. 

5. The Street Trading Consent relates only to the vehicle or stall specified on the 
Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

6. Any significant changes to or replacement of a stall or vehicle must be 
approved by the Responsible Head of Service. 

7. The vehicle or stall must be removed from the site at the end of each day’s 
trading. 

 

8. The Consent Holder’s vehicle/stall must be kept in a clean, safe and well 

maintained condition and be of a presentable appearance. The Street Trading 
Consent bearing the name of the consent holder shall be displayed 
conspicuously on the stall/vehicle so that members of the public can clearly 
see it during hours of business. 

9. The Consent Holder’s vehicle must be maintained in a roadworthy condition, 
taxed, insured and with a current MOT Certificate. Vehicle movements must 
be carried out legally and must not present a risk to people and structures. 
The Consent Holder shall not drive or park a vehicle on any part of a footway. 

10. The Consent Holder must ensure that the stall/vehicle is positioned only in the 
allocated space (which may be marked on the ground) in the Consent Street 
for which the Street Trading Consent is issued. 

11. If a Consent Holder or operator/assistant is requested to move the 
vehicle/stall by an authorised Council Officer or Police Officer they must 
immediately comply with that request. 

12. For Weekly Street Traders on Cornmarket Street, the Consent Holder’s stall 
must not exceed 2.3 metres in height nor occupy an area greater than 2.3 
metres x 1.4 metres. 

13. The Consent Holder must comply with all statutes, statutory instruments and 
byelaws currently in force. Consent Holders must pay particular attention to 
the requirements of the Health & Safety at Work etc. Act, 1974 and the Food 
Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 (where relevant). Advice on 
these requirements is available from the Business Regulation Team.  

14. The Consent Holder must conduct their business in a professional manner 
and in a way that minimises risks to employees and others.  

136



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 13 

15. The Consent Holder must take reasonable precautions to prevent the risk of 
fire at the stall or vehicle. All hot food vans/trailers are required to comply with 
current legislation on fire safety. A serviceable fire blanket and a suitable fire 
extinguisher shall be provided in all vehicles selling hot food. 

16. Reasonable steps must be taken to ensure gas safety where gas appliances 
are used on a stall or vehicle.  Gas appliances must be maintained and 
serviced as per manufacturer’s instructions. Gas appliances and systems 
must be checked for safety by a competent Gas Safe engineer at least 
annually. Any faults or concerns in relation to gas safety must be 
appropriately investigated and made safe by a competent Gas Safe engineer 
as soon as possible.  

17. The Consent Holder must not cause any nuisance or annoyance to any other 
user of the highway or the occupier of any land or building. In particular, 
Consent Holders must prevent excessive noise. 

18. The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty of care on businesses 
to dispose of their trade waste in an appropriate manner. Trade waste must 
be stored appropriately and be disposed of by a licensed waste carrier. No 
water or waste material shall be discharged on to the highway or any adjacent 
property. The Consent holder shall take reasonable steps to ensure that litter 
arising from their own trade is minimised as far as possible, for example by 
making a bin available for customers to use. 

19. A Street Trading Consent must not be transferred or sold to another person 
except that the Consent may be transferred to a member of the Consent 
Holder’s immediate family in the event of the Consent Holder’s death or 
incapacity on payment of a fee. The subletting of a consent site is prohibited. 

20. The Consent Holder must be the principal operator and have day to day 
control of the stall/vehicle.  The Consent Holder may employ any other person 
to assist in operating the stall/vehicle and shall notify the Council of the name 
and address of that person. An administration fee will be payable. 

21. Anyone who operates a stall/vehicle other than the Consent Holder must be 
authorised by the Council. 

22. Consent holders must make adequate provisions to ensure access for 
wheelchair users or customers with disabilities.  

23. A copy of the Consent must be displayed by the operator when trading and 
must be produced on demand to a Council Officer or Police Officer. 

24. Consent Holders must have and maintain a proper insurance policy against 
public liability and third party risks. The minimum insurance cover shall be 
£5,000,000 and shall cover the operator’s vehicle, or stall and any additional 
equipment under their control. If food is sold the insurance must specifically 
include cover against food poisoning to the same amount. Proof of cover 
must be produced to an officer of Oxford City Council on application and as 
required. 

25. Annual Street Trading Consent fee installments are required quarterly, in 
advance. The first installment must be paid in advance of the issue of 
Consent.  The remaining fee can be paid in installments on the following 
dates 1st July. 1st October and 2nd January. Alternatively, annual fees may be 
paid in full in advance.  

26. General Conditions, which apply to all Street Trading in Oxford, may be 
varied, having regard to a particular location. They are termed Special 
Conditions and are listed on the Consent Certificate. These Special 
Conditions must also be complied with. 

137



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 14 

27. Consent holders must make full use of their Consent.  

 

Conditions Specific to Food Traders 

 

28. All packaging and utensils for use by customers shall be made of recycled or 
part recycled materials. 

29. Food businesses must achieve and maintain a minimum Food Hygiene 
Rating of ‘3 – Generally Satisfactory’. The Hygiene Rating must be displayed 
prominently on the stall or vehicle. 

30. Food handlers must hold a current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering 
accredited by The Chartered Institute of Environmental Health or The Royal 
Institute for Public Health. 

31. Food businesses must be registered as a food business with the Local 
Authority where the van/stall is kept overnight.  Food businesses registered 
outside of the Oxford City Council area must be able to demonstrate food 
business registration, e.g. by written confirmation from the relevant local 
authority or by providing a copy of the latest inspection letter or report. Any 
changes in registration details must be notified to the relevant Local Authority. 

32. All hot food vans/trailers are required to carry a basic first aid kit and have the 
means to contact the emergency services if necessary.  

 

Conditions Specific to Peripatetic Traders 

 

33. The Consent holder is required to comply with the Code of Practice on Noise 
from Ice-Cream Van Chimes Etc. in England 2013 or any modification or re-
enactment thereof. 

 

34. The vehicle must not trade within 100 metres of the boundary of any school or 
college between the hours of 07:30 and 18:00 (without formal invitation from 
the establishment). 

 
35. The vehicle must not wait in one location for more than twenty minutes. 

 

Conditions Specific to Weekly Street Traders 

 

36. Weekly Street Trading Consents fees must be paid two weeks in advance 
before trading commences. This is to allow sufficient time to process the 
application and receive the consent. Traders must be in possession of their 
Consents before they can trade. 

 

37. The items to be sold must be agreed before a Weekly Consent will be issued. 

 

38. The sale of food and/or drink is not permitted by Weekly Street Traders.  

 

Failure to comply with these conditions 

If a Consent Holder fails to comply with any of the conditions attached to a Street 
Trading Consent, the Consent may be suspended for an indefinite period or revoked. 
The Consent Holder may also be prosecuted. 

138



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 15 

ANNEX 3 
Guidance on SUGAR SMART Oxford Criteria 
 
The Council welcomes applications from food traders who meet all the following 
criteria: 
 

 Offer 80% low* sugar and sugar free drinks options 
 Make low sugar and sugar free drinks more visible and prominently displayed 

to customers 
 Adopt a simple traffic light sticker system for drinks (traders will receive free 

resources, support and advice to set up) 
 

Contact: mail@sugarsmartoxford.org for information. More details about the scheme 
can be found at http://goodfoodoxford.org/sugar-smart-oxford/. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Low sugar is defined as 5g per 100g or less  

139

mailto:mail@sugarsmartoxford.org
http://goodfoodoxford.org/sugar-smart-oxford/


 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 16 

ANNEX 4  
Guidance on suitability of applicants 
 
The Council will take into account the following guidance concerning any ‘unspent’ 
cautions or convictions for the offences listed below when determining whether a new 
applicant, consent holder or their employee is suitable to hold a Street Trading 
Consent.  

a. Violence 
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at 
least) of a conviction or caution for an offence of violence. 

 
b. Dishonesty 
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at 
least) of a conviction or caution for an offence of dishonesty. 
 
c. Drug related  
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at 
least) of a conviction or caution for a drug related offence.  
 
For offences of supplying drugs, consent applications will normally be refused for 
5 years (at least) following conviction.  
 
d. Sexual and indecency  
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 5 years (at 
least) of cautions or convictions for any serious sexual offences.  Applications will 
be refused from applicants currently on the Sex Offender’s Register. 
 
e. Public Order  
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at 
least) of a conviction or caution for an offence relating to breaches of public order. 
 
f. Food safety or health and safety  
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years of a 
conviction or caution for an offence relating to food safety (where the consent 
involves sale of food or drink) or health and safety. 
 
g. Any offence resulting in a sentence of imprisonment 
A Consent application will normally be refused when it is made within 3 years (at 
least) of the date of release from prison, where a custodial sentence has been 
imposed.  

 
The safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable people is of a particular 
concern. Where the Council receives notification that: 
 

i. an applicant or consent holder is the subject of an investigation by the Police 
into inappropriate conduct, or illegal activity, or 

ii. an applicant or consent holder has been implicated in a safeguarding issue 
i.e. where children, young people or vulnerable people have been or may be 
exposed to inappropriate behaviour or language by the applicant/consent 
holder 

the matter shall be referred to the General Purposes Licensing Casework Sub-
Committee to determine whether the person can be considered as suitable to either 
be granted or retain a Street Trading Consent. 
 
Notwithstanding the existence of the convictions guidance, each case will be decided 
on its own merits.  

140



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 17 

 

ANNEX 5  
List of Small Community Events Exempt from Street Trading Fees 
 

 Jericho Street Fair 

 Blackbird Leys Play Day 

 Headington Festival and Sports Day 

 Littlemore Play Day 

 Active Cutteslowe 

 Friends of Florence Park 

 Headington Fun Day 

 Leys Festival 

 West Oxford Fun Day 
 

141



 

 

Licensing Authority Licensing Authority 

 

 
 
 
Street Trading Policy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Business Regulation Team 
Oxford City Council 
109-113 St Aldate’s Chambers 
St Aldate’s 
Oxford 
OX1 1DS 
email:  street_trading@oxford.gov.uk 
phone:  01865 252561 
fax:  01865 252344 

 

142

mailto:street_trading@oxford.gov.uk


 

Licensing Authority 

 
  

Street Trading Policy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This Statement will apply from 14th April 2015

143



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

  

 
This page is intentionally blank 

 

144



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 i 

 
CONTENTS 
 

1 Purpose of the Policy 1 

2 Consultation 1 

3 Review of the Policy 1 

4 Legislation and current provision 2 

5 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions 3 

New Applications for a Street Trading Consent 3 

Peripatetic Street Trading 6 

Renewals 6 

Vacant Sites 7 

Transfers 7 

6 Markets 7 

7 Special Events 7 

8 Fees 8 

9 Conditions 8 

10 Enforcement 8 

11 Contacts 9 

ANNEX 1 

 Current Sites Approved for Street Trading within Oxford 10 

ANNEX 2 

General Conditions for Annual and Weekly Street Trading Consents 11 

Additional Conditions Applicable to Special Events/Markets. 14 

ANNEX 3 

List of Small Community Events Exempt from Street Trading Fees  15 

 
 

  

145



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 ii 

Glossary 
 

The Council Oxford City Council 

The Applicant The trader who has submitted an application for Street 
Trading Consent. 

Consent Holder An individual that holds a Street Trading Consent. 

A Street Includes any road, footway, beach or other area to which 
the public have access without payment. 

Consent Street A street in which street trading is prohibited without the 
Consent of the Council. 

Street Trading Consent A permission to trade, which is granted by a council 
subject to conditions and payment of a fee. 

A Roundsman An individual who visits a ‘round’ of customers and 
delivers the orders of those customers, for example a 
milkman. A person operating an ice-cream van is not 
classed as a roundsman. 

A Pedlar A pedlar is a trader who must: 
• keep moving, stopping only to serve customers at their 

request 
• move from place to place and not circulate within the 

same area 
• hold a valid pedlar’s certificate, issued by a Chief 

Constable of Police. 

Peripatetic Trader A peripatetic street trader is one that: 
• continually moves from location to location 
• moves at least 50 metres from the last trading location 

and does 
• not return to that location within four hours 
• does not wait in one location for more than twenty 

minutes 
• does not trade within 100 metres of any entrance to any 

school or college (without formal invitation from the 
establishment). 

Licensing Officer An officer employed by the Council and authorised by the 
Council to act in pursuance of the provisions of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. 

Activities that do not 
require Street Trading 
Consent 

Trading: 
• as a pedlar under a pedlar's certificate 
• as a news vendor 
• at a market or fair, the right to hold which having been 

obtained by a grant, enactment or order 
• at or adjoining a shop premises as part of the business 

of the shop 
• as a roundsman (i.e. delivering pre-ordered goods to 

customers) 
• from a licensed highway area 
• under a street collection permit for charitable purposes. 

 

146



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 1  

 Introduction 

 
This document is intended to be an interim policy due to the changing face of 
Oxford City Centre. The regeneration of the City Centre will have an impact 
on street trading in Oxford.  The policy will be reviewed and updated at 
relevant intervals to reflect the redevelopment. 

  

1 Purpose of the Policy 

1.1 This policy sets out Oxford City Council’s (hereafter referred to as the 
Council) framework for the management of street trading in Oxford. Through 
the street trading scheme the Council aims to regulate the location and 
number of street traders. The scheme also aims to prevent the obstruction of 
the streets of Oxford by street trading activities. In doing so, it recognises the 
importance of licensed businesses to the local economy and the character of 
the area whilst trying to ensure that the activities do not cause nuisance or 
annoyance to the people in the area. 

 
1.2 This document will guide the Licensing Authority when it considers 

applications for Street Trading Consents. It will inform applicants of the 
parameters in which the authority will make decisions and how their needs 
will be addressed. 

 
1.3 It also highlights the Council’s undertaking to avoid duplication with other 

statutory provisions and our commitment to work in partnership with other 
enforcement agencies. 

 

2 Consultation 

2.1 In determining this policy, the Council has consulted the following people and 
bodies: 

 Thames Valley Police 

 Oxfordshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Oxfordshire County Council Highways 

 Central, South and West Area Committee 

 Oxford City Centre Manager 

 Nightsafe 

 Oxford Covered Market traders 

 Gloucester Green Market traders 

 All current Consent Holders 

 The general public 
 
2.2 We have also consulted with relevant departments within Oxford City Council.  
 
2.3 We have considered and taken into account the views of all the appropriate 

bodies and organisations. 
 

3 Review of the Policy 

3.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years. At the time of the review, we 
will again consult all interested parties. As well as the three-yearly reviews, we 
will continue to evaluate the policy and may update it at any time. Any minor 
changes can be agreed by the General Purposes Licensing Committee. 

147



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 2  

 

4 Legislation and current provision 

4.1 In 1986 the Council resolved that Schedule 4 to the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 should apply to its area. Under Schedule 
4 of the Act the Council can manage street trading by designating streets as 
‘consent streets’, ‘licence streets’ or ‘prohibited streets’. 

 
‘Street Trading’ is defined as the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any 
article (including a living thing) in a street – subject to a number of exceptions 
such as: 
 
(a) Trading as a pedlar under the authority of a pedlar’s certificate granted 

under the Pedlars Act 1871. 
 

(b) Any trade in a market or fair, the right to hold which having been 
obtained by a grant, enactment or order. 

 
(c) Trading as a news vendor. 

 
(d) Trading at or adjoining a shop premises as part of the business of the 

shop. 
 

(e) Offering or selling things as a roundsman. 
 

Schedule 4 defines a street as any road, footway, beach or other area to 
which the public have access without payment; and a service area as defined 
in section 329 of the Highways Act 1980.  

 
A consent street is a street in which street trading can only take place if the 
consent of the local authority has first been obtained. 

 
Prohibited streets are streets where no street trading may take place at all. 

 
A licence street is a street that requires a formal licence before any form of 
street trading can take place. 

 
All streets in Oxford City Council area are designated as consent streets. 
There are currently no licence streets within Oxford. 
 
Street Traders that serve hot food or drink at any time between the hours of 
23.00 and 05.00 will also require a Premises Licence under the Licensing Act 
2003. 
 

  

148



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 3  

5 The Licensing Process and Delegation of Functions 

5.1 This part of the document sets out how we will deal with applications for 
Street Trading Consent in the City of Oxford. The Council aims to provide a 
clear, consistent licensing service for service users. At the same time, it aims 
to protect the safety of highway users and to prevent nuisance or annoyance. 

 
5.2 Delegation is laid out in the Council’s Constitution as follows: 
 

Full Council sets policies on licensing and registration. 
 

The General Purposes Licensing Committee: 
 

 recommends and reviews policies on licensing and registration  

 sets and reviews licence fees  

 agrees and varies a street trading scheme.  
 

The General Purposes Licensing Committee appoints a Licensing and  
Registration Sub-Committee to: 
 

 decide street trading applications that are for longer than three months  

 decide applications to renew street trading permission when there has 
been a complaint about the trader or the trader has broken the conditions 
of their street trading permission in the past year.  

 
The Head of Planning and Regulatory Services is authorised to: 

 

(a) Issue Street Trading Consents and to attach such conditions as are 
necessary under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982; 

 
(b) Refuse any application for a Consent that: 

(i) in the opinion of the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services does 
not comply with the Council’s conditions and policies; 
(ii) where there are objections from any of the following consultees; 
(Police, Fire or Highways on the grounds of Public or Highway safety); 

 
(c) Refer applications to the Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee: 

(i) when there has been a complaint about the trader or the trader has 
broken the conditions of their Street Trading Consent in the past year; 
(ii) where there is competition for a vacant approved site. 

 
(d) Suspend a Consent for a period of up to 28 days pending referral to the           

Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee: where serious food safety 
issues are found. 

 

 New Applications for a Street Trading Consent  

5.3 An application for Street Trading Consent must be made to the Council in 

writing. The following will be required to be submitted with the application: 
  

(a) A completed and signed Street Trading Consent Application Form.  
 

(b) The full application fee as appropriate.  

149



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 4  

 
(c) Where the proposed street activity is from a fixed position, a copy of a    

map of at least 1:1250 scale. The map should clearly identify the 
proposed site position by marking the site boundary with a red line.  

 
(d) Colour photographs of the stall, van, barrow, cart etc. that will be used for 

the street trading activity.  
 

(e) A certificate of Public Liability Insurance that covers the street trading 
activity for third party and public liability risks. The minimum insurance 
cover shall be £5,000,000. 

 
(f) A current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering certificate for all food 

handlers.  
 
(g) A valid Waste Transfer Note. 
 
(h) Proof of the applicant’s and any prospective employee’s right to work in 

the UK. 
 
(i) Gas safety certificate for the vehicle or stall if applicable.  
 

5.4 Street Trading Consents are issued for a period of up to one year and 
renewed annually for the period 1 April to 31 March, unless granted for a 
reduced period. 
 

5.5 Before a Street Trading Consent is granted or refused the Council will carry 
out a consultation process with various persons and groups. In particular the 
following organisations or persons are consulted: 

 
• Oxfordshire County Council Highways  
• Thames Valley Police 
• Ward Councillors  
• Planning 
• Environmental Health 

 
Written observations from the above organisations will be sought and taken 
into consideration when determining an application. 

 
5.6 Street Trading Consents will not normally be granted where:  
 

• A significant effect on road safety would arise either from the siting of the 
trading activity itself, or from customers visiting or leaving the site. 

 
• There is a conflict with Traffic Orders such as waiting restrictions. 
 
• The site or pitch obstructs either pedestrian or vehicular access, or traffic 

flows, or places pedestrians in danger when in use for street trading 
purposes. 

 
• The trading unit obstructs the safe passage of users of the footway or 

carriageway. 
 
• The pitch interferes with sight lines for any road users such as at road 

junctions, or pedestrian crossing facilities. 

150



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 5  

 
• The supply of hot or cold food and drinks or confectionery between 07:30 

and 18:00 within 100 metres of the boundary of a school or college. 
 
5.7 In the absence of representations the application will be referred to the 

Council’s Licensing and Registration Sub Committee who will use the criteria 
listed below to make their determination of the application, with equal weight 
applied to the criteria listed. Each case will be assessed on its merits and 
individual circumstances, where appropriate, may be taken into consideration. 
When there are representations, the Head of Planning and Regulatory 
Services acting under delegated powers may refuse an application. 

  
5.8 In considering applications for the grant or renewal of a Street Trading 

Consent the following factors will be considered: 
 

(a) Public Safety 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk to the public. Factors taken into account will include: 
obstruction, fire hazard, unhygienic conditions or danger that may occur when 
a trader is accessing the site. 
 
(b) Public Order 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk to public order. Traders will conduct themselves in a 
professional manner. 
 
(c) The Avoidance of Public Nuisance 
Whether the street trading activity represents, or is likely to represent, a 
substantial risk of nuisance to the public from noise and/or odour particularly 
in residential areas. 
 
(d) Appearance of the stall or vehicle 
The stall or vehicle must be maintained in good condition smart appearance 
and meet criteria, including size, laid down in the standard Consent 
conditions.  Photographs or sketches, including dimensions, must be provided 
with all new applications and requests for approval of changes to or 
replacement of a stall or vehicle. The general appearance of the vehicle or 
stall will also be considered in order to determine that the unit will not detract 
from the appearance of the surrounding area. 
 
(e) Needs of the Area 
The demand for the articles for sale, and the geographical location of the 
proposed site. 

 
(f) Environmental Credentials 
The impact of the proposed operation on the local environment including 
street surfaces and materials, power supply, carbon footprint, supply chain, 
packaging, waste minimisation, waste disposal and waste generated by 
customers. Provision of adequate measures to minimise the environmental 
impact of the proposed operation. 
 
 
 
(g) Food Traders 

151



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 6  

Applicants to trade in hot or cold food must be able to demonstrate a good 
understanding of food safety and be registered as a food business with the 
relevant local authority.  As a minimum, food handlers must hold a current 
Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering accredited by The Chartered 
Institute of Environmental Health or The Royal Institute for Public Health. 
 
(h) Highway 
The location and operating times will be such that the highway can be 
maintained in accordance with the Oxfordshire County Council’s requirements 
and that there are no dangers to those who have a right to use the highway 
and no obstruction for emergency access. 

 
5.9 There is no statutory right of appeal against refusal to issue a Consent. 
 

  Peripatetic Street Trading 
 
5.10 Street traders that meet the conditions below will be classed as peripatetic. 

Ice cream vans and mobile sandwich sellers would typically be deemed to be 
peripatetic street traders. 

 
5.11  Traders must meet all of the below conditions to be classed as peripatetic: 
 

• move from location to location 
• move at least 50 metres from the last trading location and do not return to 

that location within four hours 
• do not wait in one location for more than twenty minutes 
• do not trade within 100 metres of the boundary of any school or college 

between the hours of 07:30 and 18:00 (without formal invitation from the 
establishment). 

 
5.12  Due to the nature of their trade over a wide geographical area and their 

limited impact upon a single location peripatetic street traders will 
automatically be granted a street trading Consent subject to meeting all the 
above conditions and submitting a complete application. 

 

 Renewal Applications for a Street Trading Consent 

5.13 Street Trading Consents are renewed annually for the period 1 April to 
31 March, unless granted for a reduced period. A renewal application for 
Street Trading Consent must be made to the Council in writing by 1 February. 
The following will be required to be submitted with the application: 

  
(a) A completed and signed Street Trading Consent Application Form.  

 
(b) The full fee as appropriate.  

 
(c) A certificate of Public Liability Insurance that covers the street trading 

activity for third party and public liability risks.  
 

(d) A current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in Catering certificate for all food 
handlers.  

 
(e) Proof of the applicants and any prospective employees right to work in the 

UK. 

152



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 7  

 
(f) A gas safety certificate for the vehicle or stall if applicable.  

 
(g) A licensed waste carrier agreement. 

 
5.14 At this renewal time, the Council may consult further to determine if the street 

trader is a cause for concern or has been the subject of complaints. 
 
5.15 If a renewal application is not made before the expiry of the current licence, a 

new application will have to be made. The effect of this will be that a trader 
will not be permitted to trade until the new Consent is issued. 

 
5.16 Where a renewal application has been made and there have been no 

justifiable complaints, no enforcement issues and all fees have been paid on 
time, the Consent will be renewed. 

 
5.17 Where a renewal application has been made and there have been complaints 

or enforcement issues or fees have not been paid on time, then the 
application will be referred to the Licensing and Registration Sub-Committee. 

 

 Vacant Sites 
 
5.18 In the event of a Consent being revoked, surrendered or not renewed the 

Council will advertise vacancies on the Council’s website for 28 days. The 
applications will be referred to the Council’s Licensing and Registration Sub 
Committee who will use the criteria listed at paragraph 5.8 of this policy to 
make their determination of who to award the vacant site to.  

 

Transfers 

5.19 A Street Trading Consent cannot be transferred or sold to another person 
except that the Consent may be transferred to a member of the Consent 
Holder’s immediate family in the event of the Consent Holder’s death or 
incapacity on payment of a fee. The sub letting of a pitch is prohibited. 

 

6 Markets 

6.1 The Gloucester Green weekly markets and the Covered Market are outside 
the scope of the street trading scheme.  Gloucester Green has Charter 
Market status and trading in the Covered Market takes place from permanent 
shop units. 

 

7 Special Events 

7.1 For events such as Christmas or Continental Street Markets, the Council will 
accept one application from the person organising the event. The event street 
trading application will require full details of each trader attending the event.  
Consent will be issued to each individual stall holder. This policy is aimed at 
promoting events and encouraging traders to attend. 

 
7.2 Street trading fees for stalls at charitable or small community events may be 

waived.  The Business Regulation Team will bear the cost of such waivers. 
Street trading is considered to be for charity benefit if the profits from 
individual stalls/units are donated to charity. These stalls/units would be 

153



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 8  

exempt from Street Trading fees. Any traders (such as traders selling food or 
refreshments) attending for commercial gain will be subject to a Street 
Trading fee. Trading at small community events will be exempt from Street 
Trading fees. These events are listed at Annex 3 of this policy. 

  

8 Fees 

8.1 Fees will be set and reviewed annually on a full cost recovery basis.  The 
level of fees applicable takes into account the location, the duration of the 
Consent, trading hours, and the articles to be sold.  Where trading ceases 
during the term of Consent, refunds will not be given for any outstanding 
period of less than 3 months.  Details of the current fees can be found on the 
Council’s website or on application to the Licensing Officer.  Fees must be 
paid in advance. Consent fees may be paid in equal instalments, but the first 
instalment must be paid in advance of the issue of Consent.   

 
8.2 Applications for annual Consents should be accompanied by a non-

refundable fee of £300. If the application is approved, the balance of the fee 
will be due before the Consent is issued.  If the application is not successful 
the fee will be retained to cover the cost incurred in processing the 
application. 

 

9 Conditions 

9.1 The Council applies standard conditions to Street Trading Consents.  
 

 General conditions for annual and weekly Street Trading Consents 

 Additional conditions applicable to Special Events 
 
The standard conditions are not exhaustive and other conditions may be 
added to individual Consents where appropriate. 
 

9.2 Standard Trading Hours are: 
 

(a) Roadside locations for vehicles   
 

 Daytime site from 08:00 to 18:00. 

 Evening sites for the Sale of Hot Food from 18:30 to 03:00 (can 
be extended to 04:00 Thursdays, Fridays, and Saturdays on 
application and subject to approval). 

(b) Pavement locations 

 08:00 to 21:00. 
 

(c) Weekly Let Sites 
 

 08:00 to 21:00. 
 
9.3 Street trading can only be carried out from the stall or vehicle authorised on 

the Certificate of Street Trading Consent.  Any changes to or replacement of 
the stall or vehicle must be approved by the Head of Planning and Regulatory 
Services. 

 

154



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 9  

9.4 The standard conditions applied to Street Trading Consents are attached to 
this policy as Annex 2. This list is not exhaustive and other conditions may be 
added to the Consent. 

 

10 Enforcement 

10.1 The Council is committed to enforcing the provisions contained within the 
relevant legislation and to work in partnership with all enforcement agencies, 
to provide consistent enforcement on licensing issues. 

 
10.2 The Business Regulation Team aims to work closely with other enforcement 

authorities to regulate relevant legislation where necessary. 
 
10.3 Where licensable activities are conducted without the benefit of a licence, 

permit or consent or where conditions are breached, the Council will look to 
gather evidence and take enforcement action as appropriate. 

 
10.4 If the Council feels that there is an issue of public order or threat to public 

safety in any particular instance, it will call for assistance from Thames Valley 
Police. 

 
10.5 The Council may call for assistance from the CCTV centre when dealing with 

such issues. 
 
10.6 The Council will enforce the provisions of all appropriate legislation and will 

ask persons causing a nuisance to cease the activity that they are conducting 
and leave the area. 

 
10.7  Failure to comply with one or more of the standard conditions of Consent may 

lead to revocation or non-renewal of Street Trading Consent. 

11 Contacts 

The street trading function is part of the Business Regulation Team within the 
Environmental Development Service. 
 
Business Regulation Team 
Environmental Development 
Oxford City Council 
109-113 St Aldate’s Chambers 
St Aldate’s 
Oxford 
OX1 1DS 
 
To enquire about any street trading issue, please visit our website: 
www.oxford.gov.uk or contact us via email street_trading@oxford.gov.uk or 
ringing the Business Regulation Team on 01865 252561.

155

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/
mailto:street_trading@oxford.gov.uk


 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 10 

ANNEX 1 

Current Sites Approved for Street Trading within Oxford 

The City Council have given Consents for street trading at the following sites within 
Oxford (The list is subject to changes from time to time): 
 
ROADSIDE LOCATIONS FOR VEHICLES 
 
Daytime Sites (08:00 to 18:00) 
1 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s End 1 unit* 
2 Broad Street outside No. 17 1 unit  
3 Broad Street outside No. 14 1 unit 
   TOTAL 3 UNITS 
Evening Sites for the Sale of Hot Food (18.30 to 03.00, Monday to Sunday, except 
where otherwise stated on the Consent). 
4 Banbury Road outside No. 263 1 unit 
5 Broad Street outside No. 17 1 unit 
6 New Road opposite County Hall Car Park 1 unit 
7 Cripley Road junction with Botley Road 1 unit 
8 George Street outside No. 25 1 unit 
9 High Street outside Scrivens North Side 1 unit 
10 High Street outside University College 1 unit 
11 London Road outside No’s. 73/75 1 unit 
12 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s end 1 unit 
13 Queen Street outside Clarendon Centre 1 unit 
14 St Aldate’s outside Christchurch 1 unit 
15 St Giles layby outside Taylorian Institute 1 unit 
16 St Giles layby outside Taylorian Institute 1 unit 
17 Woodstock Road outside Radcliffe Infirmary 1 unit 
18 London Road outside No. 93  1 unit 
19 High Street opposite No. 42/44 1 unit 
20 Banbury Road outside No. 221  1 unit 
21 Walton Street outside No. 119A  1 unit 
   TOTAL 18 UNITS 
PAVEMENT LOCATIONS 
Trading is allowed only between the times of 08:00 and 21:00 on any day of the 
week.   
24 Catte Street North end 1 unit 
26 High Street Magdalen College 1 unit 
27 Pembroke Square St Aldate’s end 1 unit 
28 St Giles outside No. 66 1 unit 
29 Catte Street North end 1 unit 
   TOTAL 5 UNITS 
WEEKLY LET SITES 
Trading is allowed only between the times of 08:00 and 21:00 on any day of the 
week.  Stalls must have a maximum dimension of 2.3 metre x 1.5 metres.  
33 & 34 Cornmarket Street junction with Ship Street 2 units 
   TOTAL 2 UNITS  
*Unit refers to a vehicle or stall. 
  

156



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 11 

ANNEX 2  

General Conditions for Annual and Weekly Street Trading Consents 

 
1. No trading shall take place except between the dates specified on the 

Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

2. Street trading shall only be carried out during operational hours specified on 
the Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

3. The Street Trading Consent relates only to the area/site vehicle or stall 
specified on the Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

4. The Street Trading Consent relates only to the vehicle or stall specified on the 
Certificate of Street Trading Consent. 

5. Street trading can only be carried out from the stall or vehicle authorised 
under the conditions of the Consent.  Any significant changes to or 
replacement of the stall or vehicle must be approved by the Head of Planning 
and Regulatory Services. 

6. The Consent Holder’s vehicle/stall shall be kept in a clean, safe and well 
maintained condition and be of a presentable appearance. The Street Trading 
Consent bearing the name of the consent holder shall be displayed 
conspicuously on the stall/vehicle so that members of the public can clearly 
see it during hours of business. 

7. The Consent Holder’s vehicle shall be maintained in a roadworthy condition, 
taxed, insured and with a current MOT Certificate. Vehicle movements must 
be carried out legally and must not present a risk to people and structures. 
The Consent Holder shall not drive or park a vehicle on any part of a footway. 

8. The Consent Holder shall ensure that the stall/vehicle is positioned only in the 
allocated space (which may be marked on the ground) in the Consent Street 
for which the Street Trading Consent is issued. All goods shall be displayed 
on the stall and no freestanding racks or displays are permitted. If a Consent 
Holder or operator/assistant is requested to move the vehicle/stall by an 
authorized Council Officer or Police Officer they shall immediately comply 
with that request. 

9. For Weekly Street Traders on Cornmarket Street, the Consent Holder’s stall 
shall not exceed 2.3 metres in height nor occupy an area greater than 2.3 
metres x 1.4 metres. 

10. The Consent Holder shall comply with all statutes, statutory instruments and 
byelaws currently in force. Consent Holders must pay particular attention to 
the requirements of the Health & Safety at Work etc. Act, 1974 and the Food 
Safety and Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013. Advice on these 
requirements is available from the Business Regulation Team.  

11. The Consent Holder shall conduct their business in a professional manner 
and in a way that minimises risks to employees and others.  

12. The Consent Holder must take reasonable precautions to prevent the risk of 
fire at the stall or vehicle. All hot food vans/trailers are required to comply with 
current legislation on fire safety. A serviceable fire blanket and a suitable fire 
extinguisher shall be provided in all vehicles selling hot food. 

13. Reasonable steps must be taken to ensure gas safety where gas appliances 
are used on a stall or vehicle.  Gas appliances must be maintained and 
serviced as per manufacturer’s instructions. Gas appliances and systems 
must be checked for safety by a competent Gas Safe engineer at least 
annually. Any faults or concerns in relation to gas safety must be 

157



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 12 

appropriately investigated and made safe by a competent Gas Safe engineer 
as soon as possible.  

14. All hot food vans/trailers are required to carry a basic first aid kit and have the 
means to contact the emergency services if necessary.  

15. All food businesses must be registered as a food business with the local 
authority where the van/stall is kept overnight.  All food businesses registered 
outside of the Oxford City Council area must be able to demonstrate food 
business registration, e.g. by written confirmation from the relevant local 
authority or by providing a copy of the latest inspection letter or report. Any 
changes in registration details must be notified to the relevant local authority. 

16. All food handlers must hold a current Level 2 Award in Food Safety in 
Catering accredited by The Chartered Institute of Environmental Health or 
The Royal Institute for Public Health. 

17. All food businesses must achieve and maintain a minimum Food Hygiene 
Rating of ‘3 – Generally Satisfactory’. The Hygiene Rating must be displayed 
prominently on the stall or vehicle. 

18. The Consent Holder shall not be the cause of any nuisance or annoyance to 
any other user of the highway, the occupier of any land or building or the 
Oxford City Council. Consent Holders shall have special regard to and must 
take action to prevent excessive noise. 

19. The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty of care on businesses 
to dispose of their trade waste in an appropriate manner. Trade waste must 
be stored appropriately and be disposed of by a licensed waste carrier. No 
water or waste material shall be discharged on to the highway or any adjacent 
property. The Consent holder shall take reasonable steps to ensure that litter 
arising from their own trade is minimised as far as possible, for example by 
making a bin available for customers to use. 

20. A Street Trading Consent cannot be transferred or sold to another person 
except that the Consent may be transferred to a member of the Consent 
Holder’s immediate family in the event of the Consent Holder’s death or 
incapacity on payment of a fee. The subletting of a pitch is prohibited. 

21. The Consent Holder must be the principal operator and have day to day 
control of the stall/vehicle.  The Consent Holder may employ any other person 
to assist in operating the stall/vehicle and shall notify the Head of Planning 
and Regulatory Services of the name and address of that person. An 
administration fee will be payable. 

22. Anyone who operates a stall/vehicle other than the Consent Holder must be 
authorised by the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services. 

23. A Consent Holder may terminate a Street Trading Consent by written notice 
to the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services.  A refund of the portion of 
the fee equal to the remaining full months will be payable, less £50 which the 
Council will retain to cover administrative costs. 

24. Consent holders shall ensure that disabled people and wheelchair users can 
be adequately served. This may involve serving persons from outside the 
vehicle. 

25. A copy of the Consent shall be displayed by the operator when trading and 
must be produced on demand to a Council Officer or Police Officer. 

26. Consent Holders shall have and maintain a proper insurance policy against 
public liability and third party risks. The minimum insurance cover shall be 
£5,000,000 and shall cover the operator’s vehicle, or stall and any additional 

158



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 13 

equipment under their control. If food is sold the insurance shall specifically 
include cover against food poisoning to the same amount. Proof of cover 
must be produced to an officer of Oxford City Council on application and as 
required. 

27. These general conditions, which apply to all Street Trading in Oxford, may be 
varied, having regard to a particular location. They are termed Special 
Conditions and listed on the Consent Certificate. These Special Conditions 
must also be complied with. 

28. For Annual Street Trading Consents fee installments are required quarterly, in 
advance. The first installment must be paid in advance of the issue of 
Consent.  The remaining fee can be paid in installments on the following 
dates 1st July. 1st October and 2nd January. Annual fees may be paid in 
advance.  

29. For Weekly Street Trading Consents fees must be paid two weeks in advance 
before trading commences. This is to allow sufficient time to process the 
application and receive the consent. It must be in your possession before you 
can trade. 

30. The sale of food and/or drink is not permitted by Weekly Street Traders. The 
items to be sold must be agreed before a Weekly Consent can be issued. 

31. For food traders all packaging and utensils for use by customers shall be 
made of biodegradable or recyclable materials. 

  

Failure to comply with these conditions 

If a Consent Holder fails to comply with any of the conditions attached to a Street 
Trading Consent, the Consent may be suspended for an indefinite period or revoked. 
The Consent Holder may also be prosecuted. 

 

 

 

159



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 14 

Additional Conditions Applicable to Special Events/Markets 

1. All stalls to be issued with a number that must be displayed on the stall. 

2. The Consent Holder should keep records of each stallholder present on the 
market, to include the stallholder’s pitch number, name and company name, 
their address, vehicle registration and a contact telephone number. This must 
be produced on request to an authorised officer. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

160



 Oxford City Council    Street Trading Policy 

 

 15 

ANNEX 3 List of Small Community Events Exempt from Street Trading Fees 
 
 

 Jericho Street Fair 

 Blackbird Leys Play Day 

 Headington Festival and Sports Day 

 Littlemore Play Day 

 Active Cutteslowe 

 Friends of Florence Park 

 Headington Fun Day 

 Leys Festival 

 West Oxford Fun Day 
 

161



    

 

 

This page is intentionally blank

162



 

 

Licensing Authority Licensing Authority 

 
 
 
Street Trading Policy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Business Regulation Team 
Oxford City Council 
109-113 St Aldate’s Chambers 
St Aldate’s 
Oxford 
OX1 1DS 
email:  street_trading@oxford.gov.uk 
phone:  01865 252561 
fax:  01865 252344 

 

163

mailto:street_trading@oxford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the  
GENERAL PURPOSES LICENSING COMMITTEE 
on Wednesday 23 January 2019  
 
 

Committee members: 

Councillor Clarkson (Chair) Councillor Cook (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Corais Councillor Gotch 

Councillor Howlett Councillor McManners 

Councillor Lygo Councillor Taylor 

Councillor Simm  

Officers:  

Daniel Smith, Lawyer 
Richard Adams, Community Safety Service Manager 
Mairi Brookes, OxFutures Programme Manager 
Joshua Curnow, Licensing Compliance Officer 
Lesley Rennie, Business Regulation Team Manager 
John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer 

Also present: 

Councillor Malik 
Sajad Khan Secretary of  the City of Oxford Licensed Taxicab Association  

Apologies: 

Councillor Humberstone sent apologies and for whom Councillor Mc Manners was a 
substitute. 

16. Declarations of Interest  

None. 

17. Minutes  

The Committee resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 
2018 as a true and accurate record. 

18. Licensed Vehicles Emission Standards  

The Head of Community Services had submitted a report to recommend introduction of 
emission standards for Hackney Carriage Vehicles and amend the vehicle age limit for 
Private Hire Vehicles licensed by this Authority. 
 
The Senior Licensing Officer introduced the report. 
 
Councillor Malik (speaking as a member of the public and taxi driver) and Mr Khan 
addressed the Committee. Both speakers recognised the need to address the issue of 

165

Agenda Item 9



 

poor air quality and its detrimental consequences for health and accepted the 
contribution taxis need to play in making that improvement. However they were also of 
the view that option 3 as set out in the report and recommended by officers would be 
too onerous because of the significant financial burden it would introduce over a short 
timescale. A decision based on option 2 of the report would, in their view, be preferable.  
 
In response to questions the OxFutures Programme Manager explained the work being 
done by officers, working with vehicle owners, to support the introduction of low 
emission vehicles with reference to the information in Appendix 1 of the report.  
 
In discussion members of the Committee recognised that the recommended option 
would not be without its challenges but reaffirmed the critical importance of tackling the 
issue of poor air quality as vigorously and as swiftly as possible. Air quality in parts of 
the City was at an unacceptable level. The fact that some cities were choosing to tackle 
the matter less vigorously was not a reason for Oxford to do so.  The preferred option 
already contained a degree of compromise and a dilution of the suggested requirement 
was not desirable.  
 
The Chair thanked officers for the work they were doing to facilitate a move to low and 
zero emission vehicles and noted that the cost of them and the associated 
infrastructure would reduce over time. 
 
On being put to a vote, the General Purposes Licensing Committee resolved to: 
 

1. Approve the recommended option for  introduction of new emission standards 
for Hackney Carriage Vehicles licensed by this Authority; 

2. Approve the recommended amendment to vehicle age criteria for licensing of 
new Low and Ultra Low Emission Private Hire Vehicles; and  

3. Agree that such proposals be recommended to Council for adoption 

19. Licence Fees and Charges for 2019/20: Commercial Events, 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire, Road Closure Orders, Scrap 
Metal Dealers, Sex Establishments and Street Parties  

The Head of Community Services had submitted a report to seek agreement to the 
licence fees for 2019/20 where the Council has discretion over the level of fee charged 
for Commercial Events, Hackney Carriage and Private Hire, Road Closure Orders, 
Scrap Metal Dealers, Sex Establishments and Street Parties. 
 
The Senior Licensing  Officer introduced the report explaining that these fees needed to 
reasonable, proportionate and not exceed the cost associated with the relevant 
scheme. 
 
The introduction of a £15 fee for road closures for non-commercial events (including 
street parties) was questioned. The costs of collection might well equal or exceed the 
sum collected. The Council should be seen to support community events, the  
introduction of fee might  be seen by some to run counter to that.  It was agreed that 
this should be revisited in a year’s time.  
  
 

166



 

The General Purposes Licensing Committee resolved to: 

Agree the licence fees and charges for 2019/20 as set out in the Appendix 1 and 
recommend them to Council 

20. Licence Fees and Charges for 2019/20: Miscellaneous Licensing  

The Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety had submitted a report to 
seek agreement to the licence fees for 2019/20 where the Council has discretion over 
the level of fee charged.  
 
The Business Regulation Team Manager introduced the report which proposed an 
inflationary increase to these fees and charges except for those in relation to new 
Animal Welfare Licence Fees (dealt with in the October meeting of the Committee) and 
those for Street Trading Consents (to promote and support street trading). 
 
The General Purposes Licensing Committee resolved to: 
 
Agree the license fees and charges for 2019/20 as set out in Appendix A and 
recommend them to Council.  

21. Dates of Future Meetings  

The next meetings of the Committee are scheduled to take place on:  
 
14 May 2019 
18 September 2019 
 
All meetings start at 6.15 pm or on the rising of the Licensing & Gambling Acts 
Committee.  
 
 
The meeting started at 6.20 pm and ended at 7.10 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair …………………………..   Date:  Tuesday 14 May 2019 

167



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Appointment of Sub-Committees
	Appendix1GPL

	6 Annual Update on Taxi Licensing Activity 2018-2019
	Introduction and background
	Legal issues
	Conclusion

	7 Policy on Hackney Carriage Quantity Control  - Unmet Demand Survey
	Introduction and background
	8. The survey recommends:


	8 Review of the Street Trading Policy 2019
	Draft Street Trading Policy 2019
	Street Trading Policy 2015

	9 Minutes



